Matrix Converter for Frequency Changing Power Supply Applications

Saúl López Arévalo, MSc

Submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, January 2008.

Abstract

The purpose of this work is to investigate the design and implementation of a 7.5kVA Matrix Converter-based power supply for aircraft applications (GPU Ground Power Unit). A Matlab/Simulink as well as SABER simulation analysis of the candidate Matrix Converter system is provided. The design and implementation of the Matrix Converter is described, with particular attention to the strict requirements of the given power supply application. This AC-AC system is proposed as an effective replacement for the conventional AC-DC-AC system which employs a two-step power conversion.

The Matrix Converter is an attractive topology of power converter for power supply applications where factors such as the absence of electrolytic capacitors, the potentiality of increasing power density, reducing size and weight and good input power quality are fundamental.

An improved control structure is proposed. This structure employs an ABC reference frame implementation comprising at the Repetitive Control strategy combined with a traditional tracking controller in order to attenuate or eliminate the unwanted harmonic distortion in the output voltage waveform of the Matrix Converter and to compensate for the steady-state error. The system with the proposed control was initially fully analyzed and verified by simulation. The analysis of the input and output waveforms identified the constraints that need to be satisfied to ensure successful operation of the converter. Finally, to demonstrate both the Matrix Converter concept and the control strategy proposed, a 7.5kVA prototype of the proposed system was constructed and tested in Nottingham PEMC laboratory. The experimental results obtained confirmed the expectations from the simulation study and the validity of the power converter and control design.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my most sincere gratitude to my supervisors Prof Patrick W. Wheeler and Dr Pericle Zanchetta for their guidance and support over the course of this project and for believing in me. I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr David Thomas for acting as internal examiner, and to Dr Nigel Schofield of the University of Manchester for acting as external examiner.

I would like especially to thanks Dr Lee Empringham, Dr Liliana de Lillo, Dr Si Dang, Dr Thiwanka Wijekoon and Edward Christopher for their friendship, their precious advise and technical support, without their help I could have never dreamt to reach the end of this project. I would like to thank the staff of the PEMC group at the University of Nottingham and all of the technicians of the ground floor workshop, for providing the necessary help, both theoretical and practical, to carry out this research.

I would like to thank my dear wife and my family for their infinite patience, support and love. They helped me to regain enthusiasm, strength and determination during the difficult times. Thanks for being there for me and believing in me, always. My deepest and sincere gratitude to M. en C. Jesús Reyes García for all the support I received and for believing that we can work hard with the hope of building a better country.

I gratefully acknowledge my sponsor, the Mexican Council of the Science and Technology (CONACYT), who have given me an opportunity to study abroad by granting me a scholarship. I owe them and promise that we will develop our lovely country together.

Thanks to the National Polytechnic Institute of Mexico for all the support I received to continue my studies.

Finally, I gratefully acknowledge the Public Education Ministry of Mexico for the complementary scholarship I received through my studies.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	The Matrix Converter	1
	1.2	Control	4
	1.3	Modulation	5
	1.4	Research Outcomes	8
	1.5	Project Objectives	9
	1.6	Thesis Overview	10
2	Мо	dulation Techniques and Control	12
	2.1	Introduction	12
	2.2	Matrix Converter Concept	13
	2.3	Modulation Techniques	17
		2.3.1 Basic Solution for the Modulation Problem	21

	2.3.2	Venturini's Optimum Method	23
	2.3.3	Scalar Method	26
	2.3.4	Space Vector Modulation (SVM) Method	27
		2.3.4.1 Space Vectors	27
		2.3.4.2 Matrix Converter Switching States	28
		2.3.4.3 Selection of Switching States	30
2.4	Topolo	ogies of Bi-directional Switches	33
	2.4.1	Diode Bridge Topology	34
	2.4.2	IGBT with Anti-parallel Diode Topologies	34
2.5	Matrix	Converter Commutation Methods	37
	2.5.1	Simple Commutation Methods	38
		2.5.1.1 Deadtime Commutation Method	38
		2.5.1.2 Overlap Commutation Method	39
	2.5.2	Advanced Commutation Methods	39
		2.5.2.1 The Current Direction Based Commutation Method	39
		2.5.2.2 The Voltage Magnitude Based Commutation Method	42
		2.5.2.3 The Voltage Magnitude and Current Direction Method	44
2.6	Input	Filter	45

	2.7	Outpu	t Filter	48
	2.8	Contro	ol	50
		2.8.1	Transformations	51
		2.8.2	Tracking Controller	54
		2.8.3	Repetitive Controller	58
			2.8.3.1 Internal mode-based Repetitive Controller	59
			2.8.3.2 External model-based Repetitive Controller	60
	2.9	Summ	ary	62
2	Ъла		numeron Down Supply Simulation	C A
J	Mai	trix U	Sinverter Fower Suppry Simulation	04
J	3.1	Introd	uction	6 4
J	3.1 3.2	Introd Techn	uction	64 66
J	3.1 3.2 3.3	Introd Techn Comp	uction	64 66 67
J	3.1 3.2 3.3	Introd Techn Comp 3.3.1	uction	64 66 67 69
J	3.1 3.2 3.3	Introd Techn Comp 3.3.1 3.3.2	uction	64 66 67 69 73
J	3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	Introd Techni Comp 3.3.1 3.3.2 Simula	uction	64 66 67 69 73 74
J	3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	Introd Techn Comp 3.3.1 3.3.2 Simula 3.4.1	uction	64 66 67 69 73 74 74
J	3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	Introd Techn Comp 3.3.1 3.3.2 Simula 3.4.1 3.4.2	uction	 64 64 66 67 69 73 74 74 76

	3.5	Simulation with Tracking Controller	86
		3.5.1 Voltage Control in d-q Reference Frame	88
		3.5.2 Voltage Control in ABC Reference Frame	91
	3.6	Voltage Control with Tracking Controller plus Repetitive Controller .	93
	3.7	Summary	100
4	Mat	trix Converter Implementation	102
	4.1	Introduction	102
	4.2	Overview of prototype converter	103
	4.3	Matrix Converter Power Circuit	105
		4.3.1 Power Module	106
		4.3.2 Power Plane	107
		4.3.3 Gate Drive Circuit	108
		4.3.4 Output Filter	109
		4.3.5 Input Filter	112
		4.3.6 Measurement Boards	115
	4.4	Matrix Converter Control Implementation	116
		4.4.1 Digital Signal Processor	118
		4.4.2 Field Programmable Gate Array	120

 $\mathbf{5}$

	4.4.3	Host Por	rt Interface	124
	4.4.4	Second (Order Controller	126
		4.4.4.1	Implementation of Tracking Controller in the d-q Reference Frame	127
		4.4.4.2	Implementation of Tracking Controller in the ABC Reference Frame	128
		4.4.4.3	Implementation of Repetitive Controller in the ABC Reference Frame	129
4.5	Summ	ary		131
Exp	perime	ntal Res	ults	132
5.1	Introd	uction .		132
5.2	Contro Frame	ol of the C	Output Voltage with No Controller using ABC Reference	133
5.3	Contro	ol of the (Output Voltage using Tracking Controller	137
5.3	Contro 5.3.1	ol of the (Matrix (Output Voltage using Tracking Controller	137 137
5.3	Contro 5.3.1 5.3.2	ol of the (Matrix (Matrix (Output Voltage using Tracking Controller	137 137 142
5.3	Contro 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3	ol of the (Matrix (Matrix (Matrix (Load .	Output Voltage using Tracking Controller Converter connected to a Resistive Balanced Load Converter connected to a Resistive, Unbalanced Load Converter connected to a Resistive-Inductive Balanced	 137 137 142 145
5.3	Contro 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4	ol of the (Matrix (Matrix (Matrix (Load . Matrix (anced L	Output Voltage using Tracking Controller Converter connected to a Resistive Balanced Load Converter connected to a Resistive, Unbalanced Load Converter connected to a Resistive-Inductive Balanced Converter connected to a Resistive-Inductive Unbal- oad	 137 137 142 145 146

	5.4	Contro	ol of the Output Voltage using Tracking Controller plus Repeti-	
		tive C	ontroller	154
		5.4.1	Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive Balanced Load	154
		5.4.2	Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive Unbalanced Load .	157
		5.4.3	Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive-Inductive Balanced Load	159
		5.4.4	Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive-Inductive Unbal- anced Load	162
		5.4.5	Matrix Converter with Load Disconnected	167
			5.4.5.1 Output Voltage of the Matrix Converter	167
			5.4.5.2 Input and Output Currents of the Matrix Converter	167
	5.5	Summ	ary	171
6	Cor	clusio	ns	173
	6.1	Contro	ol of output voltage under unbalanced conditions $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	175
	6.2	Repet	itive control strategy	175
	6.3	Furthe	er work	176
	6.4	Public	eations resulting from the work	178
A	Pap	er Pu	blished	190
в	\mathbf{Sch}	ematic	Diagrams used in Saber	191

	B.1	General Schematic Diagram of the System used in Saber Simulations	191
	B.2	Schematic Diagram of the Matrix Converter used in Saber Simulations	191
	B.3	Schematic Diagram of the Controller used in Saber Simulations	193
С	Sou	cce Code using MAST Language	196
	C.1	MAST Code used in the Modulator	196
	C.2	MAST Code used in for the Input Current Vector	203
	C.3	MAST Code used in for the Output Voltage Vector	205
	C.4	MAST Code used to model Bi-directional Switches	208
D	Pro	grams Implemented in the DSP	209
Ľ	1108		_00
	D.1	Main Program Implemented in the DSP	209
	D.2	Code of the Tracking Controller Implementation	226
	D.3	Code of the Repetitive Controller Implementation	227

List of Figures

1.1	Single-phase load fed from a three-pulse cycloconverter	3
1.2	Structure of Matrix Converter	3
1.3	Structure of plant with second order controller.	4
1.4	Basic diagram of the Voltage Source Converter, power components	6
1.5	Schematic of the back to back converter	7
1.6	Simplified representation of a Matrix Converter system	7
2.1	Schematic of AC to AC converter	14
2.2	Simplified representation of a Matrix Converter system	15
2.3	General form of switching pattern.	20
2.4	Theoretical waveforms illustrating the 50% voltage ratio limit	24
2.5	Theoretical waveforms illustrating the third harmonic addition to ob- tain the 86% optimum voltage ratio limit. This is a rms value to rms value ratio.	24

2.6	States of the converter for switching configuration $+1$ and -1	31
2.7	Synthesis of output voltage and input current space phasor	31
2.8	Diode bridge bi-directional switch	34
2.9	Common emitter bi-directional switch	35
2.10	Common collector bi-directional switch	36
2.11	Back to back devices without central connection	36
2.12	Reverse blocking IGBT bi-directional switch	37
2.13	These conditions must be avoided for safe operation. \ldots	38
2.14	Two-phase to single-phase converter.	40
2.15	Timing diagram for four-step current commutation between two switches.	41
2.16	Timing diagram for two-step current commutation between two switches.	41
2.17	Critical areas of commutation sequence selection.	43
2.18	Critical areas between phase A and B - Two additional sequences to	
	phase C are inserted in the modulation period	44
2.19	Diagram to calculate transfer function of input filter	47
2.20	Diagram to calculate transfer function of output filter	49
2.21	d-q rotating reference frame and its relationship with the <i>abc</i> stationary reference frame.	52
2.22	Diagram of a control system	55

2.23	Generation of repetitive signal.	60
3.1	Schematic of Matrix Converter used in Saber simulation	72
3.2	Waveform of load voltage in phase c when simulated in Saber	72
3.3	Harmonic spectra of load voltage in phase c using Saber	73
3.4	Schematic of Matrix Converter used in Matlab/Simulink simulation	73
3.5	Load voltage in phase c when simulated in Matlab/Simulink	74
3.6	Harmonic spectra of load voltage in phase c using Matlab/Simulink	75
3.7	Output voltage in phase c without filters	75
3.8	Line-to-line voltage and load current of the Matrix Converter. $\ . \ . \ .$	76
3.9	Structure of output filter.	76
3.10	Bode plot of the output filter transfer function in s domain. \ldots .	79
3.11	Output voltage in phase c using the output LC low-pass filter	80
3.12	Harmonic spectra of output voltage in phase c	80
3.13	Structure of input filter.	81
3.14	Bode plot of the input filter transfer function in s domain. \ldots .	84
3.15	Waveform of the output voltage in phase c using both the input and output filter	85
3.16	Waveform of the input current in phase C	85
3.17	Harmonic spectra of the input current in phase C	85

3.18	Root locus of the input filter transfer function	86
3.19	Structure of the system using a second order controller as a tracking controller.	88
3.20	Root locus of the whole system shown in Figure 3.19	88
3.21	Control strategy in d-q reference frame	88
3.22	Structure and final values of tracking controller when using control strategy in d-q reference frame.	89
3.23	Output voltage all phases using tracking controller when matrix Converter is connected to a perfectly balanced load.	89
3.24	Output voltage in all phases using tracking controller when the Matrix Converter is not connected to a load	90
3.25	Output voltage in all phases using tracking controller and connected to an unbalanced load	90
3.26	Control strategy in ABC reference frame	91
3.27	Structure and final values of tracking controller when using control strategy in ABC reference frame.	92
3.28	Output voltage in phase c using tracking controller and connected to a balanced load	92
3.29	Output voltage in phase c using tracking controller and connected to an unbalanced load	93
3.30	Output voltage in phase c using tracking controller and load disconnected.	93

3.31	Output voltage in phase c compared to the reference signal when track-	
	ing controller is used	94
3.32	Structure of Repetitive Controller	95
3.33	Diagram of the Repetitive Controller proposed.	98
3.34	Overall diagram of the control structure proposed in ABC reference frame	98
3.35	Output voltage in all phases using tracking controller plus repetitive controller. A perfectly balanced load is connected	99
3.36	Output voltage in all phases using tracking controller plus repetitive controller. An unbalanced load is connected	99
3.37	Output voltage in all phases using tracking controller plus repetitive controller. Load is disconnected	100
4.1	Schematic of the rig.	103
4.2	Diagram of the Matrix Converter implementation	105
4.3	Diagram of the power module	106
4.4	Photograph of the power module	107
4.5	Photograph of the gate driver, top view.	110
4.6	Photograph of the gate driver, bottom view	110
4.7	Schematic diagram of the output filter	111
4.8	Photograph of the output filter	112

4.9	Schematic diagram of the input filter	113
4.10	Photograph of the input filter	114
4.11	Photograph of the voltage transducers	116
4.12	Diagram to show the overall control structure	117
4.13	Structure of the DSK C6713	118
4.14	Host port Interface (HPI) daughtercard.	119
4.15	Photograph of the Digital Signal Processor (DSP)	120
4.16	FPGA block diagram.	121
4.17	Diagram to show PWM interrupt DSP usage	123
4.18	Photograph of the FPGA board, top view	124
4.19	Photograph of the HPI mounted on the DSP, top view	125
4.20	Screen from the HPI Interface in Matlab	126
4.21	Photograph of the final Matrix Converter prototype	131
5.1	Output voltage in phase c with a balanced RL load and no controller.	135
5.2	Output line to line voltage with a balanced RL load and no controller.	135
5.3	Input current in phase c with a balanced RL load and no controller	136
5.4	Load voltage and current in phase c with a balanced RL load and no controller.	136
5.5	Diagram of basic circuit used in the test.	138

5.6	Reference signal and output voltage in phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and tracking controller	139
5.7	Input current in phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and track- ing controller	140
5.8	Harmonic spectra of input current in phase A when tracking controller is used	140
5.9	MC Current in phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and tracking controller.	141
5.10	Current in the load phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and tracking controller.	141
5.11	Output voltages with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and tracking controller.	143
5.12	Input currents with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and tracking controller.	143
5.13	Currents in the load with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and tracking controller.	144
5.14	Matrix Converter output current in phase a with a pure resistive, un- balanced load and tracking controller	144
5.15	Output voltage in phase a with a balanced RL load and tracking con- troller	146
5.16	Input currents with a balanced RL load and tracking controller. Note: the load current waveform in phase c looks more distorted than the other waveforms but this is due the use of a current probe with a different bandwidth range of operation.	147

5.17	Matrix Converter current in phase a with a balanced RL load and tracking controller.	147
5.18	Current in load phase a with a balanced RL load and tracking controller	.148
5.19	Output voltages with an unbalanced RL load and tracking controller.	148
5.20	Output voltage in phase a with an unbalanced RL load and tracking controller.	149
5.21	Input currents with an unbalanced RL load and tracking controller	149
5.22	Output current of the Matrix Converter in phase a with an unbalanced RL load and tracking controller.	150
5.23	Currents in load with an unbalanced RL load and tracking controller.	150
5.24	Modulation index with load disconnected.	151
5.25	Output voltages with load disconnected and using tracking controller.	152
5.26	Output voltage in phase a with load disconnected and using tracking controller.	152
5.27	Input Current in phase a with load disconnected and using tracking controller.	153
5.28	Current before output filter with load disconnected and using tracking controller.	153
5.29	Output voltage in phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and Repetitive Controller	155
5.30	Input currents with a pure resistive, balanced load and Repetitive Con- troller.	155

5.31	Output current in phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and Repetitive Controller	156
5.32	Load currents with a pure resistive, balanced load and Repetitive Con- troller	156
5.33	Output voltages with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and Repetitive Controller	157
5.34	Input currents whit a pure resistive, unbalanced load and Repetitive Controller	158
5.35	Matrix Converter current in phase a with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and Repetitive Controller.	158
5.36	Load currents with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and Repetitive Controller	159
5.37	Output voltage in phase a with a balanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.	160
5.38	Input current in phase A with a balanced RL load and Repetitive Controller	160
5.39	Matrix Converter output current in phase a with a balanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.	161
5.40	Load current in phase a with a balanced RL load and Repetitive Con- troller	161
5.41	Output voltages with an unbalanced RL load and Repetitive Controller	.163
5.42	Harmonic spectra of output voltage in phase a. THD = 2.1526%	163
5.43	Input currents with an unbalanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.	164

5.44	Harmonic spectra of input current in phase A. THD = 6.15%	164
5.45	Matrix Converter output current in phase a with an unbalanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.	165
5.46	Harmonic spectra of Matrix Converter output current in phase a. THD $= 0.61\%$	165
5.47	Load currents with an unbalanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.	166
5.48	Harmonic spectra of the load current in phase a. THD = 1.68% $~.~.$	166
5.49	Output voltage in phase a with load disconnected and using Repetitive Controller.	168
5.50	Harmonic spectra of output voltage in phase a. THD = 1.93%	168
5.51	Input current in phase a with load disconnected and using Repetitive Controller	169
5.52	Harmonic spectra of input current in phase A. THD = 5.56%	169
5.53	Matrix Converter output current in phase a with load disconnected and using Repetitive Controller	170
5.54	Harmonic spectra of MC output current in phase a. THD = 0.83% $$.	170
B.1	Overall diagram of the whole Matrix Converter system used Saber	192
B.2	Schematic diagram of the MC and modulator used in the power supply system	194
B.3	Schematic diagram of the controller used in the power supply system.	195

List of Tables

2.1	Switching States for a three-phase to three-phase Matrix Converter [1].	29
2.2	Selection of switching configurations for each combination of K_V and K_I [1]	32
2.3	Selection of switching configurations for each combination of K_V and K_I (continuation) [1]	32
4.1	Hardware and software trip usage	122
5.1	THD of practical results in phase a with the tracking controller and the tracking controller plus the Repetitive Controller.	172

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 The Matrix Converter

This thesis is concerned with the design and implementation of a Matrix Converter for Frequency Changing Power Supply Applications. Typically such units are used to convert between 50/60Hz supplies available in airports to a 400Hz one for aircraft supply when they are parked in their bays. This work will consider the design, simulation, practical construction and testing of a 7.5kVA system prototype. A Matrix Converter is a device used for converting directly AC energy into AC energy; the main feature of this device is to convert the magnitude as well as the frequency of the input into a desired magnitude and frequency of the output with an "all-silicon" solution. Mainly, a Matrix Converter consists of nine bi-directional switches, which are required to be commutated in the right way and sequence in order to minimize losses and produce the desired output with a high quality input and output waveforms.

After the controlled rectifiers were developed in the early 1930's, it was realized that this provided the possibility of generating alternating currents of variable frequency directly from a fixed frequency AC supply, the positive rectifier supplying the positive half cycles of current and the negative rectifier the negative half cycles. This system was called cycloconverter at its early stage and this proved to be so appropriate that nowadays it is still used in some high power applications because of high power requirements and the Matrix Converter technology is still not available widely. Moreover, most of the industrial applications require frequencies in the range of 50Hz-60Hz, which is easily obtained by the cycloconverter. For a three-phase to three-phase cycloconverter, 36 thyristors are required. This makes that cycloconverter systems are large and complicated and tend to be used in applications where high power is required (1MW and up) [2]. Today, high power, multi-megawatts, thyristor based cycloconverters are very popular for driving induction and wound field synchronous motors. Some general applications of cycloconverters are [3]:

- Cement and ball mill drives
- Rolling mill drives
- Slip-power recovery Scherbius drives [4] [5]
- Variable-speed, constant-frequency (VSCF) power generation for aircraft 400Hz power supplies

Frequency conversion or modulation techniques can be used to take a fixed frequency or DC source and provide any load with a different or variable frequency supply. Cycloconversion is mostly concerned with converting directly a low-frequency waveform into a desired different frequency waveform. A cycloconverter is an arrangement of two converter connected back to back as shown in Figure 1.1 [6].

Matrix Converters were first mentioned in the early 1980's by Alesina and Venturini [7]. They proposed a general model and a relative mathematical theory for high-frequency synthesis converters. They stated that the maximum input-output transformation ratio possible for the new AC-AC converter is $\sqrt{3}/2$ and also, they suggested a specific modulation and a feed-back-based control implementation of the proposed converter [8]. The AC-AC Matrix Converter is optimal in terms of minimum switch number and minimum filtering requirements. A three-phase AC-AC Matrix



Figure 1.1: Single-phase load fed from a three-pulse cycloconverter.

Converter consists basically of nine bidirectional voltage-blocking current-conducting switches. These switches are arranged in a matrix and by using this arrangement any input phase can be connected to any output phase at any time. Figure 1.2 shows such arrangement [9].



Figure 1.2: Structure of Matrix Converter.

1.2 Control

There has been a gap between modern control theory and practice. However, a practicing engineer who knows a control system well, modifies, extends, and combines modern control theory with classical control theory. Successful results using developed control theory, especially to servo-motor and motion control, have been widely reported in the literature [10] [11] [12]. The theory may be given in *s* domain (continuous). However, using bilinear transformation or direct design the theory can be replaced by a discrete (digital) control method (which is needed when implementing the control with a DSP). Digital controllers can be considered sometimes as digital filters, they introduce delays. These delays depend on the order of the polynomial implemented as the controller. The control is defined as to manipulate an object (in this case the Matrix Converter) so as to serve a certain purpose (that is to make it work as required) [13].

The term controller in a feedback control system is often associated with the elements of the forward path, between the error signal and the control variable. But it also sometimes includes the summing point, the feedback elements, or both, and some times the term controller or compensator is used synonymously [14]. Figure 1.3 shows a general structure of a plant with a second order controller.



Figure 1.3: Structure of plant with second order controller.

1.3 Modulation

Applications areas of power converters still expand thanks to improvements in semiconductor technology, which offer higher voltage and current ratings as well as better switching characteristics. The main advantages of modern power electronic converters, such as high efficiency, low weight, small dimensions, fast operation, and high power densities, are being achieved though the use of the so-called switch mode operation, in which power semiconductor devices are controlled in ON/OFF fashion (no operation in the active region) [15]. This leads to different types of pulse width modulation (PWM), which is a basic energy processing technique applied in power converter systems. In modern converters, PWM is a high-speed process ranging from a few kiloHertz (motor control) [16] up to several megaHertz (resonant converters for power supply) depending on the rated power [17].

Figure 1.4 shows a Voltage Source Converter (VSC) which is used to provide ac variable voltage - variable frequency to a load from a fixed voltage - fixed frequency supply. This has been the traditional power converter employed for variable speed drive applications [3]. According to Figure 1.4, the input supply is first rectified then it is applied to the load by the inverter stage. The control of the output of this two stage converter is achieved by modulating the duty cycles of the devices in the inverter stage so as to produce near sinusoidal output currents in the inductive load machine, at a desired amplitude and frequency [18].

Figure 1.4 shows a large capacitor placed across the DC link to provide a constant DC voltage source with small variation and energy storage. This capacitor is considered large compared to the size of the rectifier and inverter semiconductor components. This means that a large capacitance is needed but within a reasonable volume, therefore electrolytic capacitors are normally used for the DC link components. Electrolytic capacitors typically occupy 30 - 50% of the total volume of the converter for power levels greater than a few kW and in addition to this they are temperature sensitive.

Due to the diode bridge front end, the inverter circuit shown in Figure 1.4 will draw



Figure 1.4: Basic diagram of the Voltage Source Converter, power components.

input currents that are rich in 5th and 7th harmonics, which can become a significant problem at increased power levels because the harmonic distortion injected to the mains and the power losses. This problem can be solved by employing an active PWM rectifier front end as shown in Figure 1.5, which can be modulated to draw near sinusoidal input currents. The active, or sinusoidal front end inverter, has the added advantage that the power flow can be bi-directional. However the DC link capacitors are still large (around 30-50% of the total volume) and so are the input inductors [19] [20].

An alternative AC-AC power converter, the Matrix Converter, is discussed and used in this thesis. The Matrix Converter, shown in Figure 1.6, consists of an array of bi-directional switches where any input phase can be connected to any output phase. The duty cycle of the switches can be modulated to produce the desired output amplitude and frequency. The Matrix Converter is also described as a direct AC-AC converter because it requires no intermediate energy storage [21] [22].



Figure 1.5: Schematic of the back to back converter.



Figure 1.6: Simplified representation of a Matrix Converter system.

Much of the work on Matrix Converters over the past twenty years has been concentrated on modulation algorithms and, more recently, on the practical implementation issues such as the devices commutation, have largely been solved. One of the key benefits of the Matrix Converter technology is the possibility of greater power density due to the absence of a DC link. This is translated into a realistic advantage if the filter size is also optimized, by having a sufficiently high switching frequency of semiconductor devices. This means, though, a compromise between filter size and semiconductor losses must be found.

Factors such as the absence of electrolytic capacitors, the advantage for increasing power density, reducing size, reducing weight and obtaining good input power quality are fundamental to power supply applications [23] [24] [25].

The purpose of this work is to investigate the design and implementation of a 7.5kVA Matrix Converter for frequency changing power supply applications. SABER and Matlab/Simulink simulations of the whole system (which includes the Matrix Converter, input and output filters) are provided. The design and implementation of the Matrix Converter is described, with particular attention to the strict requirements of the given power supply application. Finally, the Matrix Converter system using different types of load is assembled and tested.

1.4 Research Outcomes

The system will have the following technical specifications:

- Rated input voltage: 415V (rms, line voltage). Three-phase, three-wire
- Input frequency: 50Hz.
- Input harmonics: relevant IEEE standards, IEEE 519 [26].
- Rated output voltage: 117V (rms, phase voltage). Three-phase, three-wires.

- Voltage tolerance: 114V to 120V
- Output frequency: 400Hz.
- Voltage total harmonic distortion: to be less than 4%.
- Voltage individual harmonic distortion: to be less than 2%.
- Voltage transients: not to exceed 10% of nominal voltage when switching the load between 0% and 100% and back.
- Rated output power: the Matrix Converter system is designed for a total power of 7.5kVA.
- Load conditions: unbalanced condition of 40%. Resistive-inductive load.

1.5 Project Objectives

The research work presented in this thesis has generated the following novel achievements:

• A comparative study has been performed to ascertain the suitability of different Matrix Converter systems for power supply applications. A Matrix Converter control system was devised for each of the different load conditions. These include resistive load balanced, resistive load unbalanced, resistive-inductive load balanced, resistive-inductive load unbalanced and load disconnected. An improved control structure for the Matrix Converter system was introduced in simulation to control the output voltage. This structure which includes a Repetitive Control was simulated and the physical effects on the Matrix Converter system such as instability and harmonic distortion were investigated and results presented. Each of the control systems were then compared on the basis of the results of their analysis and their potential merits for power supply application in terms of power quality, harmonic content and power density determined.

- A 7.5kVA Matrix Converter has been designed and built to meet the requirements of power supplies driving different types of load. Issues which have previously prevented successful implementation such as device packaging, converter layout and protection have been addressed and solutions have been presented.
- The use of the overvoltage clamp circuit to improve the reliability of the Matrix Converter circuit by giving it the ability to withstand a circuit failure, such as current direction feedback failure has been investigated. No electrolytic capacitors were employed in the protection circuit or the input filter. In response to important issues such reliability requirements, polypropylene film capacitors were utilized to minimize the power converter volume.

1.6 Thesis Overview

The remainder of this thesis is divided into the following Chapters:

In Chapter 1, the Matrix Converter research concept for power supply applications is introduced and discussed. Particular attention is given to the different load conditions driven by the Matrix Converter system and how these conditions influence the output voltage waveform quality.

In Chapter 2, the Matrix Converter concept is discussed and the mathematical model from which the modulation problem can be derived is introduced. A brief description of the Venturini and Space Vector Modulation methods are given. The practical implementation issues are introduced and the proposed solutions are discussed. A comparison between the conventional topology of power converters for AC-AC conversion and the Matrix Converter is provided in terms of a predicted reliability study.

SABER as well as Simulink simulation analysis of the Matrix Converter system, driving different types of load, is described in Chapter 3. The main differences between the control systems used are highlighted and the reason for the choice of the proposed control structure for the given application, is discussed.

The design and construction of the 7.5kVA Matrix Converter is described in Chapter 4. The output voltage control of the power converter is also described and the used of the Repetitive Controller is proposed.

In Chapter 5, a full description is given of the different assembly and testing stages of the power converter first, the Matrix Converter system and, finally, the control strategy of the output voltage. The correspondent series of results is presented. The Chapter concludes with the description of the testing of the Matrix Converter based power supply.

In Chapter 6, conclusions are drawn from the work presented and the goals achieved. Also, areas of further research are highlighted.

Chapter 2

Modulation Techniques and Control

2.1 Introduction

AC to AC power conversion can be realized by using a rectifier stage and an inverter stage or by using a Direct or Matrix Converter (MC). A Matrix Converter uses only one conversion stage compared to two stages for the rectifier/inverter solution. Each converter topology has particular advantages and disadvantages, the choice, therefore, depends on the requirements of the application.

The state of the art in Matrix Converter technology is presented in this chapter. The Matrix Converter concept is introduced with the mathematical model circuit operation and associated modulation techniques. Modulation techniques used in Matrix Converters have been considered by researches for many years [27]. These papers have proposed different modulation techniques. The modulation techniques section of this chapter presents the main modulation techniques used in Matrix Converters. The two Venturini modulation methods [28][8] and the scalar modulation scheme [29][30] are reviewed. A detailed analysis of Space Vector Modulation (SVM) algorithms for Matrix Converters is then presented. The conventional SVM algorithm [1] usually generates both even and odd order harmonic voltages. The basic diagrams and the permitted switching states of the converter are included. Finally, this section presents the indirect modulation method [31][32].

The next two sections present the implementation of the required bi-directional switches and the techniques used for safe current commutation between these switches.

Issues regarding the design of both the output and input filters are included in the filters design section. Frequency response plots are also included in order to show the cut-off and resonant frequencies for both filters.

In order to control the output voltage of the converter a voltage control loop is used. The control section of this chapter focuses on the design of the second order controller required for this voltage control loop in both the s and z domain. The design of output filter described in the previous section is used to design the controller. In order to improve the output voltage waveform quality a Repetitive Controller (RC) is proposed. The design of this controller is included in the Repetitive Controller section. A structure of the proposed Repetitive Controller is given, as well as the values of parameters used in the implementation.

2.2 Matrix Converter Concept

The power converter topologies used in industry can be grouped as follows:

- **Inverters:** used to change DC voltage or current to AC voltage or current. Inverters are widely used in variable-speed drives and AC power supplies.
- **Rectifiers:** used to change AC voltage or current (usually from a grid supply of 50 or 60Hz) to DC voltage or current.

Rectifiers and inverters are often combined to form indirect AC to AC Converters, as shown in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Schematic of AC to AC converter.

Figure 2.2 shows a simplified block diagram of a 3-phase to 3-phase Matrix Converter drive system. As it can be seen in the figure, the Matrix Converter circuit consists of an array of nine bi-directional switches, constructed from unidirectional power devices, arranged in such a way as to enable any input line to be connected to any output line at any time. The switch duty cycles are modulated to generate the desired output waveform on the basis of the input supply voltages and the demanded output voltages. The demanded voltages are generally the output of a cascaded speed and current control loop. A Matrix Converter can be viewed as an "all-silicon solution" to the general AC-AC power conversion problem. Compared to the conventional rectifier/inverter topology, Matrix Converters have many advantages. No DC-link energy storage is required for the Matrix Converter topology. This removes the necessity for bulky electrolytic capacitors, which are intolerant to high temperatures and have a relatively short life time [33] [34] [35] [36]. As a result of the elimination of the DClink a potentially compact converter system can be designed. Bi-directional power flow is straightforward with a Matrix Converter. By controlling the switching devices appropriately both the output voltage and the input current are sinusoidal with harmonics only around or above the switching frequency of semiconductor devices. The displacement factor (df) is used to quantify the fact that not all of the fundamental current gives rise to power when there is a phase shift between voltage and current. Unity displacement factor can be achieved if an appropriate modulation strategy is used, and can be achieved irrespective of the load. The type of load for this case is resistive-inductive and the capacitive load has not been considered.



Figure 2.2: Simplified representation of a Matrix Converter system.

To understand the modulation problem and its solution, consider the arrangement shown in Figure 2.2. The fundamental requirement can be stated as follow; a balanced set of three-phase input voltages is expressed as,

$$\left[\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{i}}(\mathbf{t})\right] = \begin{pmatrix} V_{i1}(t) \\ V_{i2}(t) \\ V_{i3}(t) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.1)
Where:

$$\left[\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{i}}(\mathbf{t})\right] = \begin{pmatrix} V_i cos(\omega_i t) \\ V_i cos(\omega_i t - 2\pi/3) \\ V_i cos(\omega_i t + 2\pi/3) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.2)

With these input voltages the switching function M(t) that will produce a set of desired three-phase output voltages can be determined,

$$\left[\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{o}}(\mathbf{t})\right] = \begin{pmatrix} V_{o1}(t) \\ V_{o2}(t) \\ V_{o3}(t) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.3)

Where:

$$[\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{o}}(\mathbf{t})] = [M(t)]. \begin{pmatrix} V_{i1}(t) \\ V_{i2}(t) \\ V_{i3}(t) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.4)

$$[\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{o}}(\mathbf{t})] = \begin{pmatrix} V_o \cos(\omega_o t + \theta_o) \\ V_o \cos(\omega_o t + \theta_o - 2\pi/3) \\ V_o \cos(\omega_o t + \theta_o + 2\pi/3) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.5)

where θ_o is an arbitrary output voltage phase angle [9]. The switching function, M(t), must satisfy the previous stated conditions. Several modulation strategies have been proposed [37] [38] [39]. These modulation strategies give different voltage conversion ratios and the number of commutations employed in each modulation strategies is different.

With the price of power semiconductors falling, Matrix Converters could become a more attractive alternative to the back-to-back converter in applications where sinusoidal input currents and true bi-directional power flow are required. The voltage transfer ration (q) is the relationship of the output voltage to the input voltage. The voltage transfer ratio limitation, which will be shown in Section 2.3.2, is a real problem if a standard machine and a standard supply are to be used. The voltage ratio limitation is not the main issue in the design of the Matrix Converter system when the application allows the specification of the output voltage. More important innovative and efficient strategies of implementing circuit protection [40] for the Matrix Converter will ease the way for the commercialization of this converter in applications such as integrated motor drives, aerospace and marine propulsion applications where power density, space and weight play a fundamental role. This view is reinforced by the possibility that the Matrix Converter could be the ideal converter topology to employ future technologies such as high temperature silicon carbide devices because they can work a environments with a large range of temperatures. Adding to this, the absence of large electrolytic capacitors helps to overcome the problem of electronic equipment operating in difficult environmental conditions [41]. The electrolytic capacitors are limited in the range of temperature in what they can operate.

2.3 Modulation Techniques

In 1964 Schönung and Stemmler [42] proposed the triangular carried-based sinusoldal pulse width modulation (PWM) strategy for three-phase inverter modulation. The space vector modulation (SVM) strategy was proposed by Pfaff, Weschta and Wick [43] in 1982. They based the proposed SVM method on the development of new technology microprocessors. The SVM algorithm was improved by van der Broeck, Skudelny and Stanke [44]. This method become a basic modulation technique for three-phase PWM inverters. Pulse width modulated three-phase inverters can operate under voltage (open loop) or current (closed loop) control. Current-controlled systems have better performance and faster response than the voltage-controlled systems because the control of the current is done in the inner loop of the control system [15]. AC industrial drives normally employ cascade control structure. It consists of multiple loops: the inner most loop is the current loop (which is the fastest), followed by speed loop and position loop. Implementing cascade control structure requires the current to be controlled. Good current controlled schemes should produce low current ripple, good tracking capability with zero steady state error, and fast dynamic response. The faster the response of the loop, the faster the disturbance is taken into consideration. The inner current loop is a servo motor drive plays a more important role than just limiting the current incase of overload. This loop operates continuously to regulate

the motor-developed torque so as to meet the load demand, and for meeting the speed trajectory specified by the motion controller. Motor drives of high dynamic response currently employ PWM current source [45]. Current-controlled systems connected to AC motors are used to reduce the dependence on stator parameters and also to allow fast action on the flux and torque developed by the controlled motor. Current is regulated to achieve the desired active and reactive power. It is also controlled to minimize or compensate the line power factor and current harmonics. A control structure comprising of an internal current feedback loop is a vital part of most applications of three-phase voltage-source power converters. Due to this fact, the quality of the applied current control strategy has an important role in the performance of the power converter system.

In principle, all modulation schemes aim to create trains of switched voltage or current pulses which have the same fundamental volt-second or amp-second average (i.e, the integral of the waveform over time) as a target reference waveform. The major difficulty with these trains of switched pulses is that they also contain unwanted harmonic components which should, ideally, be minimized since they are injected to the mains and degrade the quality of energy. This degradation of energy cause malfunction of other equipments.

The Matrix Converter control strategies were first mentioned by Alesina [7] and Venturini [28]. The block diagram of the Matrix Converter is represented in Figure 2.2. Various modulation techniques can be applied to the AC-AC matrix Converter to achieve sinusoidal output voltages and input currents. An optimal modulation strategy should minimize the input current and the output voltage harmonic distortion and device power loss [46]. The first modulator proposed for Matrix Converters, known as the Venturini modulation, employed a scalar model [7]. This model gives a maximum voltage transfer ratio of 0.5. An injection of a third harmonic of the input and output voltage was proposed in order to fit the reference output voltage in the input system envelope. This technique is used to achieve a voltage transfer ratio with a maximum value of 0.866. In this analysis, a three-phase input, three-phase output converter is considered. Because the Matrix Converter is symmetrical, the designation of input and output ports is arbitrary. However, for any sensible mode of operation, one port should be considered to have a voltage stiff characteristic and the other port a current stiff characteristic. In this case stiff means that the voltage or current must be constant with no interruptions or sudden variations. For the following analysis it is assumed that the input port is voltage stiff and the output port is current stiff. In a practical Matrix Converter an input filter is included to circulate the high frequency switching harmonics and provide the voltage stiff characteristic. The output inductance is usually part of the load giving a current stiff characteristic. This study considers that upper case suffixes always denote the input phases and lower case suffixes denote the output phases as shown in Figure 2.2.

The concept of switching functions [47] is used to derive a mathematical model of the Matrix Converter. Ideal switching is assumed in this analysis. The switching function, S_{Kj} , is defined as the representation of the switch connecting input line Kto output line j. When the switch is ON, the switching function has a value of 1 and when the switch is OFF, the switching function has a value of 0. The instantaneous current and voltage relationships can then be written as given in Equations 2.6.

$$\begin{bmatrix} v_a(t) \\ v_b(t) \\ v_c(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} S_{Aa}(t) & S_{Ba}(t) & S_{Ca}(t) \\ S_{Ab}(t) & S_{Bb}(t) & S_{Cb}(t) \\ S_{Ac}(t) & S_{Bc}(t) & S_{Cc}(t) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v_A(t) \\ v_B(t) \\ v_C(t) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(2.6)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} i_A(t) \\ i_B(t) \\ i_C(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} S_{Aa}(t) & S_{Ab}(t) & S_{Ac}(t) \\ S_{Ba}(t) & S_{Ba}(t) & S_{Bc}(t) \\ S_{Ca}(t) & S_{Cb}(t) & S_{Cc}(t) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} i_a(t) \\ i_b(t) \\ i_c(t) \end{bmatrix}$$

One of the most important rules that Matrix Converters must obey is the one expressed by Equation 2.7. This equation states that at any instant one and only one switch on each output phase must be closed. Analyzing the arrangement shown in Figure 2.2, which shows that there are no freewheeling diodes, this restriction means that the short circuit in the capacitive input as well as the open circuit in the inductive

output must be avoided.

$$\sum_{K=A,B,C} S_{Ka}(t) = \sum_{K=A,B,C} S_{Kb}(t) = \sum_{K=A,B,C} S_{Kc}(t) = 1$$
(2.7)

For the following analysis, it is assumed that Equation 2.7 is obeyed and, because ideal switches are used, the commutation between switches is instantaneous.

A typical switching pattern for Matrix Converter is shown in Figure 2.3. If conventional PWM is employed the switching sequence T_{seq} has a fixed period.

$$\begin{vmatrix} S_{Aa}=1 & S_{Ba}=1 \\ \hline t_{Aa} & t_{Ba} & t_{Ca} \\ \hline t_{Aa} & t_{Ba} & t_{Ca} \\ \hline t_{Ab} & S_{Bb}=1 & S_{Cb}=1 \\ \hline t_{Ab} & t_{Bb} & t_{Cb} \\ \hline t_{Bb} & t_{Cb} & \hline t_{Cb} \\ \hline s_{Ac}=1 & S_{Bc}=1 & S_{Cc}=1 \\ \hline t_{Ac} & t_{Bc} & t_{Cc} \\ \hline t_{Bc} & t_{Cc} & \hline \\ \hline t_{Seq} & T_{seq} \\ \end{vmatrix}$$

Figure 2.3: General form of switching pattern.

A modulation duty cycle should be defined for each switch in order to determine the average behavior of the Matrix Converter output voltage waveform. The modulation duty cycle is defined by,

$$m_{Aa}(t) = \frac{t_{Aa}}{T_{seq}} \tag{2.8}$$

where t_{Aa} represents the time when switch Aa is ON and T_{seq} represents the time of the complete sequence in the PWM pattern.

The modulation strategies are defined by using these continuous time functions. Equation 2.9 shows the use of these functions for the three-phase Matrix Converter.

$$\begin{bmatrix} v_{a}(t) \\ v_{b}(t) \\ v_{c}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} m_{Aa}(t) & m_{Ba}(t) & m_{Ca}(t) \\ m_{Ab}(t) & m_{Bb}(t) & m_{Cb}(t) \\ m_{Ac}(t) & m_{Bc}(t) & m_{Cc}(t) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v_{A}(t) \\ v_{B}(t) \\ v_{C}(t) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} i_{a}(t) \\ i_{b}(t) \\ i_{c}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} m_{Aa}(t) & m_{Ab}(t) & m_{Ac}(t) \\ m_{Ba}(t) & m_{Ba}(t) & m_{Bc}(t) \\ m_{Ca}(t) & m_{Cb}(t) & m_{Cc}(t) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} i_{A}(t) \\ i_{B}(t) \\ i_{C}(t) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(2.9)$$

Voltages v_a , v_b & v_c and currents i_a , i_b & i_c in Equation 2.9 are now values averaged over the sequence time. In Equation 2.10, which is a representation in a more compact notation of Equation 2.9, the matrix M(t) is known as the **modulation matrix**.

$$[v_o(t)] = [M(t)][v_i(t)]$$

$$[i_i(t)] = [M(t)]^T [i_o(t)]$$
(2.10)

Using this nomenclature, the constraint equation for Matrix Converters can now be written as,

$$\sum_{K=A,B,C} m_{Ka}(t) = \sum_{K=A,B,C} m_{Kb}(t) = \sum_{K=A,B,C} m_{Kc}(t) = 1$$
(2.11)

2.3.1 Basic Solution for the Modulation Problem

As stated in Section 2.2, the modulation problem assumes that a set of sinusoidal output voltages, $v_o(t)$, and input currents, $i_i(t)$, are required. These sets can be represented as,

$$[v_i(t)] = V_{im} \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\omega_i t) \\ \cos(\omega_i t + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \\ \cos(\omega_i t + \frac{4\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.12)

$$[i_o(t)] = I_{om} \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\omega_o t + \phi_o) \\ \cos(\omega_o t + \phi_o + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \\ \cos(\omega_o t + \phi_o + \frac{4\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.13)

The aim is to find a modulation matrix, M(t), such that Equations 2.14 and 2.15 are satisfied, as well as the constraint Equation 2.11.

$$[v_o(t)] = qV_{im} \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\omega_o t) \\ \cos(\omega_o t + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \\ \cos(\omega_o t + \frac{4\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.14)

$$[i_i(t)] = q \frac{\cos \phi_o}{\cos \phi_i} I_{om} \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\omega_i t + \phi_i) \\ \cos(\omega_i t + \phi_i + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \\ \cos(\omega_i t + \phi_i + \frac{4\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.15)

In Equations 2.14 and 2.15 q is the voltage transfer ratio, ω_i and ω_o are the input and output frequencies and ϕ_i and ϕ_o are the input and output phase displacement angles respectively. The problem was treated by Venturini, who found two solutions [28]. The solutions are expressed in Equations 2.16 and 2.17.

$$[M1(t)] = \frac{1}{3} \begin{bmatrix} 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{4\pi}{3}) \\ 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{4\pi}{3}) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \\ 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{4\pi}{3}) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.16)

with $\omega_m = (\omega_o - \omega_i)$

$$[M2(t)] = \frac{1}{3} \begin{bmatrix} 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{4\pi}{3}) \\ 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{4\pi}{3}) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t) \\ 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{4\pi}{3}) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t) & 1 + 2q\cos(\omega_m t - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.17)

with $\omega_m = (\omega_o + \omega_i)$.

Considering the solution in Equation 2.16, the phase displacement at the input is the same as in the output because $\phi_i = \phi_o$ whereas the solution in Equation 2.17 yields $\phi_i = -\phi_o$ giving reversed phase displacement at the input. If both solutions are combined, the result provides the means for input displacement factor control,

$$[M(t)] = \alpha_1[M1(t)] + \alpha_2[M2(t)] \quad \text{where } \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = 1 \quad (2.18)$$

Regardless of the load displacement factor, if α_1 is set to be equal to α_2 ($\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$), the input displacement factor at the converter terminals is unity. Other possibilities exist, through the choice of α_1 and α_2 , to have any combination of leading or lagging displacement factor at the input with a lagging or leading power factor load at the output.

If $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ is used, the modulation functions can be expressed in a compact equation:

$$m_{Kj} = \frac{t_{Kj}}{T_{seq}} = \frac{1}{3} \left(1 + \frac{2v_K V_j}{V_{im}^2} \right) \quad \text{for } K = A, B, C \text{ and } j = a, b, c$$
(2.19)

Where V_{im} is the average input voltage.

Considering Equation 2.19, which represents the basic method, the average output voltages (taken over the switching sequence) are equal to the target output voltages $[v_o(t)]$ during each switching sequence. This is only possible if the target output voltages must fit within the input voltage envelope for all operating conditions. Using this solution the maximum value of input to output voltage ratio, q, that the converter can achieve is 50%, as shown in Figure 2.4. The modulation algorithm represented by Equation 2.19 is suitable for real time implementation but in practice it is not used due to the 50% voltage transfer ratio limitation.

2.3.2 Venturini's Optimum Method

The method described in previous section can be improved. This improvement can be achieved by modifying the target output voltage matrix $V_o(t)$ to include third harmonics of the input and output frequencies. This new strategy is known as Venturini's optimum method and employs the common-mode addition technique defined in [48]. The target output voltages in Equation 2.14 are modified in order to include the third harmonics. The maximum theoretical output to input voltage ratio, q, can be increased up to 86%, as shown in Equation 2.20. The complete use of the input voltage envelope is employed by the target output voltages as shown in Figure 2.5. The voltage transfer ratio may be defined as the output fundamental to



Figure 2.4: Theoretical waveforms illustrating the 50% voltage ratio limit.



Figure 2.5: Theoretical waveforms illustrating the third harmonic addition to obtain the 86% optimum voltage ratio limit. This is a rms value to rms value ratio.

the input fundamental ratio and its maximum value is 0.866.

$$[v_o(t)] = qV_{im} \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\omega_o t) - \frac{1}{6}\cos(3\omega_o t) + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}}\cos(3\omega_i t) \\ \cos(\omega_o t + \frac{2\pi}{3}) - \frac{1}{6}\cos(3\omega_o t) + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}}\cos(3\omega_i t) \\ \cos(\omega_o t + \frac{4\pi}{3}) - \frac{1}{6}\cos(3\omega_o t) + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}}\cos(3\omega_i t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.20)

Note that triple harmonics in the input frequency as well as in the output frequency are added. According to [8], when unity displacement factor is required the Equation 2.19 becomes,

$$m_{Kj} = \frac{1}{3} \left[1 + \frac{2v_k V_j}{V_{im}^2} + \frac{4q}{3\sqrt{3}} \sin(\omega_i t + \beta_K) \sin(3\omega_i t) \right]$$
(2.21)

for K=A,B,C and j=a,b,c

 $\beta_K = 0, \frac{2\pi}{3}, \frac{4\pi}{3}$

for K=A,B,C respectively.

This implementation is readily handled by modern microprocessors up to switching frequencies of tens of kHz. Input displacement factor control can be introduced into the formulation in Equation 2.20 by inserting a phase shift between the actual input voltages and the input voltages, v_K . If the input displacement factor is different from unity, the output voltage limit will be reduced from $0.86V_{im}(86\%)$ of the input voltage value) to a small value, which depends on the displacement factor achieved in the input. Therefore, the value of the output voltage must be lower than 86% of the input voltage.

2.3.3 Scalar Method

In 1987 G. Roy proposed a scalar control algorithm for [29]. The modulation duty cycle for this method is given by

$$m_{Lj} = \frac{(v_j - v_M)v_L}{1.5V_i m^2}$$

$$m_{Kj} = \frac{(v_j - v_M)v_K}{1.5V_i m^2}$$

$$m_{Mj} = 1 - (m_{Lj} + m_{Kj}) \quad \text{for } j = a, b, c \quad \text{respectively}$$

$$(2.22)$$

Here, the subscript M is assigned to the input voltage which has a different polarity to the other two inputs and the subscript L is assigned to to the smallest of the other two input voltage magnitudes. The third input voltage is assigned subscript K. As in the previous method, the common-mode addition is used in order to modify the target output voltages, v_j . This modification (by adding the third harmonics) is employed to achieve 86% voltage ratio capability. Although some differences can be observed, this method yields virtually identical switch timings to Venturini's optimum method. Using a similar expression to Equation 2.21, the modulation duty cycles for the scalar method can be represented by Equation 2.23.

$$m_{Kj} = \frac{t_{Kj}}{T_{seq}} = \frac{1}{3} \left[1 + \frac{2v_k V_j}{V_{im}^2} + \frac{2}{3} \sin(\omega_i t + \beta_K) \sin(3\omega_i t) \right]$$
(2.23)

for K=A,B,C and j=a,b,c

 $\beta_K = 0, \frac{2\pi}{3}, \frac{4\pi}{3}$

for K=A,B,C respectively.

Equations 2.21 and 2.23 are equal when the output voltage is maximum $(q = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2})$. The only difference between the methods is that the right most term is used in conjunction with q in the Venturini method and is fixed at its maximum value in the scalar method. The effect on output voltage is negligible except at low switching frequencies, where the Venturini method is superior.

2.3.4 Space Vector Modulation (SVM) Method

The concept of a "Space Phasor" is very important in the analysis of the space vector modulation method (SVM). This method is well known in conventional PWM inverters. The "Space Phasor" was originally a method used for representing and analyzing three-phase machines. This method of analysis is particularly popular with researchers in the area of vector control. It allows the visualization of the spatial and time relationships between the resultant current and flux vectors in various reference frames.

2.3.4.1 Space Vectors

Matrix Converter operation can be explained in more general terms using a space vector approach. For operation of the Matrix Converter one and only one switch in each output phase must be conducting. This leads to twenty seven possible switching combinations for the Matrix Converter. By applying Equations 2.25 and 2.26 to determine the output voltage and input current vectors respectively, the magnitude and phase of these vectors for all possible combinations are given in Table 2.1. The shorthand notation for the converter states gives the input phases connected to output phases 1,2 and 3 in the first, second and third subscript respectively. α_o is the angle of the output voltage vector and β_i is the angle of the input current vector.

$$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{v}}_o(t) = (qV_{im}\sqrt{3})\cos(\omega_o t) \tag{2.24}$$

$$\vec{\mathbf{v}}_{o}(t) = \frac{2}{3}(v_{1o} + av_{2o} + a^2 v_{3o})$$
(2.25)

$$\vec{\mathbf{i}}_{o}(t) = \frac{2}{3}(i_{1i} + ai_{2i} + a^{2}i_{3i})$$
(2.26)

Where

 v_{1o}, v_{2o}, v_{3o} are output phase voltages i_{1i}, i_{2i}, i_{3i} are input line currents $a \equiv e^{j\frac{2\pi}{3}}$ The vector $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_o(t)$ has a constant length of $(qV_{im}\sqrt{3})$ and it is rotating at frequency ω_o . The basis of the space vector modulation technique is that the possible output voltages for the converter can be expressed in the same form as Equation 2.25. At each sampling instant, the position of $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_o(t)$ is compared with the possible vectors and the desired output voltage is synthesized by time averaging (within the switching interval) between adjacent vectors to give the correct mean voltage. For a conventional DC link inverter this process is very simple because there are only eight possible switching states $(2^3 = 8;$ two possible states per output leg and three phases). The situation with a Matrix Converter is more complex as there are twenty seven possible switching states and the input voltages are time varying.

2.3.4.2 Matrix Converter Switching States

As mentioned previously, in a three-phase to three-phase Matrix Converter there are twenty seven possible switching states. These switching states and the resulting output voltages are tabulated in Table 2.1. Analyzing this table, the output voltage states may be categorized in three groups:

- **Group I**. 18 combinations where the output voltage and the input current vectors have fixed directions with magnitudes that vary with the input voltage phase angle and the output current phase angle respectively. These combinations result when any two output phases are connected to the same input phase.
- **Group II** 3 combinations giving null output voltage and input current vectors. All three output phases are connected to the same input phase in these combinations.
- **Group III** 6 combinations in which each output phase is connected to a different input phase. Both magnitude and phase of the resultant vectors are variable in these cases.

Switching	Converter	v_o	α_o	i_i	β_i
Configuration	State				
+1	S ₁₂₂	$\frac{2}{3}v_{12i}$	0	$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{1o}$	$-\frac{\pi}{6}$
-1	S ₂₁₁	$-\frac{2}{3}v_{12i}$	0	$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{1o}$	$-\frac{\pi}{6}$
+2	S ₂₃₃	$\frac{2}{3}v_{23i}$	0	$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{1o}$	$\frac{\pi}{2}$
-2	S ₃₂₂	$-\frac{2}{3}v_{23i}$	0	$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{1o}$	$\frac{\pi}{2}$
+3	S ₃₁₁	$\frac{2}{3}v_{31i}$	0	$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{1o}$	$\frac{7\pi}{6}$
-3	S ₁₃₃	$-\frac{2}{3}v_{31i}$	0	$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{1o}$	$\frac{7\pi}{6}$
+4	S ₂₁₂	$\frac{2}{3}v_{12i}$	$\frac{2\pi}{3}$	$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{2o}$	$-\frac{\pi}{6}$
-4	S_{121}	$-\frac{2}{3}v_{12i}$	$\frac{2\pi}{3}$	$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{2o}$	$-\frac{\pi}{6}$
+5	S_{323}	$\frac{2}{3}v_{23i}$	$\frac{2\pi}{3}$	$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{2o}$	$\frac{\pi}{2}$
-5	S ₂₃₂	$-\frac{2}{3}v_{23i}$	$\frac{2\pi}{3}$	$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{2o}$	$\frac{\pi}{2}$
+6	S ₁₃₁	$\frac{2}{3}v_{31i}$	$\frac{2\pi}{3}$	$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{2o}$	$\frac{7\pi}{6}$
-6	S ₃₁₃	$-\frac{2}{3}v_{31i}$	$\frac{2\pi}{3}$	$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{2o}$	$\frac{7\pi}{6}$
+7	S ₂₂₁	$\frac{2}{3}v_{12i}$	$\frac{4\pi}{3}$	$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{3o}$	$-\frac{\pi}{6}$
-7	S ₁₁₂	$-\frac{2}{3}v_{12i}$	$\frac{4\pi}{3}$	$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{3o}$	$-\frac{\pi}{6}$
+8	S ₃₃₂	$\frac{2}{3}v_{23i}$	$\frac{4\pi}{3}$	$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{3o}$	$\frac{\pi}{2}$
-8	S ₂₂₃	$-\frac{2}{3}v_{23i}$	$\frac{4\pi}{3}$	$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{3o}$	$\frac{\pi}{2}$
+9	S_{113}	$\frac{2}{3}v_{31i}$	$\frac{4\pi}{3}$	$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{3o}$	$\frac{7\pi}{6}$
-9	S ₃₃₁	$-\frac{2}{3}v_{31i}$	$\frac{4\pi}{3}$	$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}i_{3o}$	$\frac{7\pi}{6}$
01	S ₁₁₁	0	_	0	0
02	S ₂₂₂	0	_	0	0
03	S_{333}	0	_	0	0
FR1	S_{123}	variable	variable	variable	variable
FR2	S ₂₃₁	variable	variable	variable	variable
FR3	S_{312}	variable	variable	variable	variable
BR1	S_{132}	variable	variable		variable
BR2	S_{213}	variable	variable	variable	variable
BR3	S_{321}	variable	variable	variable	variable

Table 2.1: Switching States for a three-phase to three-phase Matrix Converter [1].

Group I vectors are split into three sub-groups as shown in Table 2.1. The six states in each sub-group produce a space phasor in a defined direction. For the three subgroups the directions are displaced by 120°. The amplitude and polarity of the space phasor along the defined direction depends on which of the line to line voltages is used. The rotating vectors of Group III are not used.

The first column in table 2.1 represents the 27 possible switching configurations of the converter. States of the converter for the two first switching configurations are shown in Figure 2.6. Switching configuration +1 indicates that the state of the converter is S_{122} . The position of suffixes 122 indicates the a, b and c output phases respectively. The first position is for the output phase a. The second position is for the output phase b. The third position is for the output phase c. The values 1, 2 and 3 indicate the input phase A, B and C respectively. For example, S_{122} means that in output phase a the switch in the input phase A is closed, in the output phase b the switch in the input B is closed and in the output phase c the switch in the input B is closed. This can be seen in Figure 2.6(a). The switching configuration -1 (converter state S_{211}) is shown in Figure 2.6(b). In this case, switch in output phase a and input phase b is closed, switch in output phase b and input phase A is closed.

2.3.4.3 Selection of Switching States

The space vector modulation strategy presented in [1], makes use of the eighteen fixeddirections and three null vector combinations to achieve the desired output voltage vector and input current direction. Figure 2.7 shows the output line-to-neutral voltage vector and input line current vector directions generated by the 18 fixed-direction configurations, a complete description of which is included in [1]. K_V denotes the sector containing the output voltage vector and K_I denotes the sector containing the input current vector. From this figure it can be noted that for any combination of output voltage and input current sectors, four configurations can be identified that produce output voltage vectors and input current vectors lying adjacent to the desired



Figure 2.6: States of the converter for switching configuration +1 and -1.

vectors. The switching configurations used for any output voltage sector (KV) and input current sector (K_I) are given in Table 2.2 and Table 2.3.



Figure 2.7: Synthesis of output voltage and input current space phasor.

It can be shown [1] that the required modulation duty cycles for the switching configurations I, II, III a,d IV are given by Equations 2.27 - 2.30:

$$\delta^{I} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \cdot q \cdot \frac{\cos\left(\widetilde{\alpha}_{o} - \frac{\pi}{3}\right)\cos\left(\beta_{i} - \frac{\pi}{3}\right)}{\cos\phi_{i}}$$
(2.27)

		K_V											
	Sector 1					2				3			
	1	+9	-7	-3	+1	-6	+4	+9	-7	+3	-1	-6	+4
	2	-8	+9	+2	-3	+5	-6	-8	+9	-2	+3	+5	-6
K_I	3	+7	-8	-1	+2	-4	+5	+7	-8	+1	-2	-4	+5
	4	-9	+7	+3	-1	+6	-4	-9	+7	-3	+1	+6	-4
	5	+8	-9	-2	+3	-5	+6	+8	-9	+2	-3	-5	+6
	6	-7	+8	+1	-2	+4	-5	-7	+8	-1	+2	+4	-5
		Ι	II	III	IV	Ι	II	III	IV	Ι	II	III	IV

Table 2.2: Selection of switching configurations for each combination of K_V and K_I [1].

		K_V											
	Sector	4				5				6			
	1	-9	+7	+3	-1	+6	-4	-9	+7	-3	+1	+6	-4
	2	+8	-9	-2	+3	-5	+6	+8	-9	+2	-3	-5	+6
K_I	3	-7	+8	+1	-2	+4	-5	-7	+8	-1	+2	+4	-5
	4	+9	-7	-3	+1	-6	+4	+9	-7	+3	-1	-6	+4
	5	-8	+9	+2	-3	+5	-6	-8	+9	-2	+3	+5	-6
	6	+7	-8	-1	+2	-4	+5	+7	-8	+1	-2	-4	+5
		Ι	II	III	IV	Ι	II	III	IV	Ι	II	II	IV

Table 2.3: Selection of switching configurations for each combination of K_V and K_I (continuation) [1].

$$\delta^{II} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \cdot q \cdot \frac{\cos\left(\widetilde{\alpha}_o - \frac{\pi}{3}\right)\cos\left(\widetilde{\beta}_i + \frac{\pi}{3}\right)}{\cos\phi_i} \tag{2.28}$$

$$\delta^{III} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \cdot q \cdot \frac{\cos\left(\widetilde{\alpha}_o + \frac{\pi}{3}\right)\cos\left(\widetilde{\beta}_i - \frac{\pi}{3}\right)}{\cos\phi_i} \tag{2.29}$$

$$\delta^{IV} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \cdot q \cdot \frac{\cos\left(\widetilde{\alpha}_o + \frac{\pi}{3}\right)\cos\left(\widetilde{\beta}_i + \frac{\pi}{3}\right)}{\cos\phi_i}$$
(2.30)

Where $\tilde{\alpha}_o$ and $\tilde{\beta}_i$ are the angles of the output voltage and input current vectors measured from the bisecting line of the corresponding sectors. ϕ_i is the input phase displacement angle.

For unity input power factor operation and $q \leq \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}$, Equation 2.31 applies:

$$\delta^{I} + \delta^{II} + \delta^{III} + \delta^{IV} \le 1 \tag{2.31}$$

Then δ_0 is the total modulation duty cycle for the zero configuration(s) required to complete the modulation period:

$$\delta_0 = 1 - \left(\delta^I + \delta^{II} + \delta^{III} + \delta^{IV}\right) \tag{2.32}$$

If a double-side modulation pattern is used δ_0 is distributed in the modulation period by two equal parts. This is independent of the type of zero modulation configuration used. If a three-zero symmetrical configuration is used, δ_0 is distributed in the modulation period by six equal parts [49] [23] [50] [51].

2.4 Topologies of Bi-directional Switches

Bi-directional switches capable of blocking voltage and conducting current in both directions are required by the Matrix Converter. Unfortunately these devices are not widely available. Hence, discrete devices are used to construct suitable bi-directional switch cells and fulfil those requirements. The choice of bi-directional switches also dictates which current commutation methods can be used. This section describe some possible bi-directional switch configurations and the advantages and disadvantages of each arrangement. In the discussion below it has been assumed that the switching device would be an IGBT, but other devices such as MOSFETs, MCTs and IGCTs can be used in the same way [52].

2.4.1 Diode Bridge Topology

The diode bridge arrangement is the most simple bi-directional switch structure. This arrangement consists of an IGBT at the center of a single phase diode bridge arrangement, as illustrated in Figure 2.8. The main advantage of this arrangement is that only one active device is need, reducing the cost of the power circuit and the complexity of the control/gate drive circuits. Conduction losses are relatively high since there are three devices in each conduction path. The main disadvantage is that the direction of the current through the switch cannot be controlled. Many of the advanced commutation techniques described later rely on independent control of the current in each direction.



Figure 2.8: Diode bridge bi-directional switch

2.4.2 IGBT with Anti-parallel Diode Topologies

There are different configurations for bi-directional switches which use IGBTs with anti-parallel diodes. Such configurations are mentioned below.

• Common Emitter Bi-directional Switch. This switch arrangement consists of two diodes and two IGBTs connected in anti-parallel as shown in Figure 2.9. The diodes are included to provide the reverse blocking capability. The reverse blocking capability is a weak of the early IGBT technology [53] [54]. There are several advantages in using this arrangement when compared to the diode bridge switch. The first advantage is that it is possible to independency control the direction of the current. Conduction losses are also reduced as only two devices carry the current at any one time. As with the diode bridge switch each bi-directional switch cell requires an isolated power supply.



Figure 2.9: Common emitter bi-directional switch

• Common Collector Bi-directional Switch. This arrangement is similar to the arrangement presented in the previous configuration. The difference is that the IGBTs are arranged in a common collector configuration as shown in Figure 2.10. The conduction losses are the same as the common emitter configuration. One possible advantage of the common collector configuration is that only six isolated power supplies are required to supply the gate drive signals. This is possible if the inductances between the devices sharing the same isolated power supply is low. This is the case for Matrix Converter modules where all bidirectional switches are integrated in one package [55]. However, as the power levels increase, the stray inductance of the individual bi-directional switches becomes more important. Therefore at higher power converters it is desirable to package the IGBTs into individual bi-directional switches or complete output legs. Hence the common emitter configuration is usually preferred for higher power levels [56].



Figure 2.10: Common collector bi-directional switch

• Series IGBT Diode Configurations. Both the common emitter and the common collector configurations can be used without the central connection as shown in Figure 2.11. In the case of common emitter configuration, this will remove the advantage of being able to drive the two IGBTs from the same isolated power supply.



Figure 2.11: Back to back devices without central connection

• Anti-parallel Reverse Blocking IGBTs. If the switching devices used for the bi-directional switch have a reverse voltage blocking capability then it is possible to build the bi-directional switches by simply placing two devices in anti-parallel as shown in Figure 2.12 [57] [58] [59]. This arrangement leads to a very compact converter with the potential for substantial improvements in efficiency. However, to date reverse blocking IGBTs have shown poor reverse recovery characteristics which decreases the efficiency by increasing the switching losses and has prevented widespread use of this configuration.



Figure 2.12: Reverse blocking IGBT bi-directional switch

2.5 Matrix Converter Commutation Methods

Reliable current commutation between switches in Matrix Converters is more difficult to achieve than a conventional voltage source inverters (VSI) since there are no natural freewheeling paths. The commutation has to be actively controlled at all times and must respect to two basic rules. This can be visualized by considering just two switches on one output phase of a Matrix Converter. It is important that no two bidirectional switches are switched on at any one time, as shown in Figure 2.13(a). This would result in line-to-line short circuits and the destruction of the Matrix Converter due to overcurrent. Also, the bi-directional switches for each output phase should not all be turned off at any point in time as shown in Figure 2.13(b). This would result in the absence of a path for the inductive load current causing large over-voltages. These two considerations cause a conflict as semiconductor devices cannot be switched instantaneously due to propagation delays and finite switching times.



(a) Short circuit of capacitive input(b) Open circuit of inductive loadFigure 2.13: These conditions must be avoided for safe operation.

2.5.1 Simple Commutation Methods

2.5.1.1 Deadtime Commutation Method

The deadtime method is commonly used in inverter systems. The load current freewheels through the anti-parallel diodes during the deadtime period. In the case of a Matrix Converter using deadtime commutation will cause an open circuit of the load (Figure 2.13(b)). This will result in large voltage spikes across the switches which would destroy the Matrix Converter unless snubbers or clamping devices are used to provide a path for the load current during the deadtime period [60, 61]. This method is undesirable since the energy in the snubber circuit is lost during every commutation. In addition to this disadvantage the bi-directional nature of the Matrix Converter circuit further complicates the snubber design.

2.5.1.2 Overlap Commutation Method

This method also breaks the rules of Matrix Converter current commutation and needs extra circuitry to avoid destruction of the Matrix Converter. In overlap current commutation, the incoming switch is turned on before the outgoing switch is turned off. This will cause a line-to-line short circuit (Figure 2.13(a)) during the overlap period unless extra line inductance is added to slow the rise of the current [62]. This is not a desirable method since the inductors are in the main conduction path therefore the conduction losses would be increased. in addition to this disadvantage there will be significant distortion of the output voltage waveform during the overlap period. The switching time for each commutation is increased and will vary with commutation voltage which may cause control problems.

One possible advantage of these simple commutation methods is that the diode bridge bi-directional switch arrangement as described in Section 2.4.1 may be used. However, this advantage is outweighed by the problems discussed above. For these reasons the advanced commutation methods described in next section are now preferred in all Matrix Converters.

2.5.2 Advanced Commutation Methods

The four-step commutation strategy is one of the methods that meet the rules of the Matrix Converter. This strategy can be implemented in a Matrix Converter, to do this the direction of the current in each bi-directional switch must be controlled.

2.5.2.1 The Current Direction Based Commutation Method

Figure 2.14 shows a schematic of a two phase to single phase Matrix Converter. In steady state both of the devices in the active bi-directional switch are gated to allow both directions of current flow. The following explanation assumes that the load current is in the direction shown and the upper bi-directional switch (S_A) is closed. When a commutation to S_B is required, the current direction is used to determine which device in the active switch is not conducting. This device is then turned off, in this case Q2 is turned off. The device that will conduct the current in the incoming switch is then gated, Q3 in this example. The load current transfers to the incoming device either at this point or when the outgoing device (Q1) is turned off, depending on the polarity of the input voltages. The remaining device in the incoming switch (Q4) is turned on to allow current reversals. This process is shown as a timing diagram in Figure 2.15. The delay added between each switching event is determined by the device characteristics. An open circuit in the load current will result if a mistake is made as to the current direction either due to circuit failure or due to the uncertainty at low currents. This can be a problem if no protection strategy is employed.



Figure 2.14: Two-phase to single-phase converter.

A variation on the four-step current commutation concept is to only gate the conducting device, which creates a two-step current commutation strategy as shown in Figure 2.16. This is done to reduce commutation times and hence reduce the minimum pulse width. This is desirable because the minimum pulse width often dictates the maximum voltage transfer ratio of the converter [46].



Figure 2.15: Timing diagram for four-step current commutation between two switches.



Figure 2.16: Timing diagram for two-step current commutation between two switches.

All the current commutation techniques included in this category need to know the output phase current direction. This current direction can be difficult to determine, especially in high power drives when the levels of current are low. To solve this problem, a new technique has been developed [63]. This technique uses the voltage across the bi-directional switch to determine the current direction. It is based on an intelligent gate drive circuit, which is used to control the firing of the IGBTs and detect the current direction, which flows within the bi-directional switch cell. A FPGA driver is employed to obtain the current direction information and then this information is transmitted to all the other gate drivers located in the same output phase. This action assures that all gate drivers are being considered to operate a safe commutation. As all the two-step commutation technique, considering this method, the performance obtained is very poor and the output waveform presents distortion when the current in the load is low. This problem is easily overcome by using the four-step method because the commutation is completed by the the final step of turning on the non-conducting device.

2.5.2.2 The Voltage Magnitude Based Commutation Method

This advanced commutation strategy uses the input voltage magnitude to determine the switch sequence for each commutation [64]. Referring to Figure 2.14 consider a commutation from S_A to S_B if $V_A > V_B$, Q3 can be turned on because D3 is reverse biased. If the current is in the direction shown it will commutate to Q3 when Q1 is turned off, otherwise the commutation will take place when Q4 is turned on. The reverse biased device (Q4) can then be turned off completing the commutation. Contrary to the previous commutation technique, when a mistake in sensing the input voltage direction occurred the wrong calculated commutation sequence would provoke a line-to-line short circuit of the supply. In this case, it very difficult to protect the supply as well the Matrix Converter system.

The method discussed in [65], which is the two-step variant of the voltage magnitude based commutation, is different in that only the devices needed to prevent shootthrough are turned off. The implementation of this method requires a very accurate measurement of the input voltage. When implementing this method, some problems are presented at the zero crossing points of the line-to-line voltage; these problems are found when any inaccuracy in the measurement of the input voltage is presented and it will cause the commutation sequence be wrong. The same authors presented an improved method [66], which provides a path for the current during the zero crossing point of the line to line voltage. This is a partial solution because commutation between certain phases is inhibited. The critical and uncritical areas of commutation are shown in Figure 2.17.



Figure 2.17: Critical areas of commutation sequence selection.

A technique to avoid critical situations of commutation, such as when two voltages of the input phases become equal, is discussed in [67]. This technique is based on the concept of replacing the critical commutation sequence with two uncritical sequences which will commutate to the remaining third input phase and then to the desired destination phase. Figure 2.18 explains the proposed sequence replacement.

The method proposed is effective and implemented easily, but disadvantages appear in the commutation logic when extra sequences are inserted.



Figure 2.18: Critical areas between phase A and B - Two additional sequences to phase C are inserted in the modulation period.

These extra sequences increase the converter switching losses.

2.5.2.3 The Voltage Magnitude and Current Direction Method

Both the current direction detection and the input voltage magnitude measurement techniques are put together to propose a new method [68]. The main idea is to turn on all the devices that will conduct in the same direction as the load current. Commutation between the three-phases can be achieved by turning off one or two of the devices simultaneously depending on the required switching state and the relative magnitude of the input voltages. This is a one-step commutation method as there is no need for staggered switch sequencing.

This method takes the advantages and disadvantages of both of the current direction detection and the input voltage magnitude measurement techniques. Basically, the disadvantages shown are:

• The input current distortion generated by the commutation to the wrong input

phase due to the inaccurate measurements of the input voltage at zero crossing point of the line to line currents, and

• Reverse current, which cannot be conducted due to the lack of a path, which is absent because the device conducting in one direction is turned on. Distortion is presented in the output waveforms at the zero crossing point of current in the load [69].

2.6 Input Filter

Power electronics circuits switch on and off large amounts of current at high voltages and thus can generate unwanted electrical signals that affect other electronic systems. In practice, the magnitudes of the higher-order harmonics can also be significantly affected by the current spikes caused by the finite slopes of the switching transitions [70]. In consequence, it is always required that a filter be added at the power input of a power converter. By attenuating the switching harmonics that are presented in the converter input current waveform, the input filter allows compliance with regulation that limit conducted electromagnetic interference. The input filter can also protect the converter and its load from transients that appear in the input voltage, thereby improving the system reliability.

As mentioned previously, to reduce the input current ripple with minimum dissipated energy on the reactive elements, it is necessary to add an input filter to the power converter. An LC low-pass filter is added to the input of converter. The use of more complex topologies has been recommend in the literature in order to achieve higher attenuation at the switching frequency, but they are not practical. The LC filter attenuates the currents harmonics produced by the switching frequency in the power converter, and thereby smooths the current waveform drawn from the power source.

The design of the input filter has to accomplish the following [15]:

• Produce an input filter with a cut-off frequency lower that the switching frequency,

$$L_{in} \cdot C_{in} = \frac{1}{\omega_0^2} \tag{2.33}$$

Where L_{in} , C_{in} are the values of the inductor and the capacitor of the input filter and $\omega_0 = 2\pi f_0$ is the resonance frequency pulsation of the input filter.

- Maximize the displacement angle ψ_{min-in} for a given output power.
- Minimize the input filter volume or weight for a given reactive power, by taking into account the energy densities which are different for film capacitors than for iron chokes.
- Minimize the voltage drop on the filter inductance at the rated current in order to provide the highest voltage transfer ratio.

Usually, the cut-off frequency of the LC input filter ω_0 is chosen to provide a given attenuation at the switching frequency. In addition, the value of the capacitor or inductance is chosen based on one of the previous criteria.

To improve the reliability of the system, input filters are sometimes required to operate normally when transients or periodic disturbances are applied to the power input. Such conducted susceptibility specifications force to damp the input filter resonances, so that input disturbances do not produce excessive current or voltages within the filter or power converter. It has been established both by analysis and practical tests that in Matrix Converter application it is advisable to incorporate damping in the filter, in the form of resistors in parallel with the inductors, since there is a high probability that at some operating point the matrix converter input currents will contain a component close to the resonant frequency of the filter [71], [72].

Figure 2.19 shows the LC input filter with the damping resistor added. The internal resistance of the inductor is represented by r. Using this schematic diagram, the transfer function of the input filter can be calculated [14], [10]. This transfer function is used to determine the resonance and cut-off frequency of the input filter. Bode plots are employed to find graphically the resonance and cut-off frequencies.



Figure 2.19: Diagram to calculate transfer function of input filter.

The transfer function is defined as the relation between the output to the input, i.e.

$$TF = \frac{V_{out}}{V_{in}} \tag{2.34}$$

Substituting the input and output voltage expression for each of the circuit components,

$$V_{out} = V_C = \frac{1}{C} \int i dt = \frac{1}{C} \int (i_a + i_b) dt \qquad (2.35)$$

$$V_{in} = L\frac{di_b}{dt} + ri_b + \frac{1}{C}\int idt = L\frac{di_b}{dt} + ri_b + \frac{1}{C}\int (i_a + i_b)dt$$
(2.36)

The relationship between i_a and i_b can be found as,

$$V_R = V_L + V_r; \quad Ri_a = L\frac{di_b}{dt} + ri_b \tag{2.37}$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad i_a = \frac{L}{R} \frac{di_b}{dt} + \frac{r}{R} i_b \tag{2.38}$$

Substituting Equation 2.38 into Equations 2.35 and Equation 2.36 and applying Laplace transform,

$$V_{out} = \frac{Ls + r + R}{RCs} \tag{2.39}$$

$$V_{in} = \frac{RLCs^2 + (rRC + L)s + (r + R)}{RCs}$$
(2.40)

Finally, the expression of the input filter transfer function is found as,

$$TF = \frac{\frac{Ls + r + R}{RLC}}{s^2 + (\frac{r}{L} + \frac{1}{RC})s + (\frac{r}{LRC} + \frac{1}{LC})}$$
(2.41)

Equation 2.41 expresses the general form of the input filter transfer function and is used to obtain the resonance and cut-off frequencies.

2.7 Output Filter

The power converter requires a LC filter at the output side to reduce the harmonics generated by the pulsating modulation of voltage waveform. A power converter with higher switching frequency will result in smaller LC filter size. However, switching frequency is generally limited in high power applications. For the design of the LC low-pass filter, the cut-off frequency is considered to be able to eliminate the most low order harmonics of the output voltage waveform [20]. The output impedance of the power converter must be keep close to zero to operate as an ideal voltage source. Ideal voltage source have no additional voltage distortion even though under the load variation or a nonlinear load. To satisfy this requirement the capacitance value should be maximized and the inductance value should be minimized at the selected cut-off frequency of the low-pass filter. When the value of the capacitor is increased the power rating of the matrix Converter is increased as well. This is due to the increment of the filter reactive power. The capacitor value is limited to some value and the value of the inductor is increased as much as the decrement of the capacitor value. It is difficult to obtain zero output impedance when the LC filter is used [73]. The gain and bandwidth of the voltage regulating loop can theoretically control the output impedance of the power converter [74]. The structure of the controller, the power converter switching frequency and the sampling frequency of the digital signal processor limit the response of the control system. Therefore, when the feedback controller of the power converter is designed the component values of the LC filter are modified.

The optimal output LC filter design has been carried out in many studies. Most of these studies are based on the cost function. This cost function is defined by the reactive power rating of the filter components under the steady state condition [75], [76]. To minimize the reactive power in the inductor and the capacitor each value of L and C have to be determined. But, if the value of LC filter is selected to minimize the cost function, then it is common that the filter components are chosen from a set of small capacitance and large inductance values. As a consequence, the output impedance of the power converter is too high. The output voltage waveform of the power converter can be sinusoidal under the linear load or steady state condition if the values mentioned previously are used.

The distortion of the output voltage waveform can be mitigated with an additional voltage feedback controller. The performance of the controller is limited by the power converter switching frequency and the sampling frequency of the digital signal processor. The trial and error method is used to modified the filter design values to reduce the distortion of the output voltage waveform.

Figure 2.20 shows the schematic of the output filter. In this figure r represents the internal resistance of the inductor. The transfer function of the output filter can be calculated from this figure [14], [10]. The resonance and cut-off frequencies are determined according to the values of the capacitor and the inductor. Bode plots are employed to find such frequencies.



Figure 2.20: Diagram to calculate transfer function of output filter.

The transfer function is defined by Equation 2.42.

$$TF = \frac{V_{out}}{V_{in}} \tag{2.42}$$

The input voltage considered to calculated the transfer function is defined by Equation 2.43 and the output voltage by Equation 2.44.

$$V_{out} = V_C = \frac{1}{C} \int i dt \tag{2.43}$$

$$V_{in} = L\frac{di}{dt} + ri + \frac{1}{C}\int idt \qquad (2.44)$$

Applying Laplace transform to Equation 2.43 and Equation 2.44, the output and input voltage can be expressed as,

$$V_{out} = \frac{1}{Cs} \tag{2.45}$$

$$V_{in} = Ls + r + \frac{1}{Cs} \tag{2.46}$$

The general expression of the output filter transfer function is given by Equation 2.47

$$TF = \frac{\frac{1}{LC}}{s^2 + \frac{r}{L}s + \frac{1}{LC}}$$
(2.47)

2.8 Control

An AC-AC power electronic converter is essentially a device for creating a variable frequency output from an AC input supply. The frequency of the output voltage or current is readily established by simply switching. However, the variable frequency ability is nearly always accompanied by a corresponding need to adjust the amplitude of the fundamental component of the output waveform as the frequency changes, i.e. voltage control [77].

The use of reference frame theory can simplify the analysis of electric machines and also provide a powerful tool for the digital implementation of sophisticated control schemes for AC drives and power supplies. A number of reference frames have been proposed over the years, of which the stationary and synchronous reference frames are the most commonly used.

The application of digital control techniques to switch mode power supplies has always been considered very interesting, mainly because of the several advantages a digital controller shows when compared to an analog one. Surely, the most relevant one is the possibility it offers for implementing sophisticated control law, taking care of nonlinearities, parameter variations or construction tolerances by means of selfanalysis and autotunning strategies are very difficult or impossible to implement analogically. Another very important advantage is the flexibility inherent in any digital controller, which allows the designer to modify the control strategy, or even to totally reprogram it, without the need for significant hardware modifications. Also very important are the higher tolerance to signal noise and the complete absence of ageing effects of thermal drifts.

2.8.1 Transformations

The $\alpha\beta$ transformation represents a very useful tool for the analysis and modeling of three-phase electrical systems. In general, a three-phase linear electrical system can be properly described in mathematical terms only by writing a set of tridimensional dynamic equations, providing a self-consistent mathematical model for each phase. In some cases though, the existence of physical constraints makes the three models not independent from each other. In these circumstances the order of the mathematical model can be reduced without any loss of information [11]. The diagram shown in Figure 2.21 is considered for the following discussion.

Supposing that it is physically meaningful to reduce the order of the mathematical model from three to two dimensions, the $\alpha\beta$ transformation represents the most commonly used relation to preform the reduction of order. A tridimensional vector


Figure 2.21: d-q rotating reference frame and its relationship with the *abc* stationary reference frame.

represented by Equation 2.48 is considered.

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}_{abc}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} x_a \\ x_b \\ x_c \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.48)

This vector can represents any triplet of the systems's electrical variables (voltages or currents). The linear transformation $\mathbf{T}_{\alpha\beta o}$ represented by Equation 2.49 is considered. This transformation is known as the Clarke transformation [78]. It transforms a three-phase system into a two-phase orthogonal system.

$$\mathbf{T}_{\alpha\beta o} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{2}{3} & -\frac{1}{3} & \frac{1}{3} \\ 0 & \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} & -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \\ \frac{2}{3} & \frac{2}{3} & \frac{2}{3} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.49)

This transformation is known as the Clarke transformation and transforms a three-

phase system into a two-phase orthogonal system.

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_{\alpha} \\ x_{\beta} \\ x_{o} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{2}{3} & -\frac{1}{3} & \frac{1}{3} \\ 0 & \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} & -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \\ \frac{2}{3} & \frac{2}{3} & \frac{2}{3} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{a} \\ x_{b} \\ x_{c} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.50)
$$\begin{bmatrix} x_{\alpha} \\ x_{\beta} \\ x_{o} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{2}{3} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & \sqrt{3} & -\sqrt{3} \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{a} \\ x_{b} \\ x_{c} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.51)

With x_{α} and x_{β} in an orthogonal reference frame and x_0 the homopolar component of the system.

In many applications, the homopolar component is absent or is less important. In this way, in absence of homopolar component the space vector $u = u_{\alpha} + ju_{\beta}$ represents the original three-phase input signal. When x_{α} is superposed with x_a and $x_a + x_b + x_c$ is zero, x_a , x_b and x_c can be transformed to x_{α} and x_{β} with the mathematical transformation represented by Equation 2.52,

$$x_{\alpha} = i_{a}$$

$$x_{\beta} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \cdot x_{a} + \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \cdot x_{b}$$

$$x_{a} + x_{b} + x_{c} = 0$$
(2.52)

The two-phases α , β frame representation calculated with the Clarke transformation is then convert to a vector rotation block where it is rotated over an angle θ to follow the d-q frame. The rotation over an angle θ is done according to Equation 2.53. This transformation is known as the Park transformation.

$$x_d = x_\alpha \cdot \cos\theta + x_\beta \cdot \sin\theta$$

$$x_q = -x_\alpha \cdot \sin\theta + x_\beta \cdot \cos\theta$$
(2.53)

The vector in the d - q frame is transformed from d - q frame to the two-phase frame representation calculated with a rotation over an angle θ according to the Equation 2.54. This transformation is called the Inverse Park transformation.

$$\begin{aligned} x_{\alpha} &= x_{d} \cdot \cos \theta - x_{q} \cdot \sin \theta \\ x_{\beta} &= x_{d} \cdot \sin \theta + x_{q} \cdot \cos \theta \end{aligned}$$
(2.54)

The modification from a two-phase orthogonal α , β frame to a three-phase system is done by the Equation 2.55.

$$x_{a} = i_{\alpha}$$

$$x_{b} = -\frac{1}{2} \cdot x_{\alpha} + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \cdot x_{\beta}$$

$$x_{c} = -\frac{1}{2} \cdot x_{\alpha} - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \cdot x_{\beta}$$
(2.55)

г

The transformation of the *abc* frame reference to the equivalent d-q reference frame can be performed directly by Equation 2.56.

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_d \\ x_q \end{bmatrix} = \frac{2}{3} \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\theta) & \cos(\theta - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(\theta - \frac{4\pi}{3}) \\ -\sin(\theta) & -\sin(\theta - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & -\sin(\theta - \frac{4\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_a \\ x_b \\ x_c \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.56)

Where x represents either current, voltage, or flux linkage, and θ is the angular displacement between the *a*-axis and *d*-axis of the three-phase and two-phase reference frame. The three-phase variables, x_a , x_b and x_c , are in the stationary reference frame which does not rotate in space whereas the two-phase variables, x_d and x_q , are in the synchronous reference frame whose direct (d) and quadrature (q) axes rotate in space at the synchronous speed ω_e [79].

The two-phase variables in the synchronous d-q frame can be transformed directly to the *abc* stationary frame by using Equation 2.57.

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_a \\ x_b \\ x_c \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\theta) & -\sin(\theta) \\ \cos(\theta - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & -\sin(\theta - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \\ \cos(\theta - \frac{4\pi}{3}) & -\sin(\theta - \frac{4\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_d \\ x_q \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.57)

2.8.2**Tracking Controller**

A control system is an arrangement of physical component connected or related in such manner as to command, direct or regulate itself or another system. In the most abstract sense it is possible to consider every physical object a control system. In engineering and science the meaning of control system is restricted to apply to those systems whose major function is to dynamically or actively command, direct or regulate. The input is the stimulus, excitation or command applied to a control system typically from an external energy source, usually in order to produce a specified response from the control system while the output is the actual response obtained from a control system. It may or may not be equal to the specified response implied by the input.

The closed loop control system is often called feedback control system. Figure 3.19 shows a diagram of a close loop control system.



Figure 2.22: Diagram of a control system.

Considering Figure 3.19, the plant is represented by LC filter which is has a transfer function of second order. A second order controller is proposed as the tracking controller. This kind of controller is chosen because it has the same order as the plant. For the design of the tracking controller the root-locus method is employed. The poles and zeros of a transfer function can be displayed graphically in the s-plane or z-plane by means of a pole-zero map [14]. This method displays the location of the poles of the closed-loop transfer function in Equation 2.58 as a function of the gain factor K of the open-loop function GH.

$$\frac{G}{1+GH} \tag{2.58}$$

In Equation 2.58 G represents the transfer function of plant and H represents the transfer function of the feedback. In this study, the transfer function of the feedback has a unity value.

The root-locus method requires that only the location of the poles and zeros of GH be known, and does not require factorization of the characteristic polynomial. Root-locus techniques permit accurate computation of the time-domain response in addition to yielding readily available frequency response information.

The root-locus method can be quite effective in the design of either continuous or discrete-time feedback control systems, because it graphically illustrate the variation of the system closed-loop poles as a function of the open-loop gain factor K. In its simplest form, design is accomplished by choosing a value of K which results in satisfactory closed-loop behavior. This is called gain factor compensation. Specifications on allowable steady state errors usually take the form of a minimum value of K, expressed in terms of errors constants. If it is not possible to meet all system specifications using gain factor compensation alone, other forms of compensation can be added to the system to alter the root-locus as needed, for example, lag, lead, lag-lead networks, or PID controllers.

In order to accomplish system design in the s-plane or the z-plane using root-locus techniques, it is necessary to interpret the system specifications in terms of desired pole-zero configurations. Digital computer programs as Matlab/Simulink for constructing root-loci can be very helpful in system design as well as analysis.

If the pole-zero configuration of the plant is such that the system specifications cannot be met by an adjustment of the open-loop gain factor, a more more complicated cascade compensator can be added to the system to cancel some or all of the poles and zeros of the plant. The cascade compensator is represented by the tracking controller in Figure 3.19. Due to the realizability considerations, the compensator must have no more zeros than poles. Consequently, when poles of the plant are canceled by zeros of the compensator, the compensator also adds new poles to the forward-loop transfer function. The philosophy of this compensation techniques is then to replace undesirable with desirable poles.

The difficulty encountered in applying this scheme is that it is not always apparent

what open-loop pole-zero configuration is desirable from the standpoint of meeting specifications on closed-loop system performance.

As stated before the poles cancelation is used in the root-locus method. In this case, the denominator of transfer function of the plant is canceled by the numerator of the transfer function of the tracking controller. Equation 2.59 can be considered as a general transfer function of the second order system.

$$T.F. = \frac{\omega_n^2}{s^2 + 2\xi\omega s + \omega_n^2} \tag{2.59}$$

System expressed by Equation 2.59 represents the plant. The plant is basically an LC filter.

Equation 2.59 can be expressed as.

$$\frac{\omega_n^2}{s^2 + 2\xi\omega s + \omega_n^2} = \frac{K_1}{(s + p_1^p)(s + p_2^p)}$$
(2.60)

where $K_1 = \omega_n^2$

The tracking controller must a second order polynomial, the form of which is represented by Equation 2.61

$$\frac{(s+z_1^c)(s+z_2^c)}{(s+p_1^c)(s+p_2^c)} \tag{2.61}$$

In order to use the pole cancelation method, the following condition must be satisfied,

$$(s + p_1^p)(s + p_2^p) = (s + z_1^c)(s + z_2^c)$$
(2.62)

This yields to,

$$\frac{K_1}{(s+p_1^p)(s+p_2^p)} \cdot \frac{(s+z_1^c)(s+z_2^c)}{(s+p_1^c)(s+p_2^c)}$$
(2.63)

Equation 2.64 represents the new transfer function of the closed-loop system when the second order tracking controller is added.

$$\frac{K_1}{(s+p_1^c)(s+p_2^c)} \tag{2.64}$$

Finally, it can be stated that the tracking controller must be chosen as a second order controller, which representation is expressed by Equation 2.65.

$$\frac{(s+p_1^p)(s+p_2^p)}{(s+p_1^c)(s+p_2^c)} \tag{2.65}$$

2.8.3 Repetitive Controller

In recent years, the development of new technologies in the field of power electronics and micro-electronics has been increasing rapidly [13]. This has led to the application of more intelligent control. Digital signal processors were developed for application in the field of communications, but nowadays they can be found in different systems such as uninterruptible power supplies and motor drives, due to their ability to execute very fast and complex calculations.

Repetitive control is a very effective control strategy if the external signals (external disturbance and references) are periodical. Let

$$U(N) = [u(0), u(1), ..., u(n)]^T$$
(2.66)

$$U(N+1) = [u(N), u(N+1), ..., u(N+n)]^T$$
(2.67)

where U(N) is the previous period of the output signal to be controlled and U(N+1)is the current period of the output signal. u(0) is the sample at instant zero when the previous period starts and u(N) is the sample at instant N when the current period of signal starts. T denotes the transpose. Let the error E be

$$E(N) = [e(0), e(1), ..., e(n)]^T$$
(2.68)

$$E(N+1) = [e(N), e(N+1), ..., e(N+n)]^T$$
(2.69)

$$e(i) = r(i) - y(i);$$
 $i = 0, 1, ..., n, N, N + 1, ..., N + n$ (2.70)

Where e(i) is the error, r(i) is the reference and y(i) is the output. These are instantaneous values. Then, the repetitive control algorithm is

$$U(N+1) = U(N) + K[E(N) - E(N+1)]$$
(2.71)

There are different algorithms used for cancelation of periodic or repetitive disturbances. These algorithms are described in next sections.

2.8.3.1 Internal mode-based Repetitive Controller

According to the internal model principle [80], regulation under the presence of disturbances generated by a free dynamical system is achieved by placing a model of the disturbance generator in the feedback loop. In the discrete time domain, the z-transformation of a periodic signal with a period of N, w(k), can be expressed as

$$W(z) = \frac{W_o(z)}{1 - z^{-N}} = \frac{W_o(z)^N}{z^N - 1}$$
(2.72)

Where W_o is defined from the first N values of w(k), i.e.

$$W_o(z) = w(0) + w(1)z^{-1} + \dots + w(N-1)z^{-(N-1)}$$
(2.73)

Equation 2.73 can be graphically represented as shown in Figure 2.23. The figure implies that the generator for repetitive signals is a N-step delay chain with positive feedback around it.

A servo-plant is described by

$$A(q^{-1})e(k) = q^{-d}B(q^{-1})u_r(k) + w(k)$$
(2.74)

where q^{-d} is the system delay operator. The q^{-d} operator is different from z^{-d} . q^{-d} is used in the representation of the system before applying the z-transformation to indicate that the system has already introduce a delay by itself while z^{-d} represents the delay introduced in the loop due to the sampling period when the z-transformation have been already applied.

$$A(q^{-1}) = 1 + a_1 q^{-1} + \dots + a_n q^{-n}$$
(2.75)

$$B(q^{-1}) = B_0 + b_1 q^{-1} + \dots + b_m q^{-m} \qquad b_0 \neq 0$$
(2.76)

where d represents known delay steps, e(k) is the tracking error, $u_r(k)$ the control input and w(k) is the periodic disturbance.



Figure 2.23: Generation of repetitive signal.

The repetitive controller, $G_r(z^{-1})$, is placed in the feedback loop. The most general form of the internal model-based repetitive controller is

$$G_r(z^{-1}) = \frac{R(z^{-1})}{S(z^{-1})(1-z^{-N})}$$
(2.77)

Unfortunately, the controller given by Equation 2.77 is not robust to unmodeled dynamics. To increase robustness, the generator in Figure 2.23 must be modified by placing a low-pass filter in the feedback path. It is noted that if periodic disturbance is dominated by one frequency component, $\omega_n = \frac{\pi n}{N}$, the repetitive controller may include the sinusoidal generator as internal model, i.e,

$$G_r(z^{-1}) = \frac{R(z^{-1})}{S(z^{-1})[1 - 2\cos(\omega_n)z^{-1} + z^{-2}]}$$
(2.78)

2.8.3.2 External model-based Repetitive Controller

For the design of the external model-based repetitive controller, the model of the servo-plant represented by Equation 2.79 is applicable

$$A(q^{-1})e(k) = q^{-d}B(q^{-1})[u_r(k) + w'(k)]$$
(2.79)

The system described by Equation 2.79 is equivalently expressed by Equation 2.74 except for the first m+d time-steps, provided that $B(z^{-1})$ and $(1-z^{-N})$ are coprime. Coprime numbers or polynomials means that they have no common factor other than 1.

Note that the disturbance, w'(k), can be regarded as the output of the generator. If the initial conditions of the generator is set such that all modes can appear in the response, any periodic signal of a period N can be constructed by properly assigning values for the parameters, $b'_{di}s$. This implies that the disturbance can be expressed as

$$w'(k) = \theta_d^T \phi_d(k) \tag{2.80}$$

where

$$\theta_d^T = [b_{dN}, \dots, b_{d2}, b_{d1}] \tag{2.81}$$

$$\phi_d(k) = [x_{d1}, x_{d2}, \dots, b_{dN}] \tag{2.82}$$

and T denotes the transpose.

Equation 2.79 can be expressed as

$$A(q^{-1})e(k) - B(q^{-1})u(k-d) = B(q^{-1})w'(k-d)$$
(2.83)

Equation 2.80 and 2.83 yield

$$v(k) = \theta_d^T \phi_{db}(k-d) \tag{2.84}$$

Where v(k) represents the left-hand side of Equation 2.83, which is known at time k, i.e., $v(k) = A(q^{-1})e(k) - B(q^{-1})u(k-d)$, and

$$\phi_{db}(k) = B(q^{-1})\phi_d(k) \tag{2.85}$$

Notice that $\phi_d(k)$ is directly available and $\phi_{db}(k)$ can be computed from $\phi_d(k)$ because $B(q^{-1})$ is known. The estimation of the parameter vector, θ_d , at time k is denoted by $\hat{\theta}_d(k)$. The a priori predictor output is defined by

$$\widehat{v}^0(k) = \widehat{\theta}_d(k-1)\phi_{db}(k-d) \tag{2.86}$$

Disturbance rejection or regulation is achieved by letting

$$u(k) = \hat{\theta}_d^T(k)\phi_d(k) \tag{2.87}$$

The disturbance rejection controller includes a model of the disturbance generator. The point to be noted here is that the disturbance w'(k) is unknown because b'_{bi} s are unknown, while $\phi_d(k)$ is known. Therefore, the state vector of the disturbance model is set equal to that of the disturbance generator and the $\hat{b}'_{bi}(k)$'s of the disturbance model are adjusted. The state of the disturbance model is outside the regulation loop for e(k), i.e. the disturbance model is an external model.

The approach outlined above can be extended to the case of unknown plant parameters.

From a practical point of view, the internal model-based repetitive control is the simplest in terms of coding and computational requirements. Furthermore, this is a linear control approach and is transparent to users. However, it should be noted that low-pass filtering inside the internal model is essential for robust stability. One advantage of this control is that a long repetitive period does not change the coding complexity and execution speed. Internal model-based control is the most practical, but the others algorithms can also be used in a near future, when new digital signal processor technology is developed. External model-based control is similar to new learning schemes. Parameter identification approach for Fourier-based control does not require structural information of the controlled plant, this characteristic makes it unique. One condition for all repetitive approaches is that the number of periods k should be known and fixed [13].

2.9 Summary

In this chapter, a brief description of Matrix Converter technology is given. This description includes topologies of bi-directional switches, commutation techniques for each topology and modulation techniques for Matrix Converters. Another advantage of the Matrix Converter technology is that the Matrix Converter does not employ the large electrolytic capacitor used in the rectifier/voltage source inverter topology. For some applications the physical size of the converter is of significant importance, so the lack of large capacitor makes the Matrix Converter to be very interesting topic.

The literature reviewed highlights that despite the advantages, the commercial exploitation of Matrix Converters has been limited to date by the high number of semiconductor devices used and by the limit of the voltage conversion ratio. Though much research effort has been carried out to overcome these problems [81] [33]. In applications where the size (and consequently the weight) of the converter is of vital importance and the output voltage does not need to be higher than 86% of the input voltage, such as aerospace industry applications, the Matrix Converter topology has been widely accepted.

Theory about input and output filter used in the Matrix Converter system was given. General deduction of both the input and output filter transfer function was presented. Brief review of the control theory has been given. The transformations used in the control strategy were presented. These transformations are employed to transform from the *abc* reference frame to the α - β reference frame and then to the *d*-*q* reference frame. The direct transformations from *abc* reference frame to α - β reference were given. All of the transformations have their respective viceversa transformations. These transformations will be used in Chapter 3. To control the output voltage of the converter a second order controller will be designed, this controller acts as a tracking controller. A review of Repetitive Controllers (RC) was given. By using the bilinear transformation both the tracking controller and the Repetitive Controller can be expressed in discrete time (z) domain. These methods will be used in the design given in Chapter 3.

Chapter 3

Matrix Converter Power Supply Simulation

3.1 Introduction

Many comparative studies have been carried out to find the most appropriate system configuration for a Ground Power Unit (GPU) [82] [83]. Issues such as reliability, fault tolerance, size and weight have been considered without paying much attention to the topology of the power converter. The choice of the novel structure control for this study is the result of a detailed examination and comparison of different drive systems which have been configured on the basis of the application, the desired control strategy and the type of converter to be implemented [84] [85].

This chapter refers to the simulation of the proposed GPU system and its control strategy under different operative conditions. The purpose of this simulation is to verify the effectiveness of the Matrix Converter used in this specific application and of the control structure proposed in the previous chapter. Moreover, the simulation helps to gain insights into the effect of different parameters on the converter performance. This chapter begins with the technical specifications of the Matrix Converter system. The design of an equivalent resistive-inductive load is then shown. Then the chapter presents a review of both software Matlab/Simulnk and Saber and the comparison of results between both packages is discussed. The open loop Matrix Converter operation is then simulated with no input filter neither output filter.

Next the Matrix Converter system with a simple voltage control loop is simulated. The tracking controller is designed and included in the system. Simulations with different load conditions are performed. Then a discussion about the opportunity of employing a control based on the d-q reference frame or the ABC reference frame is carried out. The effectiveness of the Matrix Converter control is verified by observing the converter response to a change neither in the load or in the voltage reference. Based on the data obtained, the harmonic spectra of the output voltage and input current are also presented in order to evaluated the converter performance. An improved control structure is then presented. It employs the Repetitive Control strategy combined with the designed tracking controller in order to attenuate or eliminate the unwanted harmonic distortion in the output voltage waveform of the Matrix Converter and to compensate for the steady-state error introduced by the use of a classical tracking controller with limited bandwidth in a 400Hz application. Simulation using this novel control structure is carried out to verify the output voltage control and the quality of the waveform obtained. The maximum ripple in the output voltage is then investigated and compared with the analysis carried out in Chapter 5.

By doing so, successful operation of the converter control is presented in this chapter. This helps to ensure that the laboratory prototype described in Chapter 4, will work successfully.

Early in this study, the major advantages of using a Matrix Converter for an aerospace application, in particular the absence of bulky and unreliable electrolytic capacitors, in this topology of converter has been mentioned. The use of a Matrix Converter means that, unless heavily filtered, power fluctuations in the load are directly fed to the input supply with consequent distortion of the line currents. A series of simulations of different load conditions have been run to understand the impact of the choice of the control strategy.

The different load conditions will be analyzed as follow:

- Matrix Converter connected to a Balanced Load
- Matrix Converter connected to an Unbalanced Load
- Matrix Converter with Load Disconnected

3.2 Technical Specifications

In order to verify the effectiveness of this power supply and the output voltage control strategy proposed, the Matrix Converter system is simulated considering practical values for the electronic component and load conditions. The system has main technical specifications as follow:

- Rated input voltage: Three-phase 415V (rms, line voltage), 50Hz mains supply.
- Rated output power: The Matrix Converter system is designed for a total power of 7.5kVA. In practical testing a total output power of 5kVA was chosen due to limitations of the available test facility.
- Rated output voltage: Three-phase 117V (rms, phase voltage).
- **Output frequency:** This system is for aircraft application, so the output frequency is set to 400Hz.

The total output power is 7.5kVA. The power per phase is calculated as,

$$S = \frac{7500}{3} = 2500 \tag{3.1}$$

An equivalent load impedance can be obtained as,

$$S = VI = V\frac{V}{Z} = \frac{V^2}{Z} \tag{3.2}$$

$$Z = \frac{V^2}{S} = \frac{117^2}{2500} = 5.48\Omega \tag{3.3}$$

Considering a value of 0.6 for the power factor (pf),

$$|Z|^2 = R^2 + X_L^2 \quad \Rightarrow \quad |Z| = \sqrt{R^2 + X_L^2}$$
 (3.4)

$$pf = \cos\theta = 0.6 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \theta = \arccos 0.6 = 53.1301^{\circ}$$

$$(3.5)$$

 $R = |Z|\cos\theta = 3.29\tag{3.6}$

$$X_L = |Z|\sin\theta = 4.38\tag{3.7}$$

$$X_L = \omega L = 2\pi f L = 2\pi (400) L = 800\pi L \tag{3.8}$$

$$L = \frac{X_L}{800\pi} = \frac{4.38048}{800\pi} = 1.74mF \tag{3.9}$$

The final values for the equivalent phase resistive-inductive load, considering a pf = 0.6, are,

 $R = 3.29\Omega$ L = 1.74mH

3.3 Comparison between Matlab/Simulink and Saber

Two models of the system are considered and simulated by using both Matlab/Simulink and Saber. They differ for the modulation algorithms used: the Venturini's Optimal Method in the first and the Space Vector Modulation (SVM) in the second model. As it was described in Chapter 2 the Basic Venturini method achieves a voltage conversion ratio of 50% and is implemented by using the Equation 3.10.

$$m_{Kj} = \frac{t_{Kj}}{T_{seq}} = \frac{1}{3} \left[1 + \frac{2v_k v_j}{V_{im}^2} \right]$$
(3.10)

for K=A,B,C and j=a,b,c

The Optimum Amplitude Method is employed to achieve a better voltage conversion ratio. As mentioned previously a voltage conversion ratio of only 50% can be achieved by using the Basic Venturini method. A better voltage conversion ratio up to 86% can be achieved with the Venturini's Optimum Amplitude method thanks to a third harmonic injection into the modulating signal of the Basic Venturini method. The equation employed for calculating the switching times in the Venturini's Optimul Amplitude method is given by Equation 3.11,

$$m_{Kj} = \frac{t_{Kj}}{T_{seq}} = \frac{1}{3} \left[1 + \frac{2v_k v_j}{V_{im}^2} + \frac{4q}{3\sqrt{3}} \sin(\omega_i t + \beta_K) \sin(3\omega_i t) \right]$$
(3.11)

for K=A,B,C and j=a,b,c

$$\beta_K = 0, \frac{2\pi}{3}, \frac{4\pi}{3} \tag{3.12}$$

for K=A,B,C respectively.

The Matrix Converter power supply is also simulated by using the Space Vector Modulation (SVM) algorithm. The algorithm of the SVM to be implemented was taken from [1] and detailed analysis was done in Chapter 2 for the whole understanding of this modulation strategy.

Saber is a powerful simulation software. It is more accurate than Matlab/Simulink because the parameters and algorithms for solving equations can be adjusted. In order to get a very accurate precision the component models can be modified to include environmental operating conditions. The models are written in MAST language, which can be easily edited. Saber allows to simulate using model of included components and the possibility of defining user-implemented parts by using of the versatile MAST

language, but it locks in the simulation of control systems. The disadvantage of Saber is that it takes a long time to execute a simulation. The long time required in the simulation is due to the solving algorithms employed and to the fact that it stores all the variables of interest of the system during the simulation. The waveforms obtained by using Saber in this study are similar to those obtained by using Matlab/Simulink. The waveforms resulted from the simulation by using Matlab/Simulink are shown in the following sections. Saber is used only for the calculation of the harmonic spectra of the experimental results.

3.3.1 Simulation in Saber

As mentioned early Saber is a powerful tool used in electrical and electronic systems simulations. This numerical engine allows the simulation of mixed-technology systems and also it permits the analysis of every change of the system under different operating conditions. Each block in the system consists of different components. These component can be electrical, electronic, mechanical or hydraulic and they are found in libraries of standard components or user-defined templates. The user-defined templates are models of components defined by the user using programs written in the MAST modeling language. A standard template or user-defined template has an associated symbol. This symbol can be drawn by using the drawing palette included as a tool in the Saber environment. A network list (netlist) is used to interconnect all the components in the system. This network list converts the simulated model into an ASCII file which contains the connection points and values for the model parameters. The simulated system can contain elements of different type such as linear, non linear, continuous, time discrete, digital or analogue, mechanical, electrical and hydraulic. The software generates a set of equations. The size of the set of equations depends on the model complexity and are solved by Saber which chooses the appropriated algorithm to both verify the functionality of the model and to tune the design parameters. The model can be simulated in the time or frequency domain. Many subtle effects and environmental conditions in the components not included in other simulation software can be included in Saber. This characteristic makes the

effectiveness of Saber a notable advantage.

Before any control system could be simulated, the Matrix Converter needed to be modeled. The following parts needed to be implemented.

- Output filter
- Input filter
- Matrix of bidirectional switches
- PWM generator
- Modulation strategies

The electronics have been modeled using electrical components (i.e. switches, diodes, capacitors, resistors, inductors, power supplies and comparators) from the SABER standard library, selecting for each of them the desired parameter values. The bidirectional switches have been modeled by using MAST language. In early work, electronic devices from the standard library have been employed to simulate the bidirectional switches, but it was concluded that the simulation runs faster when the devices are simulated by using MAST language.

The next stage was to create the necessary switching signals which would generate a safe commutation of the bi-directional switches. Using MAST, events can be scheduled at particular points in time so that logic signals can be generated to mimic the digital logic functionality of a Field Programmable Gate Array (FPGA)(which would be used for logic implementation in a real controller) with the correct time resolution of a real system. The two techniques were tested with the SABER simulator by simulating the logic signals coming from a modulator using two ideal clock units with different duty cycles. The results were compared and were both found to work well according to the literature. Since the protection of a Matrix Converter is more robust when using a current direction based commutation technique [86], this method was used in all of the Matrix Converter system simulations.

Using the MAST language the modulator has been successfully designed. The three different modulation techniques have all been implemented and compared using simple models of test circuits such as a three input phase to single output phase Matrix Converter. The modulation techniques implemented are as follows:

- Venturini basic algorithm (Section 2.3.1)
- Optimum Amplitude Venturini Algorithm (Section 2.3.2)
- Space Vector Modulation methods (Section 2.3.4)

The events were scheduled using MAST language to generate the same type of PWM resolution that would be used in a physical prototype. A simulation of the Matrix Converter driving different types of loads was run using different modulation techniques. These results show that there is obviously a different harmonic content in the output waveform for each modulation technique. The source codes using MAST language for the simulation of the Matrix Converter system are listed in Appendix C. The source code shown uses the Space Vector Modulation (SVM) modulation technique for the simulation of the Matrix Converter system.

The schematic diagram of the Saber simulation model in Saber is shown in Figure 3.1. Resistor R4 has a big value ($10M\Omega$) and it is used to isolate the system from ground. In Saber simulations, the model must be grounded in order to allow the algorithm to solve the equations. The arrangement of a big resistor connected to a ground point is to create a floating point with no connection. A more detail schematic diagrams can be seen in Appendix B. It should be noted that in this initial simulation the load is considered as a pure resistive load. Both the commutation and sampling frequency are set up to 12.8kHz. When the commutation and sampling frequency was changed to check the reliability of the model, the output voltage was different from the voltage expected. This was due to the waveform samples taken and the conditions imposed in the modulation template code. The MAST code was then modified and logic conditions were included to solve the problem presented.



Figure 3.1: Schematic of Matrix Converter used in Saber simulation.

Figure 3.2 shows the output voltage of phase c simulated via Saber. As it can be in Figure 3.1, no output voltage controller was employed.



Figure 3.2: Waveform of load voltage in phase c when simulated in Saber.

The harmonic spectra of the output voltage in phase c is shown in Figure 3.3. This harmonic spectra is calculated using the calculator tool included in Saber. This is a powerful tool that also allows to calculate different performance factors in a waveform (mean value, maximum value, minimum value, RMS value, etc).



Figure 3.3: Harmonic spectra of load voltage in phase c using Saber.

3.3.2 Simulation using Matlab/Simulink

In order to get faster simulations, but still good results and to be able to implement the control system in a more straightforward way, the software Matlab/Simulink was used. All simulations obtained in Matlab/Simulink were compared to those obtained in Saber which has been used in the end only for the purpose of comparison. The schematic diagram used for the model simulation of model in Matlab/Simulink is shown in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4: Schematic of Matrix Converter used in Matlab/Simulink simulation.

Figure 3.5 shows the output voltage waveform obtained in phase c when Matlab/Simulink is employed. In this simulation the output voltage controller is not used, neither is the input or output filter.



Figure 3.5: Load voltage in phase c when simulated in Matlab/Simulink.

Figure 3.6 shows the harmonic spectra of the output voltage in phase c. This harmonic spectra is obtained by using a program developed in Matlab. The data is saved in a Matlab file and then the program developed in Matlab code is used to calculate the Fast Fourier Transform (FFT).

3.4 Simulation without Controller

3.4.1 Matrix Converter with neither Input or Output Filter

One of the first simulations to be run was the Matrix Converter system without input and output filter. As it was mentioned previously, the load operation conditions of the system included a load perfectly balanced, then an unbalanced load and finally a no load connected. Figure 3.7(a) shows the waveform obtained when the Matrix Converter system is connected to a perfectly balanced load, while Figure 3.7(b) shows



Figure 3.6: Harmonic spectra of load voltage in phase c using Matlab/Simulink.

the waveform obtained in phase c when the load is disconnected. It should be noticed that no input filter or output filters are connected to the Matrix Converter.



(a) MC is connected to a balanced load.

(b) Load is not connected to MC.

Figure 3.7: Output voltage in phase c without filters.

The waveform of the the Matrix Converter output voltage between phase a and b is shown in Figure 3.8(a) while the load current in phase c can be seen in Figure 3.8(b).



Figure 3.8: Line-to-line voltage and load current of the Matrix Converter.

3.4.2 Matrix Converter with Output Filter

Figure 3.9 shows the diagram of the output filter to be designed for using in the system. The filter must be suitable to produce a sinusoidal output voltage waveform at 400Hz.



Figure 3.9: Structure of output filter.

The output filter is designed by using its transfer function expressed by Equation 2.47. In this equation variables L, C and r refer to inductance, capacitance and internal resistance of inductor respectively. The value of the capacitor is calculated by mathematical method and by using Bode plots. Because low order harmonics must be attenuated in order to meet the requirements imposed in the output voltage, the cut-off frequency is chosen to be above 1500Hz. The ripple in the output voltage waveform must not exceed 3V (2.6%) of the nominal output voltage and the voltage total harmonic distortion must not exceed 4%. Another requirement to be considered when designing the output filter is that the resonance frequency must be chosen in a way that it is put lower than the switching frequency used by the bi-directional switches. The switching frequency of the bi-directional switches is 10kHz, so the resonant frequency is chosen around 10000 rad/sec, which represents $\frac{10000rad/sec}{2\cdot\pi} = 1591.55$ kHz.

The resonance frequency is calculated by using the Equation 3.13.

$$\omega_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{LC}} \tag{3.13}$$

Calculating the value of the capacitor as a function of the value of the inductor Equation 3.13 yields,

$$\sqrt{LC} = \frac{1}{\omega_0} \tag{3.14}$$

$$C = \frac{1}{\omega_0^2 L} \tag{3.15}$$

According to [20] the value of the inductor must be small as possible in order reduce the output impedance of the power converter. The output impedance must be low because the power converter is operating as a voltage source. Considering a fixed value of the inductor equal to 128μ H with an internal resistance of $50m\Omega$ Equation 3.15 can be written as,

$$C = \frac{1}{\omega_0^2 \cdot 128\mu} = \frac{7812.5}{\omega_0^2} \tag{3.16}$$

The value of the resonance frequency should be around 10000rad/sec. A range between $\omega_{o1} = 9000rad/sec$ and $\omega_{o2} = 11000rad/sec$ is proposed to calculate the value of the capacitor. Assuming this range, Equation 3.16 can be expressed in two parts,

$$C_1 = \frac{7812.5}{9000^2} = \frac{7812.5}{\omega_{01}^2} = 96.45\mu F \tag{3.17}$$

$$C_2 = \frac{7812.5}{11000^2} = \frac{7812.5}{\omega_{02}^2} = 64.57\mu F \tag{3.18}$$

Therefore the value of capacitor C must be between the range,

$$C_2 < C < C_1 \tag{3.19}$$

$$64.57\mu F < C < 96.45\mu F \tag{3.20}$$

The value of the capacitor is chosen the be the smallest possible to reduce the size of the power converter and also it have to be a commercial values. Analyzing this requirement different values were proposed and finally a value of 68μ F was chosen for the capacitor. Therefore the final suitable values for the output filter are as follow:

- $R_L = 50m\Omega$
- $L = 128 \mu H$
- $C = 68 \mu F$

Using these values the final output filter transfer function expressed in the s-domain is given by Equation 3.21

$$\frac{1.149 \cdot 10^8}{s^2 + 390.6s + 1.149 \cdot 10^8} \tag{3.21}$$

The Bode plot of Equation 3.21 can be found by using Matlab/Simulink. Analyzing this plot, it can be seen that the cut-off frequency is obtained at 2.65kHz and the resonant frequency is found at 1.71kHz. The gain at the resonant frequency is 28.8dB. Figure 3.10 shows the frequency response of the output filter transfer function.



Figure 3.10: Bode plot of the output filter transfer function in s domain.

Once the output filter is designed in the s-domain, it is transformed to discrete time domain (z-domain) by using the zero-order-hold function in Matlab. The sampling frequency used in the discrete time model is the same as the one that will be used in the practical implementation. The sampling frequency has a value of 12.8kHz. The output filter transfer function in discrete time domain (z-domain) is expressed by Equation 3.22. This transfer function will be used in the plant evaluation for the design of the output voltage controller.

$$\frac{0.3273z + 0.3239}{z^2 - 1.319z + 0.9699} \tag{3.22}$$

The output voltage waveforms obtained when the Matrix Converter system is simulated with the output filter added are shown in Figure 3.11. In Figure 3.11(a), the MC is connected to a perfectly balanced load. The worst case is when the Matrix Converter is not connected to a load. Figure 3.11(b) shows the waveform of the output voltage when the load is disconnected. Its harmonic spectra is shown in Figure 3.12.



(a) MC is connected to a balanced load.



Figure 3.11: Output voltage in phase c using the output LC low-pass filter.



(a) Harmonic spectra with load disconnected

(b) Details of the Harmonic spectra with load disconnected

Figure 3.12: Harmonic spectra of output voltage in phase c.

3.4.3 Matrix Converter with Input and Output Filter

The operation of power converters produce harmonic distortion. This distortion is injected to the grid and cause problems to other electronic equipments. This situation was explained in section 2.6. The power converter must meet the requirements given in IEEE 519 [26]. This standard refers to the harmonic content that is allowable to inject into the electrical network. In order to reduce or attenuate the current harmonics in the supply an LC low-pass input filter has to be included. The LC filter causes disruptions during the power-up procedure of the power converter. The transients of current at the startup can cause over voltage situations just after the LC filter which can destroy the power devices of the converter [87]. A damping resistor is added as a solution to this problem. This damping resistor has the purpose of attenuating the current through the inductor. The value of the damping resistor is chosen in such way that its power losses are as low as possible. The diagram of the input filter to be included in the power supply side is shown in Figure 3.13.



Figure 3.13: Structure of input filter.

The input filter is designed by using the transfer function expressed by Equation 3.23. In this equation variables L, C, R and r refer to the values of the inductor, capacitor, damping resistor and internal resistance of inductor respectively. The input frequency is the mains frequency, which has a value of 50Hz. The input filter must attenuate

low order harmonic multiples of 50Hz. Values of components in the input filter must be as small as possible.

$$F(s) = \frac{\frac{Ls + r + R}{RLC}}{s^2 + (\frac{r}{L} + \frac{1}{RC})s + (\frac{r}{LRC} + \frac{1}{LC})}$$
(3.23)

A value of 700μ H is proposed as initial value for the inductor. The internal resistance of the inductor is $50m\Omega$. Using Equation 2.41 and substituting these values,

$$F(s) = \frac{\frac{700\mu \cdot s + 0.05 + R}{R \cdot 700\mu \cdot C}}{s^2 + (\frac{0.05}{700\mu} + \frac{1}{RC})s + (\frac{0.05}{700\mu \cdot RC} + \frac{1}{700\mu \cdot C})}$$
(3.24)

$$F(s) = \frac{\frac{s+71.43+1428.57 \cdot R}{RC}}{s^2 + (71.43 + \frac{1}{RC})s + (\frac{71.43}{RC} + \frac{1428.57}{C})}$$
(3.25)

$$F(s) = \frac{s + 71.43 + 1428.57 \cdot R}{RC \cdot s^2 + (71.43 \cdot RC + 1)s + (1428.57 \cdot R + 71.43)}$$
(3.26)

The transfer function expressed by Equation 3.26 can be plotted for different values of capacitor and damping resistor. Matlab/Simulink was used to generate the Bode plots. An important consideration to be taken in account is that the cut-off frequency of the input filter must be quite lower that the switching frequency. In the design, it should also be considered the power losses due to the value of the damping resistor. The maximum permitted value of the damping resistor losses is stated around 1W. If the value of the damping is high the power losses reduce but the total harmonic distortion (THD) increases. If the value of the damping resistor is low, the power losses increase but the THD decreases, so the value chosen should be the most suitable in order to have a balance between power losses and THD. Also, there is a problem when the value of the damping resistor is low. If its value is low the power losses and total harmonic distortion are in the range of acceptable values, but the tracking controller does not work properly. Some simulations have been done using different values of the damping resistor in order to know the behavior of the system. Software Saber was employed to calculate the power losses and THD of the input filter. Matlab/Simulink was used to obtain the frequency response of the input filter. The most suitable values of capacitor and damping resistor that meet the requirements for the input filter are 26μ F and 56Ω respectively.

The final values of the output filter that meet the requirements are:

- L= 700μ H (Inductor)
- $r=50m\Omega$ (Internal resistance of inductor)
- C= 26μ F (Capacitor)
- $R=56\Omega$ (Damping resistor)

The final transfer function of the input filter in s-domain using these values is given by Equation 3.27.

$$\frac{686.8s + 5.499 \cdot 10^7}{s^2 + 758.2s + 5.499 \cdot 10^7} \tag{3.27}$$

Taking this equation the frequency response of the input filter can be obtained. Figure 3.14 shows both the cut-off frequency and the resonance frequency, It can be seen that the cut-off frequency occurs at 1.83kHz while the resonance frequency happens at 1.18kHz. The gain (attenuation) at the resonant frequency is 19.8dB.

After designing the input filter in s-domain, it was transformed to discrete time domain (z-domain) by using the zero-order-hold function in Matlab. The sampling frequency used in the discrete time model is 12.8kHz which is the same as the one used in the practical implementation. The input filter transfer function in discrete time domain is expressed by Equation 3.28,

$$\frac{0.2093z + 0.1076}{z^2 - 1.626z + 0.9425} \tag{3.28}$$



Figure 3.14: Bode plot of the input filter transfer function in s domain.

The transfer function represented by Equation 3.28 has influence in the performance of the output voltage controller. The input filter provokes a disturbance in the input voltage. This disturbances affect the quality of the input voltage waveforms used as supply references for the modulator where the modulation algorithm is implemented and therefore the pulse trains needed to commute the bi-directional switches in the Matrix Converter.

After including the output filter in the Matrix Converter system, the input filter is added. The output voltage waveforms obtained when the Matrix Converter system is simulated including the output and input filter are shown in Figures 3.15(a) and 3.15(b).

The waveforms of the input current without and with input filter are shown in Figure 3.16.

Figure 3.17 shows the harmonic spectra of the input current using the input filter when the input filter is used the total harmonic distortion is 0.1289%.



Figure 3.15: Waveform of the output voltage in phase c using both the input and output filter.



Figure 3.16: Waveform of the input current in phase C.



Figure 3.17: Harmonic spectra of the input current in phase C.

3.5 Simulation with Tracking Controller

In an ideal scenario the plant of our system is represented by the output filter, a delay and a gain (the last two being a representation of the Matrix Converter and the modulation system). Equation 3.22 represents the transfer function in z-domain of the output filter that will used in the design of the tracking controller.

The root locus in the z-plane of the plant function is generated by using Matlab/Simulink. This root locus is shown in Figure 3.18.



Figure 3.18: Root locus of the input filter transfer function.

The poles cancelation method presented in 2.8.2 is used in the design of the controller. By using this method, the new transfer function can be expressed as,

$$\frac{0.3273z + 0.3239}{z^2 - 1.319z + 0.9699} \cdot k \cdot \frac{z^2 - 1.319z + 0.9699}{az^2 + bz + c} = \frac{0.3273z + 0.3239}{az^2 + bz + c}$$
(3.29)

The tracking controller is represented by the expression,

$$k \cdot \frac{z^2 - 1.319z + 0.9699}{az^2 + bz + c} \tag{3.30}$$

Solving the characteristic equation of 3.30 gives the coefficients of the controller

denominator. The solution of this equation is a pair of poles. The poles are chosen to be inside the unity circle and they must be on the real axis.

$$az^{2} + bz + c = (z + p_{1}) \cdot (z + p_{2})$$
(3.31)

After using the "sisotool" option in Matlab, the poles are chosen as:

$$p_1 = -0.4999$$
 & $p_2 = 0.9999$ (3.32)

Where p_1 and p_2 are interpreters. Using these values the tracking controller can be written as

$$k \cdot \frac{z^2 - 1.319z + 0.9699}{(z + 0.4999)(z - 0.9999)} = k \cdot \frac{z^2 - 1.319z + 0.9699}{z^2 - 0.5001z - 0.4999}$$
(3.33)

Once again, the "sisotool" option is used to find the gain of the controller. The most suitable value of the gain to assure the stability of the system is k = 0.05. The final equation of the tracking controller is,

$$0.05 \cdot \frac{z^2 - 1.319z + 0.9699}{z^2 - 0.5001z - 0.4999} \tag{3.34}$$

Figure 3.19 shows the structure of the system. The controller block is represented by Equation 3.34. The plant block is represented by the output filter transfer function (Equation 3.22). Figure 3.20 shows the root locus of the whole system shown in Figure 3.19.


Figure 3.19: Structure of the system using a second order controller as a tracking controller.



Figure 3.20: Root locus of the whole system shown in Figure 3.19.

3.5.1 Voltage Control in d-q Reference Frame

The output voltages are measured across the capacitors in the output filter and are then feedback separately to the system control. In the d-q reference frame the threephase output voltages are transformed into two dc signals on the d and q axis. Using the designed tracking controller on each of the two axes, the presence of the interpreter will ensure a small steady state error on the voltage loop. The control signal in d-q frame are converted back to the ABC reference frame an applied to the modulator. These signal are the reference signal required by the modulator in order to produce the pulses needed to commutate the bi-directional switches. Figure 3.21 shows the control strategy in d-q reference frame.



Figure 3.21: Control strategy in d-q reference frame.



Figure 3.22 shows the final structure and configuration of the tracking controller.

Figure 3.22: Structure and final values of tracking controller when using control strategy in d-q reference frame.

Figure 3.23 shows the waveform of the output filter obtained in all phases when the controller is used in the d-q reference frame and the Matrix Converter is connected to a perfectly balanced load. Figure 3.24 shows the waveform obtained when the load is disconnected.



Figure 3.23: Output voltage all phases using tracking controller when matrix Converter is connected to a perfectly balanced load.

The designed tracking controller works very well when the load is perfectly balanced. With this kind of control there is obviously a problem when the load is unbalanced since the transformations ABC to d-q and viceversa d-q to ABC are defined only in the case of a balanced system. As a result of this inconvenience with the transformation, the signals generated by the tracking controller are not sinusoidal and consequentially the ABC reference signals to the Matrix Converter are distorted.

Figure 3.25 shows all three-phase waveforms of the output voltage when the Matrix Converter is connected to an unbalanced load. For this study the unbalanced load



Figure 3.24: Output voltage in all phases using tracking controller when the Matrix Converter is not connected to a load.

has been produced in a way that the load in phase a is connected to 140% of the nominal load, load in phase b is connected to 100% of the nominal load and load in phase c is connected to 60% of the nominal load. The level of distortion presented in the output waveforms obtained is not acceptable due to requirements imposed in the design of the power converter. These requirements dictate that the level of the output voltage in each phase must be 117Vrms with a variation less than 3V. The level of the output voltage must be maintained when the load is unbalanced or even if the load is disconnected.



Figure 3.25: Output voltage in all phases using tracking controller and connected to an unbalanced load.

3.5.2 Voltage Control in ABC Reference Frame

The problem presented in previous section when the Matrix Converter is connected to an unbalanced load can be solved using a control system working directly in the ABC reference frame. The reference signals which are a set of a three-phase rms voltages at 400Hz in the ABC frame are compared to the voltages measured across the output filter capacitors. The error signal obtained is then applied to the tracking controller on each phase. Each tracking controller generates a control signal which is applied directly to the modulator. Then the modulator produces the pulses required to commutate the bi-directional switches. The general scheme of the system used is shown in Figure 3.26.



Figure 3.26: Control strategy in ABC reference frame.

Figure 3.27 shows the final structure and configuration of the control system when the ABC reference frame is used. The controller is a second order polynomial and it has the coefficients represented by Equation 3.34. The procedure used to design the tracking controller of for the ABC reference is the same as the one used in the design of the tracking controller in the d-q reference frame. In this case because the The gain is now set as 0.6. Since the reference of our control is a 400Hz three-phase signal, the interpreter present in the controller will not be able to achieve a small steady state error, being the all closed-loop system of a limited bandwidth. Therefore a gain has been introduced in order to compensate for the amplitude mismatch in the output. The value of this gain has been found to be 6 by trial and error. When the control system was design, the block representing the Matrix Converter was considered as a unity gain. In the practical implementation, the Matrix Converter consists of electronic components which have voltage drops and dissipate energy and therefore the Matrix Converter has a transfer function different from a unity gain. This modifies the closed loop considered in the design of the tracking controller. In the design of the controller, only the output filter has been considered as the plant. The Matrix Converter block is not considered as part of the closed loop. In practice, it have been found that the Matrix Converter can be replaced by a gain with a value between 5 and 6. Also, the block representing the Matrix Converter introduces a delay. This delay can be compensated by the controller.



Figure 3.27: Structure and final values of tracking controller when using control strategy in ABC reference frame.

Figures 3.28 and 3.29 shown the waveforms of the output voltage obtained when the tracking controller in the ABC reference frame is used and the Matrix Converter system is connected to a perfectly balanced load and to an unbalanced load respectively. The waveforms of the output voltages obtained when the load is disconnected are shown in Figure 3.30.



Figure 3.28: Output voltage in phase c using tracking controller and connected to a balanced load.

It still results a phase shift in the system response as it can be seen in Figure 3.31. The introduction of a Repetitive Control structure will be able to compensate for the amplitude and phase steady-state errors and for the distortion introduced by the unbalanced load.



Figure 3.29: Output voltage in phase c using tracking controller and connected to an unbalanced load.



Figure 3.30: Output voltage in phase c using tracking controller and load disconnected.

3.6 Voltage Control with Tracking Controller plus Repetitive Controller

Many research works in literature have presented different configurations for the structure of a Repetitive Controller according to the application to which they need to be applied. Mainly, Repetitive Controllers are employed in robot applications and in those applications which requires tracking a repetitive reference pattern. A comparison of these topologies for this Matrix Converter application was carried out and two of the topologies reviewed were specifically chosen to be suitable. The first configuration considered is mentioned in [88] while the second configuration analyzed is proposed in [89]. Both configurations have different ways for calculating the values of their parameters. The details for calculating such parameters will be given later.



Figure 3.31: Output voltage in phase c compared to the reference signal when tracking controller is used.

For simulation purposes, some values are proposed.

Matlab/Simulink were used for the design of the Repetitive Controller. First, the number of sample k in a period of the output signal is calculated. Since the frequency of the output is 400Hz and the sampling frequency is 12.8kHz, the value of k is 32. This will be explained later, but it should be noted that the Repetitive Control is more effective when the value of k is high.

The Repetitive Control reduces the distortion caused in the output of a system by periodic errors or disturbances. This controller works by adding some signals to the reference in order to compensate the disturbances in the output. Between the two selected configurations one has proved to be the most effective and it is going to be employed in the following of this work. The configuration of the Repetitive Controller is shown in Figure 3.32. This configuration will be implemented using the digital signal processor.

In the design of a Repetitive Controller several parameters need to be taken in account. One of the most important parameter is k (the number of samples taken in each reference period); this parameter is used for calculating the values of the delays required in the pre-delay filter and also in the post-delay filter. The design of the compensator depends on the frequency response of the transfer function of the system, which will be compensated.

Some plots are obtained in order to compare the output voltage of the system with



Figure 3.32: Structure of Repetitive Controller.

the Repetitive Controller and the output voltage without it. Plots for different values of N and M were also obtained in order to compare the performance of the Repetitive Controller.

The repetitive Controller consists of four fundamental components: compensator, band-limit filter, pre-delay filter and post-delay filter.

As already mentioned the variable k is defined as the number of samples in one period of the output waveform. The output signal has a frequency of 400Hz and the sampling frequency is 12.8kHz.

k is calculated as,

$$k = \frac{sampling frequency}{output frequency} = \frac{12800}{400} = 32 \tag{3.35}$$

The compensator is designed as a second order low-pass filter. The cut-off frequency of the compensator is set at 1800Hz. This cut-off frequency must be enough to allow the filter to pass the frequencies below 1800Hz. Frequencies higher that 1800Hz are considered as noise and not as harmonic distortion of the output waveform to be compensated. The frequencies affecting the output waveform are in the range 50Hz to 1800Hz. In fact, the most significant distortion frequency produced by the Matrix Converter modulation is around 1200Hz. This frequency must be considered as the frequency of the distortion signal or error and it must be used as the signal to be compensated by the Repetitive Controller.

The compensator has the following expression,

$$\frac{0.1072z^2 + 0.2145z + 0.1072}{z^2 - 0.8845z + 0.3135} \tag{3.36}$$

The band-limit filter is a polynomial expressed as,

$$Q(z^{-1})z^{-k}$$
 (3.37)

The most simple form of $Q(z^{-1})$ is a constant. The constant must be less that unity to assure convergence otherwise the Repetitive Controller becomes unstable and the signal tends to increase its previous value in each period of the repetitive loop up to infinity.

The proposed value of the band-limit filter is,

$$Q(z^{-1}) = 0.95 \tag{3.38}$$

Which is found empirically to give the best results.

The pre-delay filter is used to delay the original reference signal in order to put it in phase with the feedback signal. This action is needed to obtain the actual error between the output waveform and the reference signal.

The pre-delay filter is designed as,

$$\alpha \cdot z^{-N} \tag{3.39}$$

N is the number of delay steps needed to be applied to the reference signal in order to delay and compared it to the feedback signal. The value of α is a constant and chosen to a value of 1; after simulation analysis in Matlab/Simulink and using trial and error the value of N is chosen as 1.

$$\alpha \cdot z^{-N} = 1 \cdot z^{-1} \tag{3.40}$$

The post-delay filter is used to delay the new signal generated by the repetitive loop. This generated signal is added to the original reference signal. The original signal is modified in order to compensate the distortion or errors in the output signal.

The post-delay filter has the following expression,

$$\beta \cdot z^{-M} \tag{3.41}$$

The value of β is chosen as 0.055 and M is chosen as 5. These values are found by trial and error using Matlab/Simulink. The signal generated by the repetitive loop must be in phase with the original referenced signal in order to be added, therefore the new signal generated must be delayed and the value of M=5 meets this strict requirement.

$$\beta \cdot z^{-M} = 0.055 \cdot z^{-5} \tag{3.42}$$

The final configuration of the Repetitive Controller is shown in Figure 3.33. The overall structure of the control proposed in the ABC reference frame can be seen in Figure 3.34 where the Repetitive Control scheme is repeated identically on each phase.

Figure 3.35 shows the output waveform of the voltage obtained in phases a, b and c when the configuration of Repetitive Controller shown in Figure 3.34 is employed and the Matrix Converter system is connected to a perfectly balanced load. Also, a good performance of the Repetitive Control is achieved when an unbalanced load is connected to the Matrix Converter system.



Figure 3.33: Diagram of the Repetitive Controller proposed.



Figure 3.34: Overall diagram of the control structure proposed in ABC reference frame.

The tracking controller plus Repetitive Controller structure follows and compensates the errors produced in the output voltage waveform. The unbalanced load conditions do not affect the performance of the control strategy because each phase has its own controller structure. The controller in each phase works independently of others phases and consequently the unbalanced load conditions are not considered in any reference frame transformation. These results can be seen in Figure 3.36. Using the d - q reference frame the third harmonic appears with a high value when an unbalanced load is connected. This harmonic represents 18.7% of the fundamental component. Also, the amplitude of the output voltage is increased up to 153.31Vrms.



Figure 3.35: Output voltage in all phases using tracking controller plus repetitive controller. A perfectly balanced load is connected.

According to requirements imposed, the amplitude must be 165Vrms \pm 3V. Using the tracking controller plus the Repetitive Controller in the ABC reference frame, the output voltage in each phase is controlled and its amplitude is 115.97Vrms, which meets the requirements imposed in the design. The third harmonic is only 4% of the fundamental component.



Figure 3.36: Output voltage in all phases using tracking controller plus repetitive controller. An unbalanced load is connected.

Finally, the Matrix Converter system is simulated with load disconnected. One again the performance of the control structure proposed is excellent. As it can be seen in Figure 3.37 all three-phase output voltage waveforms are sinusoidal as expected. The output voltage waveforms obtained have also less harmonic distortion than those obtained without the Repetitive Controller. The advantage of using the Repetitive Controller is clearly seen. The amplitude of the output voltage in phase a is 116.91Vrms with a THD of 2.27%. The third harmonic does not appears, the fifth harmonic component has a value of 0.54% of the fundamental component.



Figure 3.37: Output voltage in all phases using tracking controller plus repetitive controller. Load is disconnected.

3.7 Summary

The analysis of two different control strategies has been carried out to investigate the most appropriate topology of the control system for the application described in this study, the Matrix Converter for frequency changing power supply applications. Different load conditions has been studied in simulation. These loads are driven by the Matrix Converter system and for each of the load conditions the two control strategies have been tested. The aim was to highlight their advantages and disadvantages with the prospect of real implementation in order to optimize the design of the control system. The choice of the control strategy implemented is mainly dependent on the operative conditions.

The technical specifications and operative conditions were presented. A brief comparative review of both package software Matlab/Simulink and Saber was mentioned. The comparison of results between Matlab/Simulink and Saber was discussed. The design of the input and output filter was carried output by using Matlab/Simulink software package. A system plant transfer function is derived and used to design the tracking controller. Bode plots are used to find the most suitable values for the tracking controller parameters. A control strategy in d-q reference frame is presented. This control topology has the disadvantage of not working properly when an unbalanced load is connected to the Matrix Converter system. This problem is solved by using a control strategy in ABC reference frame with a structure consisting of a tracking controller and a Repetitive Controller. The tracking controller is used to follow or track the reference signal and the Repetitive Controller is employed to eliminate or attenuate the distortion in the output voltage signal produced by the Matrix Converter modulation and steady state errors generated in the output voltage waveform for the controller limited bandwidth. The design of the Repetitive Controller was reviewed and values for its components were proposed.

The different load conditions simulated and presented in this chapter can be summarized as:

- Simulation of Matrix Converter power supply connected to a Balanced Load. Total power is 7.5kW, power is distributed equally between all phases.
- Simulation of Matrix Converter power supply connected to an Unbalanced Load. Output phase *a* connected to 140% of nominal load, output phase *b* connected to 100% of nominal load and output phase *c* connected to 60% of nominal load.
- Simulation of Matrix Converter power supply with Load Disconnected. This is the worst case in term of controlling the output voltage. In this an abnormal condition of instant disconnection of full load, the Matrix Converter system is required to keep the same level of the output voltage, with a very small voltage overshoot.

Chapter 4

Matrix Converter Implementation

4.1 Introduction

Chapter 3 presented simulation results from the Matrix Converter system using Saber and Matlab/Simulink software packages. These simulations have helped to analyze and investigate the design of the power converter. It is necessary to validate, experimentally, the power converter controls proposed and analyzed in previous chapters. Therefore, this chapter is dedicated to the practical implementation of the concepts presented in this thesis. To demonstrate the viability of the work, the design and construction a 7.5kVA laboratory prototype will be presented.

In this chapter the structure of the prototype converter is presented. The design parameters of this prototype are those from the design presented in Chapter 3. This is followed by the detail design of various circuits used in the prototype. These circuits include the power plane, the gate drives, the control platform, the data acquisition system and the measurement board. Test results will be presented in Chapter 5.

4.2 Overview of prototype converter

A simplified representation of the Matrix Converter system is shown in Figure 4.1. The Matrix Converter drives a resistive-inductive load which is connected to the Matrix Converter after the output filter. The load applied to the Matrix Converter system will decrease linearly from 7.5kVA to a minimum load of zero. The maximum voltage and frequency required for the system is 117Vrms and 400Hz respectively.



Figure 4.1: Schematic of the rig.

In the abnormal condition of instant disconnection of full load, the Matrix Converter system is required to keep the same level of 117Vrms at 400Hz, with a very small voltage overshoot. This is the worst case in terms of controlling the output voltage since the controller must be able to maintain the voltage across the output filter capacitor. In the zero output power case the power drawn by the power converter from the supply is minimal because no current is flowing through the load.

The power electronic components used in the implementation of the Matrix Converter need to be optimized in terms of the volume because one of the aims in the design of the power converter is to reduce its size. The following sections will describe the design and construction of the Matrix Converter.

The specification for this project was to develop a Matrix Converter system capable

of delivering 10kVA. Due to the availability of silicon components on the market, the power circuit of the converter was built as a 7.5kVA Matrix Converter system. The power converter had to address not only the electrical specifications but also requirements linked to the nature of the application. Because of the compact size required by the application, the space used has been optimized and special care has been taken in the choice of passive components. Indeed, no electrolytic capacitors have been used for either the input filter or the protection circuit. The performance of the power converter, as will be shown later in Chapter 5, confirms the validity of the design and compactness of the power converter. The main elements of the power converter circuit are described in the following sections and include the power modules and low inductance power plane which allow the input power connections to be connected to the inputs of the power modules, the IGBT gate drive boards and the active over-voltage clamp circuit.

A block diagram of the Matrix Converter implementation is shown in Figure 4.2. This structure can be divided in four sub-structures, which are the power circuit, the control platform, the measurement circuit and the gate driver. In this diagram, blocks shadowed indicate the boards that were designed previously in the PEMC group of the University of Nottingham. These boards have been used in previous prototypes in the laboratory and they worked well. They were not redesigned to use them in this implementation, they were only populated.

The control platform used in this laboratory prototype consists of a digital signal processor (DSP) and an field programmable gate array (FPGA) board, which interactively interface to each other. The DSP is used to performance all calculations necessary for the power converter modulation and control. The FPGA board is used to handle all logic tasks such as four-step commutation, analogue-to-digital conversion (A/D) and so on.

The input data required by the control platform is supplied from the measurement board. This data includes the input voltages, output current and output voltages. Besides that, the control platform also needs to know the direction of the input



Figure 4.2: Diagram of the Matrix Converter implementation.

currents in order to control the current commutation for switching devices. To fulfil these requirements, the measurement board consists transducers which are needed for the voltage and current measurement.

The output signals, which result from the calculation performed by the control platform, are switching control signals. These signals are eventually sent to the gate driver board so that they can be used to gate the switching devices on the power plane.

4.3 Matrix Converter Power Circuit

The power circuit consist of the input filter, the power plane, the bi-directional switches and the output filter. The power plane is used to link all switching devices in order to establish a switching matrix with the nine bi-directional switches as required. The three-phase input filter and the output filter are connected to the input and output sides of the power plane respectively.

4.3.1 Power Module

The central part of the power circuit of a Matrix Converter are the bi-directional switches. Therefore, a bi-directional switch needs to be built up with devices that are commercially available. Based on common IGBTs and fast diodes there are different possible switch layouts as explained in Section 2.4. These layouts of bi-directional switches can be made in a simple package, which is known as the power module. The power module used for the implementation of this Matrix Converter is manufactured by Eupec [55]. The model of the module is FM35R12KE3. This power module has a nominal collector emitter voltage of 1200V and a DC collector current of 35A at 80° of temperature. Figure 4.3 shows the schematic of the power module [55].



Figure 4.3: Diagram of the power module.

As it can be seen in Figure 4.3, the power module has the common collector configuration. A power stage of a Matrix Converter using the common collector configuration for the bi-directional switches can be built up with only six independent levels of common emitter potential. A power stage based on common emitter configuration of bi-directional switches uses nine independent potentials for the common emitters. This is critical not only in terms of isolation distance between such independent potentials, but also because for the gate drive unit of IGBTs an isolated voltage source is required for each emitter potential. In case of common collector configuration this adds up to six, a common emitter based power stage would need nine of these. A photograph of the power module is shown in Figure 4.4



Figure 4.4: Photograph of the power module.

4.3.2 Power Plane

It was decided to use standard double-sided printed-circuit board (PCB) for the implementation of the power plane. The input and output terminals of the power converter were built directly on the PCB so that connections can be made using brass nuts and bolts. The power module was soldered directly to the PCB and then mounted onto the heatsink, which has natural convention cooling. The heatsink has a thermal resistance of 0.42°C/W and is made of aluminium with a surface finished of black anodised. Its external dimensions are 125mm, 200mm and 50mm for width, depth and length respectively. The total power dissipation of the power module is 200W under normal conditions of operation at 25°C.

The Matrix Converter consists of one power module containing nine bi-directional switches connected to form a three-phase input three-phase output Matrix Converter. The power module is rated at 35A and 1200V which means that the Matrix Converter implemented could easily drive systems up to 7.5kVA from a 415V three phase input

supply.

4.3.3 Gate Drive Circuit

The gate drives have been designed to optimize their functionality and to fit in the space available on and around the power module. These circuits have been implemented on a single printed circuit board (PCB), described from now on as the gate drive board.

The voltage and current signals provided by the Digital Signal Processor (DSP) are not capable of turning the high power switching devices on and off unless adequately interfaced according to the device's requirements. A gate drive circuit is therefore required.

The gate drive serve two purposes. Firstly, it provides the isolation between the control (low power) and the power circuit (high power). Secondly, the gate drive provides the power to drive the switching devices, such as the IGBT in the power module, from the control signal (normally low power). The gate drive circuit fulfills this requirement by providing +15V between gate and emitter of the IGBTs to switch the device ON when the digital signal is HIGH and -15V between gate and emitter of the IGBTs to switch the device OFF when the digital signal is LOW. This is achieved through the use of HCPL3120 (2.0 Amp Output Current IGBTs Gate Drive Optocoupler) which has a drive capability for IGBTs and also provides electrical isolation for the control signal.

Power supply isolation between the ground of the 5V control electronics supply and the local signal references is provided by dc to dc converters which generate isolated $\pm 5V$ and ± 15 V from the 5V supply. For the gate driver circuit a Texas Instrument DCP020515DU was chosen especially for its flexibility. It is a 2W DC-DC converter with a maximum 1kV isolation potential with the possibility of being directly connected in parallel with another if higher power is required. Also placed near the power module there are three separate current direction detectors, each for a single phase. These circuits are used to detect the current direction information, which is fed back to the FPGA to carry out a safe commutation of the IGBTs. The voltage across the two anti-parallel diodes caused by positive or negative load current provides the information on the direction of the output current. The 30CTQ045S Schottky diodes with nominal average forward current of 30A and a low voltage drop of 0.56V were used to convert current into voltage signal with low additional power loss. The diode voltage is then convert into a logic signal by using a comparator circuit (LM311M). The comparator output drives the opto-coupler (HCPL-0601), whose logic output provides the information on the output current direction to the control platform (FPGA board).

The communication to and from the FPGA is done via a planar cable interfaced with the appropriate connectors to provide both voltage isolation and good noise immunity. The signals from the voltage across the anti-parallel diodes is transmitting to the comparator in the gate driver board by a coaxial cable. As mentioned previously, the gate drive board has been optimized in size to be able to use the space above the power module between the signal connections and the input and output power connections. The aim is a more compact arrangement of the whole power circuit together with the FPGA board, as will be shown later in the description of the assembly of the prototype matrix converter.

Photographs of the top and bottom views of the gate driver boards are shown in Figures 4.5 and 4.6.

4.3.4 Output Filter

The output filter is used to filter the output voltage of the Matrix Converter and produce a sinusoidal waveform. This is done by attenuating or eliminating the harmonic content and the ripple that appear in the output waveform. The voltage across the output filter capacitors is used as the feedback signal employed by the controller to



Figure 4.5: Photograph of the gate driver, top view.



Figure 4.6: Photograph of the gate driver, bottom view.

control the output voltage.

Figure 4.7 shows the schematic diagram of the output filter. Values of components of output filter were calculated in section 3.4.2.



Figure 4.7: Schematic diagram of the output filter.

Capacitors of the output filter have the following specifications:

- Capacitance: $68\mu F$
- Tolerance: 5%
- Nominal voltage: 175Vrms AC
- Dissipation factor: <0.001 at 1kHz and $20\pm3^{\circ}$
- RMS current rating: typically 50A 100A at 400Hz
- Temperature range: -55° to $+100^{\circ}$
- Material: Metallized polypropylene

Figure 4.8 shows the capacitors used in the implementation of the output filter.

The inductor of the output filter have the following specification:



Figure 4.8: Photograph of the output filter.

- Inductance: $128\mu H$
- Nominal voltage: 117Vrms
- Nominal current: 25Arms
- Frequency: 400Hz

4.3.5 Input Filter

The input filter is used to attenuate the harmonics injected to the three phase power supply (mains). These harmonics are generated by the modulator of Matrix Converter. The switching frequency used by the modulator to generate the modulation pulses produces harmonics. These harmonics provoke distortion of the waveform of the input currents.

Figure 4.9 shows the schematic diagram of the input filter. Values of component of

input filter were calculated in Section 3.4.3.



Figure 4.9: Schematic diagram of the input filter.

Capacitors for the input filter have the following specification:

- Capacitance: $26\mu H$
- Tolerance: 3%
- Nominal voltage: 300Vrms AC at 60Hz
- Dissipation factor (maximum): <0.1 at 120Hz and 25°
- RMS current rating: 28.2A at 25° and 50Hz
- Temperature range: -55° to $+85^{\circ}$
- Material: Polypropylene

The inductor of the input filter have the following specifications:

- Inductance: 700μ H
- Nominal voltage: 220Vrms

- Nominal current: 8Arms
- Frequency: 50Hz

A parallel damped single section filter configuration [71] [90], was chosen for this application, as shown in Figure 4.9. A resistor is placed in parallel with the inductor to provide appropriate damping. A very small value of R would result in a high degree of damping but a higher dissipation of energy, a 56 Ω resistor was chosen for this power converter.

The input filter was designed by choosing C first, its size, type and ratings being based on the application. As mentioned earlier metallized polypropylene capacitors have been used and a total of 8.666μ F capacitance per line to line (2μ F line to line plus 20μ F line to neutral, equivalent to 26μ F) was chosen.

Figure 4.10 shows a photographs of the input filter implemented.



Figure 4.10: Photograph of the input filter.

4.3.6 Measurement Boards

The input data required by the control platform is supplied from the measurement boards. This data includes the line to line input voltages, the three output currents and the output voltages. The measurement boards consists of transducers which are needed for voltage and current measurements and signal conditioning circuits.

The current transducers used in the output of the Matrix Converter are the LAH 25-NP manufactured by LEM [91]. These transducers are used to measure all three instantaneous output currents. The LAH 25-NP has a maximum current handling capability of 25A, a conversion ratio of 1:1000 and a bandwidth of 200kHz. This transducer uses the Hall effect. The transducer has a galvanic isolation between the primary circuit (high power) and the secondary circuit (electronic circuit). The current transducer is supplied by $\pm 15V$, supplied from FPGA board. The output of all the LEM transducers is a current signal for a better noise immunity when transferring this information to the control platform. The output of the LAH 25-NP is loaded with a measuring resistor. This measuring resistor should be of high precision and should match the signal to an input range of the analogue input hardware located in the FPGA board. Moreover the value of the resistor must be taken into account regarding the range of measured current. The output current resulting from the secondary current flowing through the measuring resistance is then sent to the analogue to digital converters in the FPGA board.

The maximum value of current allowed in the output of the converter is set up in the DSP program. With a limit on the current in each output phase, the Matrix Converter is protected against overcurrent. In the event of an overcurrent condition, the DSP automatically shuts down the system.

The voltage transducers are used to measure the input voltages and the voltage of the clamp circuit. A PCB has been designed to measure the output voltages across the capacitors in the output filter. The voltage transducers used are LV25-P model manufactured by LEM. The transducer is supplied by a ± 15 V power supply. For

the voltage measurement, a current proportional to the measured voltage must be passed through an external resistor which in chosen according to the application and installed in series with the primary circuit of the transducer. The output voltage measurement is similar to that of the input voltage. For the input voltage only two voltage transducers are used. These line to line voltages are measured and then converted into three-phase voltages using the appropriated transformations. For the output voltage measurement, three voltage transducers are used. This is because the system will work under unbalanced load conditions and the three voltage needed to be taken separately. The control strategy is implemented in the ABC reference frame. The voltage transducers boards are shown in Figure 4.11.



Figure 4.11: Photograph of the voltage transducers.

4.4 Matrix Converter Control Implementation

The modulation and control of the Matrix Converter is implemented using a Digital Signal Processor(DSP)/Field Programmable Gate Array(FPGA) based controller interfaced. This interface consists of a series of circuits which allow information such as gate drive signals and feedback measurement signals to be transferred to and from the controller boards. A block diagram of the overall control structure implemented

is shown in Figure 4.12.



Figure 4.12: Diagram to show the overall control structure.

The voltage control loop of the Matrix Converter system is implemented in the DSP which requires information on the input phase voltages and output phase voltage feedbacks as well as the output current of the Matrix Converter. The signals are provided by the voltage and current transducers and are fed to a series of A/D channels on the FPGA board. The digitized information is then transferred to the DSP via the FPGA using an external memory interface. The DSP processes the information and demands the correspondent output voltages to achieve the desired control which is then executed by the FPGA through the appropriate sequence of gate drive signals. The gate drive signals are transferred from the FPGA to the gate drive board via a planar cable. The following sections will explain in more details the implementation of the control structure at a lower level.

4.4.1 Digital Signal Processor

The Digital Signal Processor (DSP) employed in this application was the TMS320C6713 manufactured by Texas Instruments. This DSP is available as a starter kit, known as the DSK C6713. This starter kit was used for the control platform to reduce development time. The general structure of the DSK C7613 is shown in Figure 4.13.



Figure 4.13: Structure of the DSK C6713.

A fast and effective control of the power converter has been achieved using the DSP Starter Kit (DSK) which, with its Host Port Interface (HPI) daughtercard, allows the user to fulfil the specific application and connects the controller to a host computer for development and control purposes. The DSK C6713 is a versatile kit with a high speed floating point processor which runs at 225MHz and can perform up to 1800 millions instructions per second. One of the major advantages of employing the DSK C6713 is linked to its peripherals and the ability to add external peripherals. Above all the External Memory Interface (EMIF) which not only supports 64MB of on board SDRAM memory, Flash ROM, I/O port but also expands the memory

interface through an expansion memory interface connector for a daughter board.

The DSP has four dedicated address spaces which allow both the on-board devices and the expansion memory interface to be selected individually without conflict. The expansion memory interface connector is mapped into the DSP's chip enable two (CE2) and chip enable three (CE3) address space. Only one of the two memory space enables (CE2) has been used in this application because only one daughter board was implemented, the FPGA card. All of the accesses to the EMIF are clocked at 100MHz while the CPU is clocked at 225MHz.

The HPI daughtercard mounted in the DSK incorporates a connection to the Host Port Interface (HPI) of the C6713. The HPI daughtercard is a high speed data card which allows a host to access the internal memory of the C6713 without interrupting the central processing unit (CPU) of the DSP. This allows a bi-directional data transfer between the host PC and the DSP to control the converter and download sampled variables. The HPI daughtercard also provides access to an embedded JTAG emulator for source code debugging.

A bottom view of the HPI of the HPI daughtercard is shown in Figure 4.14.



Figure 4.14: Host port Interface (HPI) daughtercard.

Figure 4.15 shows a view of the DSP used in the implementation of the Matrix Converter system.



Figure 4.15: Photograph of the Digital Signal Processor (DSP).

4.4.2 Field Programmable Gate Array

The FPGA card represents not only a possibility to expand the functionality of the DSP using the memory mapped interface of the FPGA itself, but also provides the DSK with more interface circuitry and allows the analogue to digital (A/D) conversion of all the measured analogue signals. The FPGA card was developed by the PEMC group at the University of Nottingham [92]. This board has proved to be a very flexible and versatile card in many applications. The board contains a total of nine, 12-bit A/D channels which are employed for this application as follows:

- $\times 3$ Output currents
- imes 2 Input voltages
- $\times 3$ Output voltages

It also provides for four D/A conversion channels, hardware comparators for overcurrent protection and digital I/O capabilities for trip information output, trip source inputs, event triggering. The main function of the FPGA is to provide the space vector PWM generator unit and the three state machines (one for each output leg of the Matrix Converter) to correctly commutate the current between the bi-directional switches depending on the direction of the load current and the demanded switch state. A schematic diagram of the FPGA is shown in Figure 4.16. The FPGA also provides a watchdog timer, trip monitor, trip information interface and temperature sensor interface.



Figure 4.16: FPGA block diagram.

As mentioned previously, the FPGA also provides an interface for the nine serial A/D converter channels. Once the A/D information has been gathered by the interface, it is transferred into registers within the FPGA which are memory mapped to the DSP's memory interface. The trip monitor disables the output of the state machines if any of the hardware or software trips occur. A maximum of sixteen hardware trips and

Hardware	Software
Over-current	Instantaneous over-current
PWM FIFO empty	Averaged over-current
Watchdog	Loss of supply
Resolver fail	Load over-temperature
Clamp over-voltage	Converter over-temperature
Clamp chopper fail	
28V supply fail	

sixteen software based trips can be used although not all are used for this application. Table 4.1 shows the trip sources used.

Table 4.1: Hardware and software trip usage.

The output of the watchdog timer feeds directly into the trip monitor. The watchdog timer is serviced at the beginning of each control interrupt. If it is not serviced, for example if the DSP has crashed or is not functioning correctly, a trip will be generated and the converter disabled. The output voltage transducer board is located at the top of the power converter and is connected to the FPGA board through a data cable. The A/D converters within the FPGA received the signals, converter them and send them to the DSP. The data from each of the three output voltages is continually placed in memory mapped registers within the FPGA.

The source code executed by the DSP controls the Matrix Converter and its output. In the main program of the source code, after having set all the bits to prepare the external memory interface, FPGA configuration registers and PWM generator period, the main routine of the DSP enables the PWM interrupt and then waits for the interrupt to occur, after the PWM generator timer is started. The PWM generator functions as the interrupt generator for the DSP. Each time the PWM generator reaches the end of the current period, an interrupt is generated. For this application a PWM sequence time of 78.125μ s was desired because the implementation of the Repetitive Controller requires to have an integer number of samples within the output period. Hence the sampling frequency for the system was set up as 12.8kHz. Using this sampling frequency, a value of 32 is obtained for the number of samples in an output period (12800Hz/400Hz).

During the interrupt routine the information from the A/D channels are extracted from the FPGA registers and manipulated so that the scaled output voltages and input line to line voltages are calculated. This information, together with the desired input current angle and the output voltage angle and magnitude is used to calculate the duty cycles implemented in the Space Vector Modulation (SVM) algorithm. Finally, using the DATA BUS in the FPGA, the space vectors calculated by the DSP are loaded into the appropriate FPGA register to allow it to perform the built in Space Vector PWM generator. The final sequence of digital signals which will drive the IGBTs is the output of the state machine for each output phase. The state machines require the output of the PWM generator and information about the current direction to perform a 4-step current direction based commutation routine. The calculated vectors will be output during the next PWM period. Figure 4.17 shows a diagram that represents the DSP functions during the interrupt routine.



Figure 4.17: Diagram to show PWM interrupt DSP usage.

At point **A** the A/D channels are sampled and the data is moved from the FPGA to the DSP. The time period labeled **B** is used to calculate the output PWM vectors and vector times according to the space vector control algorithm. The vectors and vector times are then transferred into the PWM generator within the FPGA at point **C**. The time remaining (**D**) before the next interrupt occurs is free to be used for the communication with the host PC. The combination of the characteristics of the high speed DSP and the versatility of the FPGA allows all of the necessary controller functionality to be implemented and the control calculations can be performed at the necessary speed.
Figure 4.18 shows the top view of the FPGA board use in the implementation of the Matrix Converter system.



Figure 4.18: Photograph of the FPGA board, top view.

4.4.3 Host Port Interface

The Host Port Interface (HPI) daughtercard can only work with the DSK C6713. Figure 4.19 shows the HPI daughtercard mounted on the DSP.

The HPI daughtercard provides a variety of interfaces to the Host Port Interface on the DSK C6713. In its host services mode, the daughter card allows serial, parallel and USB access to the HPI port in the DSK. With this access in place, a Matlab application can be used, and also stand-alone applications can be developed to permit a PC host to download software to the DSP and then control its operation. With this advantage, an interface outside of Code Composer Studio can be implemented.

The HPI daughtercard resources can also be used by the DSP application, through a simple set of function calls that control the daughtercard in its the service mode.



Figure 4.19: Photograph of the HPI mounted on the DSP, top view.

This feature gives a DSP application control over up to 16-bits of digital I/O with individually selectable directions, up to eight 12-bit analog inputs, and easy access to communication over the serial and USB links.

A host program in Matlab have been developed in order to monitor and control the variables used in the DSP. This host program generates a graphical interface and has been modified to adapt it to the application. These modifications include the addition of new fields to introduce the amplitude and the frequency required in the output voltage. Figure 4.20 shows the graphical interface developed in Matlab. This interface is user-friendly. The code source developed in Code Composer Studio (CCS) should be loaded into the DSP by this interface in order to set and monitor variables. The host program needs the sampling frequency at which the DSP is operating. The source code of main program implemented in the DSP can be seen in Appendix D.1. Once the prototype is turned on and the graphical interface of the host program is executing the variables displayed in the interface screen can be monitored. The level of voltage and frequency can be changed at anytime by introducing new values in the fields of output voltage and output frequency. The graphical interface displayed in

Select Variables to Capture	Capture Settings	
VAB_in	Time (s):	15
VBC_in VA_in	0.0	
VB_in	Delay [s]:	Ō
a_curr	Downsample:	1
icvang		
vi Kii	E Save a	all
Deta Freq_out	Source of trigger:	
Delta_Theta_Out	VAB_in	-
Tobl: 16777919 budge	Trigger level:	ō
Used bytes (888%)	Slope	_
Samples:	Rising	
View		
Plot PlotYY MultiPlot	sampling_time [us]: 100	
Auto 🔽 Auto	Start Stop	1
MinMax		-
comments:	Read data 🛛 🔽 Auto rea	d
Similaria.		
NARNING: DSP bost program not detected	Please load a Road me	-
	- Reau IIIs	ago
0.5.4565	- · · · -	

the computer when the host program is executed is shown in Figure 4.20.

Figure 4.20: Screen from the HPI Interface in Matlab.

4.4.4 Second Order Controller

The first step in the design of a digital controller is always the implementation of a suitable data acquisition path. While signal acquisition organization is somehow implicit in analog control design, because both the plant and the controller operate in continuous time domain, digital control requires particular care in signal conditioning and analog to digital conversion implementation. The reason for this is ultimately that, while the control signals are taken from a plant that operate in the continuous time domain, the operation of the controller takes place in the discrete time domain. Therefore, signals have to be converted from the continuous to the discrete time domain and, or course, the other way around. It is very important to be aware of the fact that not every implementation of this conversion process leads to a satisfactory controller performance. The control of the conversion noise and the avoidance of aliasing phenomena play a critical role.

The implementation of the tracking controller was done in both the d-q reference frame and the ABC reference frame. The implementation of the Repetitive Controller is only done in the ABC reference frame because all tests will be carried on using unbalanced load conditions. If d-q reference frame is used the control of the output voltage when the Matrix Converter system is operating in the unbalanced load condition cannot be achieved because the d-q to ABC transformation does not work properly. This transformation is used for the controller to provide the three-phase reference to the Matrix Converter modulator.

4.4.4.1 Implementation of Tracking Controller in the d-q Reference Frame

The design of the tracking controller has been presented in Section 3.5.

The controller to be implemented in the d-q reference frame is given by Equation 4.1

$$C(z) = 0.05 \cdot \frac{z^2 - 1.319z + 0.9699}{z^2 - 0.5001z - 0.4999}$$
(4.1)

Expressing as a transfer function,

$$C(z) = \frac{Y(z)}{U(z)} = 0.05 \cdot \frac{z^2 - 1.319z + 0.9699}{z^2 - 0.5001z - 0.4999}$$
(4.2)

Multiplying by z^{-2} ,

$$\frac{Y(z)}{U(z)} = 0.05 \cdot \frac{1 - 1.319z^{-1} + 0.9699z^{-2}}{1 - 0.5001z^{-1} - 0.4999z^{-2}}$$
(4.3)

Rearranging,

$$Y(z)[1 - 0.5001z^{-1} - 0.4999z^{-2}] = 0.05 \cdot [1 - 1.319z^{-1} + 0.9699z^{-2}]U(z)$$
(4.4)

$$Y(z) - 0.5001z^{-1}Y(z) - 0.4999z^{-2}Y(z) = 0.05 \cdot [U(z) - 1.319z^{-1}U(z) + 0.9699z^{-2}U(z)]$$
(4.5)

This yields to,

$$Y(z) = 0.5001z^{-1}Y(z) + 0.4999z^{-2}Y(z) + 0.05 \cdot [U(z) - 1.319z^{-1}U(z) + 0.9699z^{-2}U(z)]$$

$$(4.6)$$

Rearranging again,

$$Y(z) = 0.4999z^{-2}Y(z) + 0.5001z^{-1}Y(z) + 0.05 \cdot [0.9699z^{-2}U(z) - 1.319z^{-1}U(z) + U(z)]$$

$$(4.7)$$

$$Y(k) = 0.4999Y(k-2) + 0.5001Y(k-1) + 0.05 \cdot [0.9699U(k-2) - 1.319U(k-1) + U(k)]$$

$$(4.8)$$

Where, U(k) represents the error and it is defined as,

$$U(k) = reference \ signal - feedback \ signal \tag{4.9}$$

Equation 4.8 in the one that is implemented in the DSP for each of the d-q components of the controller. Because this controller is a second order function, it has a twostep delay. Controllers represented by high order function are more complicated to implement due to the addition of extra lines in the DSP program to generated the step delays.

4.4.4.2 Implementation of Tracking Controller in the ABC Reference Frame

The implementation of the tracking controller in the ABC reference frame is quite similar to that implementation shown in the Section 4.4.4.1. The exception in this implementation is that the reference for each phase is defined as,

$$reference \ signal^* = 6 \cdot reference \ signal \tag{4.10}$$

And the controller in ABC reference frame is define by Equation 4.11,

$$0.6 \cdot \frac{z^2 - 1.319z + 0.9699}{z^2 + 0.5001z + 0.4999} \tag{4.11}$$

Considering a similar procedure as the one used for the implementation of the tracking controller in the d-q reference frame, the expression to be implemented for the ABC reference frame in the DSP is given by Equation 4.13

$$Y(z) = -0.4999z^{-2}Y(z) - 0.5001z^{-1}Y(z) + 0.6 \cdot [0.9699z^{-2}U(z) - 1.319z^{-1}U(z) + U(z)]$$

$$(4.12)$$

$$Y(k) = -0.4999Y(k-2) - 0.5001Y(k-1) + 0.6 \cdot [0.9699U(k-2) - 1.319U(k-1) + U(k)]$$

$$(4.13)$$

In the ABC reference frame the error U(k) is given by Equation 4.14

$$U(k) = reference \ signal^* - feedback \ signal \tag{4.14}$$

The expression given by Equation 4.13 have to be implemented in the DSP. Because the ABC reference frame is used, the Equation 4.13 must be implemented three times, one for each phase. The source code used in the DSP for the implementation of the tracking controller can be seen in Appendix D.2.

4.4.3 Implementation of Repetitive Controller in the ABC Reference Frame

The implementation of the Repetitive Controller is not as easy as the tracking controller. The main problem is the implementation of the output period delay. The structure of the Repetitive Controller is shown in Figure 3.32. As it can be seen in this figure, the first task of the implementation of the Repetitive Controller is to determine the difference between the feedback signal and the actual reference. The implementation of this task is basically very simple. One step delay is applied to the reference signal. This delay applied is called the pre-delay. The feedback signal is taken as it is produced by the voltage transducer. The second task is to implement the compensator. The compensator was design as second order low pass filter. The implementation of the a second order filter generates two step delays in the calculation of values. The implementation of this filter is very similar to that of the tracking controller. The third task is to apply the output period delay. This delay is generated by using a loop. This loop has a gain of 0.95 and a delay function of 32 steps. The loop requires 32 delays because the output period is 0.0025 sec and the sampling frequency has a value of 12.8kHz which give a sampling period of 78.125μ sec. The value of number of sample in one output period, k, is calculated as,

$$k = \frac{output \ period}{sampling \ period} = \frac{2500\mu sec}{78.125\mu sec} = 32samples \tag{4.15}$$

The actual cycle and the previous cycle must be in phase in order to find appropriately the differences appeared in the actual signal. Basically this is the core of the Repetitive Control: delay one cycle of the signal and compare it to the actual signal.

The fourth task is to applied a post-delay to the signal generated by the delay loop. This post-delay has five step delays and a gain of 0.055. The post-delay operation is applied in order to have both the signal generated and the reference signal in phase.

The fifth task is to find the difference between the signal generated and the actual reference signal. This new signal generated by the comparator is then amplified by a gain. This signal is called the reference modified and is applied to the tracking controller. The source code used in the DSP for the implementation of the Repetitive Controller can be seen in Appendix D.3

4.5 Summary

This chapter has presented the implementation of a 7.5kW laboratory prototype in order to verify the control strategies proposed for the power converter under investigation. The design, construction and assembly of the Matrix Converter prototype used for frequency changing power supply applications has been described in details. The power converter has been tested in the laboratory to evaluate the control performance. The final implementation of the Matrix Converter system does not employ the full potential in terms of the rated power which the Matrix Converter is capable of delivering. The Matrix Converter, rated at 7.5kVA, is only be required to delivery 117Vrms at 400Hz. The output current depends on the load conditions. The results presented in Chapter 5 have been obtained from this experimental rig. A photograph of the completed Matrix Converter system can be seen in Figure 4.21.



Figure 4.21: Photograph of the final Matrix Converter prototype.

Chapter 5

Experimental Results

5.1 Introduction

This chapter presents results obtained from the experimental prototype whose design and construction has been described in Chapter 4. These practical results validate the control structure proposed in this thesis. Both the Tracking Controller and the Tracking Controller plus the Repetitive Controller have been evaluated and implemented. This chapter starts with the performance of the Matrix Converter system operating in open loop. These results verified the Space Vector modulation (SVM) technique. Then, the control performance employing only the Tracking Controller is presented. Finally, the Tracking Controller plus the Repetitive controller is tested. All tests are performed using the different load conditions described in Chapter 3.

According to the SVM technique theory the maximum voltage that can be obtained in the output of the Matrix Converter is 86% of the input voltage. In the DSP program a condition for the maximum voltage drawn by the system is stated. This condition is used as a protection for the system. The voltage conversion ratio allowable is set to 75% because the maximum nominal output voltage required is 117V rms. With this output voltage required the maximum modulation index obtained is 53%. The values of the required output voltage and frequency are set in the DSP by using the Matlab interface. This interface is linked directly to the DSP program and read and write values from and to the variables used. The values of each of the variables used in the DSP program are monitored in a window displayed in the Matlab environment. This interface is used to load the program into the DSP without the necessity of the Code Composer Studio (CCS) software. CCS software was used mainly to develop and implement the modulation technique and the controller.

5.2 Control of the Output Voltage with No Controller using ABC Reference Frame

Once the designed and construction of the Matrix Converter prototype was completed it was necessary to run a series of test to verify the power converter performance. Initially a two input phase commutation test was followed by a fixed duty cycle PWM generation test where the commutation of all the tree output phases to each of the input phases was tested using a fixed number of output vectors for fixed times. For this test the output of the Matrix Converter system which includes the input and output filter was connected to a perfectly balanced resistive-inductive load. The output vectors were arranged in such way that each output phase would commutate sequentially between input A, B and C using different duty cycle for each output phase. No controller was used in this test and the reference signals used in the digital signal processor were given in the d-q reference frame and then transformed to the ABC reference frame by using the appropriate transformations.

To carry out the test in open loop a three-phase star-connected resistive-inductive load was used. This balanced load consists of:

Resistive load:

• Phase $a = 5.3\Omega$

- Phase $b = 5.3\Omega$
- Phase $c = 5.3\Omega$

Inductive load:

- Phase a = 3.75 mH
- Phase b = 3.75 mH
- Phase c = 3.75 mH

These values of resistors and inductors were used as the load because they were the only ones available in the facilities at the time of testing the prototype.

The encouraging results of the initial test showed that the Matrix Converter system practical implementation and control including the communication and transfer of information between the Host PC, the DSP/FPGA board and the gate drive board were working as expected.

Figure 5.1 shows the output voltage in phase c obtained. This output waveform is compared to the reference signal. As can be seen, there a notable difference between the amplitude of the output voltage and the reference. The output signal is completely out of phase. This is because the output voltage controller is not used. The output voltage is not controlled and the reference signal is used only by the modulator in order to generated the output voltage required for the modulation strategy. The reference signal is purely controlling the converter output voltage but the phase is not controlled. The waveform obtained is distorted, the amplitude does not keep constant in the same level.

The waveform of the line to line voltage obtained in the output of the Matrix Converter before the output filter is shown in Figure 5.2. This result obtained was as expected and confirms that the Matrix Converter excluding the output filter is working appropriately.



Figure 5.1: Output voltage in phase c with a balanced RL load and no controller.



Figure 5.2: Output line to line voltage with a balanced RL load and no controller.

The input current in phase c is shown in Figure 5.3. This waveform is obtained when input filter is included. As expected, the waveform is sinusoidal but contains harmonic distortion. This harmonic distortion is attenuated when the output voltage waveform is improved by using the voltage controller.



Figure 5.3: Input current in phase c with a balanced RL load and no controller.

Figure 5.4 shows the phase shift between the voltage and current in the load phase c. This phase shift is introduced because the load connected to the system is inductiveresistive.



Figure 5.4: Load voltage and current in phase c with a balanced RL load and no controller.

After the performance of the Matrix Converter system was verified the next step was

to replace the source code in the DSP by the source code containing the tracking controller.

5.3 Control of the Output Voltage using Tracking Controller

The tracking controller has been described in Chapter 3. Before implementation, this tracking controller was tested in simulation using different values of the gain. According to simulations the most suitable gain was 0.6, therefore the tracking controller was implemented in the DSP using this value of gain. All the results present in this section use the ABC reference frame which allows the Matrix Converter to operate under any load condition.

5.3.1 Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive Balanced Load

For this test, the inductive load is removed and only the resistive balanced load is connected. As in previous test the resistive load has the following values:

- Phase $a = 5.3\Omega$
- Phase $b = 5.3\Omega$
- Phase $c = 5.3\Omega$

The next sections present the input and output waveforms obtained when a purely resistive load is connected to the system output. The diagram of the basic circuit used in the test is shown in Figure 5.5.



Figure 5.5: Diagram of basic circuit used in the test.

The output voltage waveform obtained when only the tracking controller is used can be seen in Figure 5.6. This figure shows the output voltage compared to the reference signal and it can be seen that there is a phase shift. The output voltage phase is not controlled and the control signal generated by the controller is used only to control the level of output voltage required. Because the ABC reference frame is employed in the design of the control system, the level of voltage in each phase is controlled independently. The voltage controller in each phase generates a sinusoidal signal with the required amplitude. This signal is applied to the Matrix Converter modulator in order to produce a modulation pattern for each of the bi-directional switches. There is an improvement of the amplitude of the output voltage when compare to the use of no controller.



Figure 5.6: Reference signal and output voltage in phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and tracking controller.

The input current waveform is presented in Figure 5.7 and its corresponding harmonic analysis is shown in Figure 5.8. The use of the input filter reduces the harmonic distortion in the input current waveform. As can be seen in these figures, the harmonic components appear in the low frequency range because the input filter was designed with a cut-off frequency of 1.18kHz. The input current waveform is not very distorted because the load connected to the Matrix Converter system is purely resistive and balanced.



Figure 5.7: Input current in phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and tracking controller.



(a) Harmonic spectra with resistive load connected

(b) Details of the harmonic spectra with resistive load connected

Figure 5.8: Harmonic spectra of input current in phase A when tracking controller is used.

The Matrix Converter (MC) current is shown in Figure 5.9. This current is used to determine the current direction employed for the commutation of the bi-directional switches. The Matrix Converter current waveform has an improvement when the tracking controller is used and the current direction can be easily determined.



Figure 5.9: MC Current in phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and tracking controller.

Finally, with a purely resistive balanced load connected to the Matrix Converter system the waveform of the current in the load is obtained, this waveform is shown in Figure 5.10.



Figure 5.10: Current in the load phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and tracking controller.

5.3.2 Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive, Unbalanced Load

For this test the purely resistive, balanced load was replaced by a resistive, unbalanced load. This unbalance load has the following values:

- Phase $a = 16.1\Omega$
- Phase $b = 11.1\Omega$
- Phase $c = 6.1\Omega$

The voltage achieved at the output as well as the input and output current waveforms obtained are presented below.

The use of a tracking controller in the ABC reference frame allows the Matrix Converter based power supply to operate under unbalanced load conditions. The unbalanced condition of the load used in this test has been produced in a way that the load in phase a is connected to 144% of the nominal load, load in phase b is connected to 100% of the nominal load and load in phase c is connected to 56% of the nominal load. The excellent performance of the voltage controller in the ABC reference frame is verified by the practical results obtained. These results are shown in Figure 5.11. As can be seen, the output voltage in each of the three phases has the same level even with the unbalanced condition in the load.

The problem with the unbalanced load condition is that the input current waveform is distorted, as can be seen in Figure 5.12. The harmonic distortion injected to the electrical network is increased because the current flowing through the load remains unbalanced, as can be seen in Figure 5.13. The input filter has been designed as a low pass filter to eliminate the harmonics of frequency higher that 1.83kHz but the low frequency harmonics remain. The resonance frequency is set to 1.18kHz because it must be far away from the output frequency which has a value of 400Hz. It is



Figure 5.11: Output voltages with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and tracking controller.

dangerous if the resonance frequency is set close to the output frequency because the equipment could be destroyed. Therefore, input currents can have high values of harmonic components with frequencies in the range from 0Hz to 1.18kHz.



Figure 5.12: Input currents with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and tracking controller.

The Matrix Converter output current in phase a is shown in Figure 5.14. Note that this more distorted that the one obtained when the Matrix Converter system is connected to a purely resistive balanced load. These Matrix Converter output currents are balanced because the tracking controller maintains the voltage across the output filter capacitor in the same level for all three phases.



Figure 5.13: Currents in the load with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and tracking controller.



Figure 5.14: Matrix Converter output current in phase a with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and tracking controller.

5.3.3 Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive-Inductive Balanced Load

The Matrix Converter system has also been tested using a resistive-inductive balanced load. Obviously, the practical results obtained are different to those obtained when a purely resistive load is connected. The use of an inductive-resistive load adds more distortion to the output voltage waveform due to the nature of the inductive load.

Resistive part of the load has the values mentioned is Section 5.3.1. The inductive part added to the load has the following values:

- Phase a = 3.75 mH
- Phase b = 3.75 mH
- Phase c = 3.75 mH

The amplitude of the output voltage is not completely maintained when the tracking controller is used and the load connected to the system is balanced. The distortion introduced in the output voltage waveform is caused due to the inductive part of the load. This can be seen in Figure 5.15. This problem is solved by using the Repetitive Controller which is implemented later on this thesis.

Figure 5.16 shows the input current which are distorted due to the addition of an inductive load even considering a balanced load condition. For measuring input currents, two Lecroy current probes and one Rogowski coil were used. Input current in phase a and phase b were taken using the Lecroy current probes and input current in phase c was taken using the Rogowski coil. The distortion observed in input current in phase c is due to the use of the Rogowski coil, which has a bandwidth different from bandwidth of the Lecroy current probes. Typical bandwidths of the Rogowski coil used are from 0.1Hz to 16MHz. Input currents in phases a and b are bandwidth limited by the measurement, they depend on the measurement instrument resolution.



Figure 5.15: Output voltage in phase a with a balanced RL load and tracking controller.

The Matrix Converter current in phase a can be seen in Figure 5.17. Finally for this test, Figure 5.18 shows the current in the resistive-inductive load phase a. The current are the same for each phase because of the balanced condition of the load.

5.3.4 Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive-Inductive Unbalanced Load

For the resistive-inductive unbalanced condition test, the restive part of the load has the values given in Section 5.3.2 and the inductive part has those values given in Section 5.3.3. Should be noted that only the resistive part is unbalanced while the inductive part remains balanced. This is because a three-phase choke is used for the inductive load and it is not possible to change the value of the inductance in each phase.

The output voltage waveform has the same amplitude in each phase, but also they have the same distortion, as can be seen in Figure 5.19. This distortion is due to the fact that an resistive-inductive load is connected.



Figure 5.16: Input currents with a balanced RL load and tracking controller. Note: the load current waveform in phase c looks more distorted than the other waveforms but this is due the use of a current probe with a different bandwidth range of operation.



Figure 5.17: Matrix Converter current in phase a with a balanced RL load and tracking controller.



Figure 5.18: Current in load phase a with a balanced RL load and tracking controller.



Figure 5.19: Output voltages with an unbalanced RL load and tracking controller.

When only the tracking controller is implemented in the DSP and the Matrix Converter system is connected to a RL unbalanced load the output voltage does not match the reference signal as can be seen in Figure 5.20. There are differences in the amplitude as well as in the phase.



Figure 5.20: Output voltage in phase a with an unbalanced RL load and tracking controller.

As can be seen, the harmonic distortion is quite similar to that obtained when the load is unbalanced but purely resistive, as shown in Figure 5.21. The nature of the inductive load acts as the unbalanced condition in a purely resistive load.



Figure 5.21: Input currents with an unbalanced RL load and tracking controller.

The waveform of output current in the Matrix Converter before the output filter can

be seen in Figure 5.22. The harmonic distortion content in this waveform is similar to that obtained when a purely resistive balanced load is connected.



Figure 5.22: Output current of the Matrix Converter in phase a with an unbalanced RL load and tracking controller.

All three currents present in a RL unbalanced load are shown in Figure 5.23. Even if the tracking controller maintains the amplitude of all the three output voltages in the same value, the load current waveforms remain unbalanced. The tracking controller only controls the output voltages and not the output currents.



Figure 5.23: Currents in load with an unbalanced RL load and tracking controller.

5.3.5 Matrix Converter with Load Disconnected

The disconnected load condition is the worst case of operation of the Matrix Converter based power supply. In these tests the load was completely disconnected. A threephase contactor was used to make the disconnection. Neither resistive or inductive load is connected to the system. The tracking controller must then be able to maintain the voltage across the output filter capacitor in each phase.

At full input voltage and delivering full power at the load, the modulation index has a value of

$$\frac{Output \quad voltage}{Input \quad voltage} = \frac{117Vrms}{240Vrms} = 0.4875 \tag{5.1}$$

The modulation index achieved in this test has the value shown in Figure 5.24. The variation is due to the distortion in the input voltage and in less importance the sampling frequency.



Figure 5.24: Modulation index with load disconnected.

The waveform of the three output voltages obtained when the load is disconnected is shown in Figure 5.25. As expected the tracking controller produce sinusoidal waveforms with the same amplitude in each of the phases.



Figure 5.25: Output voltages with load disconnected and using tracking controller.

As can be noted in Figure 5.26 the amplitude of the output voltage does not match the amplitude of the reference signal. The tracking controller is not completely able to track the reference signal. The amplitude of the three output voltages has slightly increment when the load is disconnected. This situation was the main reason to search for better solution and as a result the Repetitive Controller structure was proposed.



Figure 5.26: Output voltage in phase a with load disconnected and using tracking controller.

The waveform of the input current obtained in phase a is shown in Figure 5.27. Compared to that obtained in the previous test, the harmonic distortion is very similar. There is not much improvement because the tracking controller only controls the voltage across the output filter capacitor and not the current flowing through the output filter inductor.



Figure 5.27: Input Current in phase a with load disconnected and using tracking controller.

Figure 5.28 shows the Matrix Converter current waveform. As can be seen there is not much improvement because the tracking controller only controls the voltage across the output filter capacitor and not the current flowing through the output filter inductor.



Figure 5.28: Current before output filter with load disconnected and using tracking controller.

Because no load is connected, the current flowing through it is zero.

5.4 Control of the Output Voltage using Tracking Controller plus Repetitive Controller

The control structure proposed to solve the problem present when the load is disconnected is implemented and discuss in this section. When only the Tracking Controller is implemented, the amplitude of the output voltage obtained increased slightly. Results obtained in Section 5.3.5 shown this mismatch between the the output signal and the reference signal. The same tests done when only the tracking controller was implemented are done in this section but adding the Repetitive Controller structure.

5.4.1 Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive Balanced Load

In this test, the resistive load is balanced and has the following values:

- Phase $a = 5.3\Omega$
- Phase $b = 5.3\Omega$
- Phase $c = 5.3\Omega$

The Matrix Converter system is connected to a three-phase balanced load. The output voltage obtained in phase a is shown in Figure 5.29. The reference signal is also included in this figure for comparison purposes. As can be seen when the load is purely resistive and balanced, the output voltage obtained tracks the reference signal.

Figure 5.30 shows input currents of the power converter. These input currents are obtained when the power converter is connected to a pure resistive load which is balanced. The harmonic distortion present is due the addition of the Repetitive Control structure. The Repetitive Control structure contains a low-pass second order filter



Figure 5.29: Output voltage in phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and Repetitive Controller.

and a delay loop. This control topology modifies the transfer function of the plant and consequently the behavior of the Matrix Converter. The currents harmonics produced by the switching frequency used in the power converter modulator contribute to this harmonic distortion.



Figure 5.30: Input currents with a pure resistive, balanced load and Repetitive Controller.

Figure 5.31 shows output current of the Matrix Converter in phase a before the output filter. There is an improvement of this waveform when the Repetitive Controller is used and also because power converter is connected to a pure resistive load which is

balanced.



Figure 5.31: Output current in phase a with a pure resistive, balanced load and Repetitive Controller.

The waveforms of currents in the load are shown in Figure 5.32. These waveforms are almost sinusoidal and the contains very small harmonic distortion as can be seen in the figure.



Figure 5.32: Load currents with a pure resistive, balanced load and Repetitive Controller.

5.4.2 Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive Unbalanced Load

The resistive load is unbalanced and has the following values:

- Phase $a = 16.1\Omega$
- Phase $b = 11.1\Omega$
- Phase $c = 6.1\Omega$

Note that this unbalanced condition has been produced in such way that the load in phase a is 144% of the nominal load which is set in phase b while the load in phase c has a value 56% of the nominal load.

The three output voltages waveforms are shown in Figure 5.33. As can be seen the amplitude of the three output voltage is maintained even with an unbalanced condition of $\pm 44\%$ of the nominal load.



Figure 5.33: Output voltages with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and Repetitive Controller.

Figure 5.34 shows the input currents waveforms obtained when the Matrix Converter system is connected to an purely resistive unbalanced load. The addition of the

Repetitive Controller topology plus the unbalanced condition of the load makes no difference to the harmonic distortion of the input current because of the currents in the load are unbalanced and the voltage controller does not have control over that.



Figure 5.34: Input currents whit a pure resistive, unbalanced load and Repetitive Controller.

The current in the output of the Matrix Converter in phase a and the currents in the load are shown in Figure 5.35 and 5.36 respectively.



Figure 5.35: Matrix Converter current in phase a with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and Repetitive Controller.



Figure 5.36: Load currents with a pure resistive, unbalanced load and Repetitive Controller.

5.4.3 Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive-Inductive Balanced Load

The value of the resistive-inductive balanced load used in this test has the same values as in section 5.3.3, i.e.,

- Resistive load in phase $a = 5.3\Omega$
- Resistive load in phase $b = 5.3\Omega$
- Resistive load in phase $c = 5.3\Omega$
- Inductive load in phase a = 3.75 mH
- Inductive load in phase b = 3.75 mH
- Inductive load in phase c = 3.75 mH

The reference signal and the output voltage signal are shown in Figure 5.37. This figure indicates that the amplitude of the output voltage is the same as the amplitude of the reference signal. However a phase shift appears between these two signals and
this is due to the fact that the Repetitive Controller introduces delays in the system and the transfer function of the plant was calculated considering only the output filter and not considering the load connected. The voltage controller compensate only the phase shift added by the output filter and it does not compensate the phase shift added by the RL load.



Figure 5.37: Output voltage in phase a with a balanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.

The input current waveform in phase A is shown in Figure 5.38. There is a improvement in the harmonic distortion because the load connected to the Matrix Converter system is perfectly balanced and even using a resistive-inductive load.



Figure 5.38: Input current in phase A with a balanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.

Figures 5.39 and 5.40 show the Matrix Converter and the load current in phase a respectively. The Matrix Converter current shows the addition of high frequency harmonic distortion while the waveform of the current in the load is completely sinusoidal. The high frequency harmonic distortion in the MC current is because the Repetitive Controller tries to compensate the errors in the output voltage by modifying the switching pattern in the modulator.



Figure 5.39: Matrix Converter output current in phase a with a balanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.



Figure 5.40: Load current in phase a with a balanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.

5.4.4 Matrix Converter connected to a Resistive-Inductive Unbalanced Load

For this test, the resistive-inductive load is balanced and has the same values used in section 5.3.4.

Resistive part of the load:

- Phase $a = 16.1\Omega$
- Phase $b = 11.1\Omega$
- Phase $c = 6.1\Omega$

Inductive part of the load:

- Phase a = 3.75 mH
- Phase b = 3.75 mH
- Phase c = 3.75 mH

All three output voltages waveforms can be seen in Figure 5.41. Once again the performance of the controller in the ABC reference frame is verified with the results obtained. The amplitude in each of the phases is maintained in the level determined by the reference signal. Even with the unbalanced condition of the load and the resistive-inductive nature of the load, the waveforms obtained are sinusoidal.

The harmonic spectra of the output voltage is shown in Figure 5.42. As can be seen the harmonic distortion is minimal compared to the fundamental component which value is 49.199. A zoomed-in plot is shown in Figure 5.42(b) and indicates that the biggest harmonic component occurs at 2kHz and has a value of 0.39258 which compared to the fundamental component is only 0.80%. Also, a second biggest harmonic appears



Figure 5.41: Output voltages with an unbalanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.

at 700Hz. This harmonic component has a considerable value compared to the fifth harmonic (at 2kHz). The Total Harmonic Distortion (THD) is 2.15% which basically meets the requirements imposed in the design of the Matrix Converter based power supply.



(a) Harmonic spectra with load unbalanced, phase a

(b) Details of the harmonic spectra with load unbalanced, phase a

Figure 5.42: Harmonic spectra of output voltage in phase a. THD = 2.1526%

The input current waveform obtained is distorted as can be seen in Figure 5.43. The unbalanced condition of the load causes this distortion which is even increased by the use of the Repetitive Controller as was explained in section 5.4.1. Its harmonic spectra is shown in Figure 5.44. The details in Figure 5.44(b) show that 5th, 7th and 13th harmonics are the biggest component adding the distortion. The calculation of

the Total Harmonic Distortion gives a value of 6.15%. This value is slight higher than the value imposed in the requirements for the design of the system.



Figure 5.43: Input currents with an unbalanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.



(a) Harmonic spectra with load unbalanced, phase A

(b) Details of the harmonic spectra with load unbalanced, phase A

Figure 5.44: Harmonic spectra of input current in phase A. THD = 6.15%

The waveform of the Matrix Converter current is included in Figure 5.45. Its harmonic spectra shown in Figure 5.46(a) indicates that the high frequency harmonics occur at multiples of the switching frequency which has a value of 12.8kHz. The Total Harmonic Distortion (THD) is 0.61% and low harmonic components appear at 2kHz and 2.8kHz.

The resistive-inductive nature and unbalanced condition of the load produce the load currents shown in Figure 5.47. The controller was designed to control the output



Figure 5.45: Matrix Converter output current in phase a with an unbalanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.



(a) Harmonic spectra with load unbalanced

(b) Details of the harmonic spectra with load unbalanced

Figure 5.46: Harmonic spectra of Matrix Converter output current in phase a. THD = 0.61%

voltage therefore the currents in the load remain unbalanced due its unbalanced condition.



Figure 5.47: Load currents with an unbalanced RL load and Repetitive Controller.

The harmonic spectra of the load current in phase a is shown in Figure 5.48. As can be seen the waveform is sinusoidal and its harmonic distortion is very small. Details of the harmonic spectra can be seen in Figure 5.48(b). Note that for analysis purposes the plot has been zoomed-in and the axis y is expressed in mA, therefore the harmonic components shown in this figure are very small compared to the fundamental.



Figure 5.48: Harmonic spectra of the load current in phase a. THD = 1.68%

5.4.5 Matrix Converter with Load Disconnected

The no load condition is the worst case in terms of controlling the output voltage because there is no power flowing to the load. A three-phase contactor is used to connect and disconnect the load. The Saber software package has been used to calculate the harmonic spectra and the Total Harmonic Distortion (THD).

5.4.5.1 Output Voltage of the Matrix Converter

The good performance of the control structure proposed is confirmed with the output voltage waveform obtained. The reference signal and the waveform obtained in phase a are shown in Figure 5.49. The reference signal cannot be seen clearly because it is exactly in phase with the output voltage signal. Both the amplitude and the phase are matched with the use of the Repetitive Controller. The harmonic spectra of the output voltage is shown in Figure 5.50. As can be seen the harmonic distortion is minimal compared to the fundamental component. A zoomed-in plot is shown in Figure 5.50(b) and indicates that the biggest harmonic component occurs at 2kHz and has a value of 0.4484 which compared to the fundamental component is only 0.90%. The Total Harmonic Distortion (THD) is 1.93% which meets the requirements imposed in the design of the Matrix Converter based power supply.

5.4.5.2 Input and Output Currents of the Matrix Converter

Figure 5.51 shows the waveform of the input current obtained when the load is disconnected. As can be seen its amplitude decreases because no power is applied to the load. The harmonic spectra of the input current is shown in Figure 5.52. The requirement for the THD of the input current is not completely satisfied because its value increases up to 5.56%. The biggest harmonic components are the 5th, the 9th, the 11th and the 13th as can be seen in Figure 5.52(b).



Figure 5.49: Output voltage in phase a with load disconnected and using Repetitive Controller.



(a) Harmonic spectra with load disconnected

(b) Details of the harmonic spectra with load disconnected

Figure 5.50: Harmonic spectra of output voltage in phase a. THD = 1.93%



Figure 5.51: Input current in phase a with load disconnected and using Repetitive Controller.



(a) Harmonic spectra with load disconnected

(b) Details of the harmonic spectra with load disconnected

Figure 5.52: Harmonic spectra of input current in phase A. THD = 5.56%

The waveform of the Matrix Converter output current is shown in Figure 5.53 and its corresponding harmonic spectra can be seen in Figure 5.54. Figure 5.54(b) shows that the high frequency harmonics appear around multiples of the switching frequency. The details of the harmonic spectra shown in Figure 5.54(b) indicates that the biggest low harmonic component appears at 2kHz as well. In this case the Total Harmonic Distortion of the output current is calculated using Saber as 0.83%.



Figure 5.53: Matrix Converter output current in phase a with load disconnected and using Repetitive Controller.



(a) Harmonic spectra with load disconnected, phase a

(b) Details of the harmonic spectra with load disconnected, phase a

Figure 5.54: Harmonic spectra of MC output current in phase a. THD = 0.83%

No waveform of the current in the load is shown here because in this load condition no current is flowing through the load.

5.5 Summary

In this chapter details of the final tests of the Matrix Converter based power supply have been discussed. As soon as the implementation of the Matrix Converter was completed, its functionality and the communication between the Host PC, the DSP/FPGA board and finally the gate drive board were tested. This has been done by progressively testing the Matrix Converter performance when connecting it to, first a resistive-inductive balanced load without using a voltage controller, then using it to drive the same load but using a tracking controller in the d-q reference frame.

The next task performed consisted of testing the Matrix Converter system under unbalanced conditions, achieving gradually and successfully, the implementation of the tracking controller in the ABC reference frame. Then, the practical implementation of the output voltage Repetitive Controller was done in order to verify the control structure as presented in previous chapters. The performance of the Matrix Converter system using the Repetitive Control strategy and operating under unbalanced conditions and with the load disconnected was clearly illustrated and was as predicted in simulations.

The improvement in the quality of the input and output waveforms obtained by using the Repetitive Control was investigated in this chapter. By doing this, it can be confirmed the excellent property of the Repetitive Control strategy over the traditional control such as PI or PID control.

The performance of the Matrix Converter system employing the Repetitive Controller strategy was compared to the performance of the Matrix Converter System using only the second order tracking controller. From the experimental results obtained, it is concluded that the implementation of the control strategy proposed can be feasible in practice and has an acceptable control performance under different load conditions of operation of the Matrix Converter based power supply. A comparison of practical results obtained can be seen in Table 5.1.

	Tracking Controller	Tracking Controller plus
		Repetitive Controller
RL unbalanced load (THD in %)		
Input current	5.73	6.15
Matrix Converter current	0.86	0.61
Output voltage	2.31	2.15
Load current	2.10	1.68
Load disconnected (THD in %)		
Input current	6.34	5.56
Matrix Converter current	0.92	0.83
Output voltage	2.52	1.93
Load current	_	_

Table 5.1: THD of practical results in phase a with the tracking controller and the tracking controller plus the Repetitive Controller.

There were some problems in the practical implementation of the Matrix Converter system. The value of the gain representing the Matrix Converter block was found by trial and error. This task required a lot of time to find the suitable value. The load conditions were done with the components available in the facilities at the time of testing the prototype. This implies that the converter was not tested at full power. Finally, the prototype was tested to demonstrate that the performance of the control structure proposed is acceptable and results are very similar to those obtained in simulations.

Chapter 6

Conclusions

The work presented in this thesis has made an exciting contribution to the research applications of Matrix Converters. One interesting aspect of the development of Matrix Converter driven power supplies is the power electronics employed to drive loads which operate under different conditions. The novelty introduced by the work of this thesis is to offer an alternative topology of power converter, the Matrix Converter, to drive loads in different condition of operation, instead of the conventional Voltage Source Inverter (VSI) currently used in most power supply systems. In the conventional VSI, the multi-pulse (12 or 18) rectification stage, the DC link and associated input filters add volume and complexity, for example, electrolytic capacitors are temperature sensitive and therefore unreliable in the target application where the typical ambient temperature range varies between -55° C to $+70^{\circ}$ C. To create the equivalent capacitance sized for the DC link using film capacitors would require a considerable amount of space compared to electrolytic capacitors. This space is usually around 30% more of that used for the electrolytic capacitors.

As it has been shown that Matrix Converters are able to offer direct conversion, thus avoiding a DC conversion stage. The absence of a DC link in a Matrix Converter allows for an increase in the power density of the converter. It is possible to achieve bi-directional power flow with a Matrix Converter and by controlling the switching devices appropriately, both output voltage and input current can be sinusoidal. This is only true if there are no power fluctuations in the load which would be fed to the input supply with a consequent distortion of the line currents. Switches with the capability of current flow both directions (to and from the load) must be used in order to permit the bi-directional power flow. This is an important issue which has been taken into consideration when looking at the characteristics of any application.

In order to optimize the design of the Matrix Converter system, which is going to operate as a power supply for aircraft applications, a detailed analysis using both Saber and Matlab/Simulink software packages were used to select the best topology of Matrix Converter system that could satisfy the specifications. When Saber was used, the Matrix Converter modulation and control were implemented by using the MAST language, which discretised the modulation strategies applied. As a result, the source code obtained from the simulation resembles the final program implemented on a DSP, thus facilitating the implementation of the digital control platform for the converter.

To experimentally verify the proposed control strategy for the Matrix Converter based power supply, a laboratory prototype was designed and constructed. The rig consists of a 3-phase to 3-phase direct AC-AC converter (Matrix Converter) which is used as the power conditioning core of the power supply, working in conjunction with input and output LC filters. The control of the experimental rig is performed by a cooperation between a Digital Signal Processor (DSP, TMS320C6713) and a Field Programmable Gate Array (FPGA) board. Data acquisition and pulse generation are coordinated by the FPGA board. The program implemented in the DSP is written in C using Code Composer Studio. Practical results show good performance of the proposed control strategy when implemented in the Matrix Converter based power supply operating at different loading conditions, besides the capability of bidirectional power flow of the converter.

6.1 Control of output voltage under unbalanced conditions

A control strategy has been investigated in order to drive a load under unbalanced conditions. In previous work, the d-q reference frame strategy has been successfully implemented. This strategy has a good performance when the load is balanced. The proposed tracking controller can be used to control the output voltage under unbalanced conditions using the ABC reference frame. The reference signal is given in the d-q reference frame and then they are transformed to the ABC reference frame by using the appropriate transformations. The three output voltages are measured separately (one voltage transducer per phase) and then compared to the ABC reference signals. Simulation and experimental results have proven that the proposed tracking controller can successfully cope with unbalanced conditions in the load as high as 40%. However, this unbalanced condition in the load causes degradation of the input current quality and consequently distortion of the input voltage. The Matrix Converter system has been tested using a resistive load as well as a resistive-inductive load. The tracking controller proposed is able to maintain the voltage across the output filter capacitor under any load condition, even if the abnormal condition of instant disconnection of full load, which is the worst case in terms of controlling the output voltage waveform.

6.2 Repetitive control strategy

The design and implementation of the Matrix Converter based power supply was not only an opportunity to achieving a practical realization which could respond to the strict requirements of the particular application. Indeed, it has also been an opportunity to design an improved control strategy for implementing the control of output voltage in Matrix Converter system, which even if inspired by it, is not dependent on the specific application. The use of a traditional linear digital control implementation in the ABC stationary frame results in relevant steady-state amplitude and phase errors in the output voltage due to the control bandwidth limitation given the chosen sampling frequency of 12.8kHz and the target 400Hz output voltage. The use of a Repetitive Controller in conjunction with the ABC reference frame control has been considered as an alternative solution to solve this problem given the periodical nature of the control. The proposed structure employs the tracking controller previously designed in the ABC reference frame. A Repetitive Controller works by modifying the reference in order to compensate periodic errors or disturbances in the output. In the design of the Repetitive Controller several parameters are taken in account. One of the most important parameters is k (the number of samples taken in each reference period); this parameter is used in the design of the band-limit filter polynomial and in the calculation of the values of the delays required in the pre-delay filter and in the post-delay filter. The tracking controller has the role of stabilizing the closed loop system and determines the system transient performance. In this case it needs to be designed to meet a compromise in terms of stability and bandwidth. With the presence of the input filter, the Matrix Converter supply voltage becomes very distorted due to the distorted input currents before filtering. The presence of a Repetitive Controller also contributes to reduce this risk by compensating the distortion caused by these periodic disturbances.

6.3 Further work

Although the output voltage control based on Repetitive Controller has been successfully implemented on an experimental rig and its performance has been proven, the following are some of the interesting topics in which further research can be undertaken in order to archive a better design of the Matrix Converter system:

Input Filter Design. This needs more analysis of the power supply system at different input supply frequencies with different amount of supply distortion in order to characterize the values of L, C and R which generate the attenuation of

specific harmonics, whilst still trying to optimize the filter size. Different filter topologies could also be investigated with the aim of improving power quality whilst also improving the size and weights.

The effect of the filter design on the capacitive input power factor observed in simulation and experimentally needs to be addressed. It has mentioned that one of the advantage of using a Matrix Converter over other topologies of converters is (depending on the modulation method used) the possibility of controlling the input displacement factor, irrespective of the type of load. This means that it may be possible to compensate for the poor power factor due to the input filter using the Matrix Converter modulation. However, this would not be possible under no load conditions.

- Stability of Control System . The design of the Repetitive Controller plays a very important role in the stability of the system. The higher the sampling frequency used the better the level of compensation of errors. The problem is that the DSP should be fast enough to execute all the instruction and apply the delays in one switching period of the output. Higher switching frequencies can make the control system design easier since the higher control bandwidth can be obtained, however this is at the expense of higher switching losses.
- **Investigation of factor 6 included in the tracking controller**. The design of the tracking controller was done by considering the Matrix Converter as a block with a unity gain in the closed loop. When the designed tracking controller is implemented in the prototype this consideration does not work. Because of the electronic components used in the practical implementation, the block representing the Matrix Converter has a gain grater than unity and also it introduced some delays due to the time spent by the DSP in the execution of the control strategy. In practice, when the tracking controller is implemented in the DSP, a gain must be introduced in the control loop. By research experience and previous works developed, it has been suggested that the value of the gain representing the Matrix Converter is in the range of 5 to 6. More research should be carried out to find the way of calculating the value of this gain.

6.4 Publications resulting from the work

The work carried out over the course of this project has resulted in a paper being published in a conference. The published paper is listed at the end of this thesis in Appendix A.

References

- Domenico Casadei, Giovanni Sera, Angelo Tani, and Luca Zarri, "Matrix converter modulation strategies: A new general approach based on space-vector representation of the switch state," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 49, No. 2, pp. 370 – 381, April 2002.
- [2] Thomas H. Barton, Rectifiers, Cycloconverters, and AC Controllers, Oxford University Press, Oxford, United Kingdom, 1994.
- [3] Bimal K. Bose, Modern Power Electronics and AC Drives, Prentice-Hall, Inc, New Jersey, USA, 2002.
- [4] Pillai, S. K. and Desai, K. M., "A static Scherbius drive with chopper," Industrial Electronics and Control Instrumentation, IEEE Transactions on, vol. IECI-24, no. 1, pp. 24–29, Feb. 1977.
- [5] Knowles-Spittle, C., Al Zahawi, B.A.T., and MacIsaac, N.D., "Simulation and analysis of 1.4 MW static Scherbius drive with sinusoidal current converters in the rotor circuit," *Power Electronics and Variable Speed Drives*, 1998. Seventh International Conference on (Conf. Publ. No. 456), pp. 617–621, 21-23 Sep 1998.
- [6] Cyril W. Lander, *Power Electronics*, McGraw-Hill International (UK) Limited, Berkshire, England, 2003.
- [7] Alberto Alesina and Marco G. B. Venturini, "Solid-state conversion: A fourier analysis approach to generalized transformer synthesis," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems*, vol. CAS-28, No. 4, pp. 319 – 330, April 1981.

- [8] Alberto Alesina and Marco G. B. Venturini, "Analysis and design of optimum-amplitude nine-switch direct AC-AC converters," *IEEE Transactions* on Power Electronics, vol. 4, Issue 1, pp. 101 – 112, January 1989.
- [9] Donald G. Holmes and Thomas A. Lipo, "Implementation of a controlled rectifier using AC-AC matrix converter theory," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 240 – 250, January 1992.
- [10] Richard C. Dorf and Robert H. Bishop, Modern Control Systems, Prentice-Hall, Inc, New Jersey, USA, 2001.
- [11] Simone Buso and Paolo Mattavelli, *Digital Control in Power Electronics*, Morgan & Claypool Publishers, USA, 2006.
- [12] Yasuhiko Dote, Servo motor and motion control using digital signal processors, Prentice-Hall, Inc., Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA, 1990.
- [13] Yasuhiko Dote and Richard G. Hoft, Intelligent Control. Power Electronic Systems, Oxford University Press, Oxford, United Kingdom, 1998.
- [14] Joseph J. Distefano, III, Allen R. Stubberud, and Ivan J. Williams, Schaum's Outline of Theory and Problems of Feedback and Control Systems, McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc, USA, 1990.
- [15] Marian P. Kazmierkowski, R. Krishnan, and Frede Blaabjerg, CONTROL IN POWER ELECTRONICS. Selected Problems, Academic Press, Elsevier Science, California, USA, 2002.
- [16] Dang Huy Quoc Si, A New Implementation of High Frequency, High Voltage Direct Power Converter, Ph.D. thesis, University of Nottingham, England, 2006.
- [17] Somnida Ratanapanachote, Han Ju Cha, and Prasad N. Enjeti, "A digitally controlled switch mode power supply based on matrix converter," 35th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialist Conference, vol. 3, pp. 2237 – 2243, 2004.

- [18] Piniwan Thiwanka Bandara Wijekoon, New Improvements for the Two-stage Direct Power Converter Topology, Ph.D. thesis, University of Nottingham, England, 2007.
- [19] Siyoung Kim, Seung-Ki Sul, and Thomas A. Lipo, "AC/AC power conversion based on matrix converter topology with unidireccional switches," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 36, No. 1, pp. 139 – 145, January/February 2000.
- [20] J. Kim, J. Choi, and H. Hong, "Output LC filter design of voltage source inverter considering the performance of controller," *International Conference on Power* System Technology, 2000, vol. 3, pp. 1659 – 1664, December 2000.
- [21] Patrick W. Wheeler, José Rodríguez, J. C. Clare, Lee Empringham, and Alejandro Weinstein, "Matrix converters: A technology review," *IEEE Transactions* on Industrial Electronics, vol. 49, No. 2, pp. 276 – 288, April 2002.
- [22] Patrick W. Wheeler, Jon C. Clare, Lee Empringham, and Michael Bland, "Matrix Converters," *Power Engineering Journal*, vol. 16, Issue: 6, pp. 273–282, December 2002.
- [23] Dimosthenis Katsis et al., "A three-phase utility power supply based on the matrix converter," 39th IAS Annual Meeting. IEEE Industry Applications Conference, 2004, vol. 3, pp. 1447 – 1451, 2004.
- [24] Wheeler, P. W., Zanchetta , P., Clare, J. C., Empringham, L., Bland , M., and Katsis, D., "A utility power supply based on a four-output leg matrix converter," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 174–186, Jan.-Feb. 2008.
- [25] Zanchetta, P., Wheeler, P.W., Clare, J.C., Bland, M., Empringham, L., and Katsis, D., "Control design of a three-phase matrix-converter-based acac mobile utility power supply," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 209–217, Jan. 2008.

- [26] IEEE Standard 519-1992, "IEEE recommended practices and requirements for harmonic control in electrical power systems," *IEEE Std 519-1992*, 12 April 1993.
- [27] L. Gyugyi and B. Pelly, Static Power Frequency Changers: Theory, Performance and Applications, John Wiley and Sons, New York, USA, 1976.
- [28] M. Venturini, "A new sine wave in sine wave out, conversion technique which eliminates reactive elements," *Proceeding Powercon* 7, vol. E3, pp. 1 – 15, 1980.
- [29] G. Roy, L. Duguay, S. Manias, and G. E. April, "Asynchronous operation of cycloconverter with improved voltage gain by employing a scalar control algorithm," *IEEE IAS Conference Record*, 1987, pp. 889 – 898, 1987.
- [30] G. Roy and G. E. April, "Cycloconverter operation under a new scalar control algorithm," *IEEE PESC Conference Record*, 1989, pp. 368 – 375, 1989.
- [31] P. D. Ziogas, S. I. Khan, and M. H. Rashid, "Some improved forced commutated cycloconverter structures," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, 1985, vol. 1A-21, pp. 1242 – 1253, September 1985.
- [32] P. D. Ziogas, S. I. Khan, and M. H. Rashid, "Analysis and design of forced commutated cycloconverter structures with improved transfer characteristics," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, 1986, vol. 1E-33, pp. 271 – 280, August 1986.
- [33] Patrick Wheeler, Jon Clare, Lee Empringham, Maurice Apap, and Michael Bland, "Matrix converters: The technology and potential for exploitation," *The Drives and Controls Power Electronics Conference*, 2001.
- [34] J. C. Clare P. W. Wheeler, "Introduction to matrix converter technology," 2003 Seminar on Matrix Converters, April 2003.
- [35] Patrick W. Wheeler, Jon C. Clare, Lee Empringham, Maurice Apap, and Michael Bland, "Matrix Converters," *IEE Seminar on Matrix Converters*, pp. 1/1-1/12, April 2003.

- [36] Christian Klumpner, Thiwanka Wijekoon, and Patrick Wheeler, "A new class of hybrid AC/AC direct power converter," *Industry Applications Conference*, 2005, vol. 4, pp. 2374 – 2381, 2005.
- [37] Albert Alesina and Marco Venturini, "Intrinsic amplitude limits and optimum design of 9-switches direct PWM AC-AC converters," 19th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1988, vol. 2, pp. 1284 – 1291, April 1988.
- [38] Lars Helle, Kim B. Larsen, Allan Holm Jorgensen, Stig Munk-Nielsen, and Frede Blaabjerg, "Evaluation of modulation schemes for three-phase to three-phase matrix converters," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 51, No. 1, pp. 158 – 171, February 2004.
- [39] C. Klumpner, F. Blaabjerg, I. Boldea, and P. Nielsen, "A new modulation method for matrix converters," 36th IAS Annual Meeting. IEEE Industry Applications Conference, 2001., vol. 4.
- [40] Lee Empringham, Liliana de Lillo, Patrick W. Wheeler, and Jon C. Clare, "Matrix converter protection for more electric aircraft applications," 32nd Annual IEEE Industrial Electronics Conference, 2006, pp. 2564 – 2568, November 2006.
- [41] S. Large, A. Green, S. C. Manson, S. Bhatia, J. C. Clare, P. Zanchetta, L. Empringham, and P. W. Wheeler, "Matrix converter solution for aircraft starting," *IEE Seminar on Matrix Converters*, pp. 5/1 – 5/18, April 2003.
- [42] A. Schönung and H. Stemmler, "Static frequency changer with subharmonics control in conjunction with reversible variable speed AC drives," *Brown Boweri Rev. 51*, pp. 555 – 577, 1964.
- [43] G. Pfaff, A. Weschta, and A. Wick, "Design and experimental results of a brushless AC servo drive," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, 1984, vol. 20, No. 4, pp. 814 – 821, 1984.
- [44] H. W. van der Broeck, H. C. Skudelny, and G. V. Stanke, "Analysis and realization of a pulse width modulator based on voltage space vectors," *IEEE Trans*-

actions on Industry Applications, 1988, vol. 24, No. 1, pp. 142 – 150, Jan/Feb 1988.

- [45] Muhammad H. Rashid, POWER ELECTRONICS. CIRCUITS, DEVICES AND APPLICATIONS, Pearson Education, Inc, New Jersey, USA, 2004.
- [46] M. Apap, J. C. Clare, P. W. Wheeler, and K. J. Bradley, "Analysis and comparison of AC-AC matrix converter control strategies," 34th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 2003, vol. 3, pp. 1287 – 1292, June 2003.
- [47] P. Wood, "General theory of switching power converters," IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, PESC'79, pp. 3 – 10, June 1979.
- [48] J. Oyama, T. Higuchi, E. Yamada, T. Koga, and T. Lipo, "New control strategy for matrix converter," 20th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1989, vol. 1, pp. 360 – 367, June 1989.
- [49] Jon Clare and Patrick Wheeler, "Matrix Converter study," Final report, The University of Nottingham, December 1999.
- [50] N. J. Mason, P. W. Wheeler, and J. C. Clare, "Space vector modulation for a 4-leg matrix converter," 36th IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 2005, pp. 31 – 38, September 2005.
- [51] Fan Yue, Patrick W. Wheeler, and Jon C. Clare, "Relationship of modulation schemes for matrix converters," 3rd IET International Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives, 2006, pp. 266 – 270, March 2006.
- [52] Liliana de Lillo, A Matrix Converter Drive System for an Aircraft Rudder Electro-Mechanical Actuator, Ph.D. thesis, University of Nottingham, England, 2006.
- [53] Patrick W. Wheeler, Jon C. Clare, Lee Empringham, Michael Bland, and Maurice Apap, "Gate drive level intelligence and current sensing for matrix converter current commutation," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 49, No. 2, pp. 382 – 389, April 2002.

- [54] M. J. Bland, P. W. Wheeler, J. C. Clare, and L. Empringham, "Comprison of bi-directional switch components for direct AC-AC converters," 35th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 2004, vol. 4, pp. 2905 – 2909, 2004.
- [55] M. Münzer, M. Loddenkötter, M. Hornkamp, O. Simon, and M. Bruckmann, "EconoMAC the first all-in-one IGBT module for matrix converters," Proc. Drives and Controls and Power Electronics Conference, 2001, pp. 35–39, March 2001.
- [56] Dynex Semiconductor, "IGBT bi-directional switch module DIM200MBS12-A000," Device Data Sheet, www.dynexsemi.com, 2002, June 2002.
- [57] M. Takei, T. Naito, and K. Ueno, "The reverse blocking IGBT for matrix converter with ultra-thin wafer technology," 15th IEEE International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, 2003, pp. 156 – 159, April 2003.
- [58] Jun-ichi Itoh, Ikuya Sato, Akihiro Odaka, Hideki Ohguchi, Hirokazu Kodachi, and Naoya Eguchi, "A novel approach to practical matrix converter motor drive system with reverse blocking IGBT," *IEEE Transactiosn on Power Electronics*, vol. 20, No. 6, November 2005.
- [59] Koji Kato and Jun-ichi Itoh, "Improvement of input current waveforms for a matrix converter using a novel hybrid commutation method," *Power Conversion Conference - Nagoya*, 2007, pp. 763 – 768, April 2007.
- [60] S. Sunter and J. C. Clare, "A true four quadrant matrix converter induction motor drive with servo performance," *IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, 1996, pp. 146 – 151, 1996.
- [61] C. L. Neft and C. D. Schauder, "Theory and design of a 30-HP matrix converter," *IEEE IAS Conference Record*, 1988, pp. 934 – 939, 1988.

- [62] R. R. Beasant, W. C. Beattie, and A. Refsum, "An approach to the realization of a high-power venturini converter," *IEEE PESC Conference Record*, 1990, pp. 291 – 297, 1990.
- [63] L. Empringham, P. W. Wheeler, and J. C. Clare, "Intelligent commutation of matrix converter bi-directional switch cells using novel gate drive techniques," *7th International Conference on Power Electronics and Variable Speed Drives*, 1998, pp. 626 – 631, September 1998.
- [64] B. H. Kwon, B. H. Min, and J. H. Kim, "Novel commutation technique of AC-AC converters," *IEE Proceedings Part B*, 1998, vol. 145, pp. 295 – 300, July 1998.
- [65] M. Ziegler and W. Hofmann, "Semi natural two steps commutation strategy for matrix converters," 29th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1998, vol. 1, pp. 727 – 731, may 1998.
- [66] M. Ziegler and W. Hofmann, "Implementation of a two steps commutated matrix converter," 30th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1999, vol. 1, pp. 175 – 180, June-July 1999.
- [67] M. Ziegler and W. Hofmann, "A new two steps commutation policy for low cost matrix converter," *Proceedings of the 41st International PCIM Conference*, 2000, pp. 445 – 450, June 2000.
- [68] M. Ziegler and W. Hofmann, "Rectifier based robust control of bi-directional switches in AC-AC matrix converters," 10th Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference, EPE-PEMC, 2002, p. 9 pp., September 2002.
- [69] Jong-Woo Choi and Seng-Ki Sul, "A new compensation strategy reducing voltage/current distortion in PWM VSI systems operating with low voltages," *IEEE IAS Annual Meeting*, 1995, vol. 31, pp. 1001 – 1008, 1995.
- [70] Robert W. Erickson and Dragan Maksimovic, Fundamentals of Power Electronics, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Massachusetts, USA, 2001.

- [71] P. Wheeler and D. Grant, "Optimised input filter design and low-loss switching techniques for a practical matrix converter," *IEE Proceedings - Electric Power Applications*, vol. 144, No. 1, pp. 53 – 60, January 1997.
- [72] P. W. Wheeler, H. Zhang, and D. A. Grant, "A theoretical and practical consideration of optimised input filter design for a low loss matrix converter," *Industrial Electronics Group, University of Bristol, UK*, pp. 138 – 142, 1998.
- [73] A. Kusko, D. Galler, and N. Medora, "Output impedance of PWM UPS inverter-feedback vs filters," *IEEE Industry Applications Society Annual Meeting*, 1990, vol. 2, pp. 1044 – 1048, October 1990.
- [74] Michael A. Boost and Phoivos D. Ziogas, "Towards a zero-output impedance UPS system," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, 1989, vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 408 – 418, May/June 1989.
- [75] S. B. Dewan and P. D. Ziogas, "Optimum filter design for a single phase Solid-State UPS system," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, 1979, vol. 1A-15, No. 6, pp. 664 – 669, 1979.
- S. B. Dewan, "Optimum input and output filters for a single phase rectifier power supply," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, 1981, vol. 1A-21, No. 3, pp. 282 – 288, 1981.
- [77] D. Grahame Holmes and Thomas A. Lipo, PULSE WIDTH MODULATION FOR POWER CONVERTERS. Principles and Practice, John Wiley & Sons, Inc, Piscataway, NJ, USA, 2003.
- [78] Texas Instruments Incorporated, "Clarke and Park transforms on the TMS320C2XX," Application Report, Literature Number: BPRA048, www.ti.com, 1997.
- [79] Bin Wu, High-Power Converters and AC Drives, John Wiley & Sons, Inc, Piscataway, NJ, USA, 2006.

- [80] B. A. Francis and W. M. Wonham, "The internal model principle for linear multivariable regulators," *Applied Mathematics and Optimization*, 1975, vol. 2, No. 2, pp. 170 – 194, December 1975.
- [81] Patrick W. Wheeler, "The matrix converter future possibilities," IEE Colloquium on Update on New Power Electronic Techniques, pp. 1/1 – 1/5, May 1997.
- [82] Uffe Borup Jensen, Frede Blaabjerg, and John K. Pedersen, "A new control method for 400-Hz ground power units for airplanes," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 36, No. 1, pp. 180 – 187, 2000.
- [83] P. Zanchetta, J.C. Clare, P.W. Wheeler, M. Bland, L. Empringham, and D. Katsis, "Control design of a three-phase matrix converter mobile AC power supply using genetic algorithms," *36th IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, 2005, pp. 2370 – 2375, 2005.
- [84] P. Zanchetta, J. C. Clare, and P. W. Wheeler, "CAD of matrix converter systems and their control for AC power supplies," *Proceedings of the EPE 2003 Conference*, September 2003.
- [85] Pericle Zanchetta, Mark Sumner, Jon C. Clare, and Patrick W. Wheeler, "Control of matrix converters for AC power supplies using genetic algorithms," 2004 IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Electronics, vol. 2, pp. 1429 – 1433, May 2004.
- [86] L. Empringham, P. W. Wheeler, and J. C. Clare, "Bi-directional switch current commutation for matrix converter applications," 8th International Conference on Power Electronics and Motion Control, PEMC98, pp. 42 – 47, 1998.
- [87] Ayano, H., Inaba, H., and Ogasawara, S., "A parallel matrix converter system," *Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, 2006. PESC '06. 37th IEEE, pp. 1–7, 18-22 June 2006.
- [88] Ying-Yu Tzou, Rong-Shyang Ou, Shih-Liang Jung, and Meng-Yueh Chang, "High-performance programmable AC power source with low harmonic distortion

using DSP-based repetitive control technique," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, 1997, vol. 12, No. 4, pp. 715 – 725, July 1997.

- [89] Keliang Zhou and Danwei Wang, "Digital repetitive controlled three-phase PWM rectifier," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, 2003, vol. 18, No. 1, pp. 309 – 316, January 2003.
- [90] Robert W. Erickson, "Optimal single resistor damping of input filters," 14th Annual Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 1999., vol. 2, March 1999.
- [91] LEM Holding SA, "Current transducer LAH 25-NP," *Product Data Sheet*, vol. www.lem.com.
- [92] Patrick W. Wheeler, Jon C. Clare, Lee Empringham, Maurice Apap, Keith Bradley, C. Whitley, and G. Towers, "A matrix converter based permanent magnet motor drive for an aircraft actuation system," *IEEE International Electric Machines and Drives Conference, 2003. IEMDC'03*, vol. 2, pp. 1295 – 1300, June 2003.

Appendix A

Paper Published

Lopez Arevalo S, Zanchetta P, Wheeler P W, "Control of a Matrix Converter-based AC Power Supply for Aircrafts under Unbalanced Conditions", *33rd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society (IECON'07), Taipei, Taiwan, R.O.C.*, November 2007.

Appendix B

Schematic Diagrams used in Saber

B.1 General Schematic Diagram of the System used in Saber Simulations

The general diagram used in Saber to simulate the Matrix Converter power supply can be seen in Figure B.1. This diagram includes all the components of system. Resistor r6 and r7 have a value of $10M\Omega$ and they are used to isolate the system from ground. In Saber simulations, the model must be grounded in order to allow the algorithm to solve the equations. The arrangement of a big resistor connected to a ground point is acting as floating point with no connection.

B.2 Schematic Diagram of the Matrix Converter used in Saber Simulations

The schematic diagram of the Matrix Converter without the input and output filter can be seen in Figure B.2. This schematic diagram shows basically the modulator



and the Matrix Converter, which is the core of the power supply system.

B.3 Schematic Diagram of the Controller used in Saber Simulations

Figure B.3 shows the diagram of the controller used in the power supply system. This diagram employed in Saber simulations was used in the d-q reference frame control.



Figure B.2: Schematic diagram of the MC and modulator used in the power supply system.



Figure B.3: Schematic diagram of the controller used in the power supply system.
Appendix C

Source Code using MAST Language

This appendix contains the codes written in MAST language for simulations in Saber. This appendix shows the source code for the modulator, the source code for determination of angles and sectors of both the input current vector and the output voltage vector and the code source for the bi-directional switches. Theses MAST codes are used in the simulations of the Matrix Converter system under different load conditions described in Chapter 3.

C.1 MAST Code used in the Modulator

```
#Template Space Vector Modulation#
template SVM_B Kvv Kii alfa beta phi q SAa SAb SAc SBa SBb SBc SCa
SCb SCc = fc
ref nu phi, q
state logic_4 SAa, SAb, SAc, SBa, SBb, SBc, SCa, SCb, SCc
state nu Kvv, Kii, alfa, beta
number fc
{
```

```
var nu DI, DII, DIII, DIV, TI, TII, TIII, TIV, Tzero, Z1, Z2, Z3,
varia
state logic_4 awake_B, awake_BB
number Tc = (1/fc),
      pi = 3.1415926535
when(dc_init){
    schedule_event(time,SAa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time,SBa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time,SCa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time,SAb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time,SBb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time,SCb,14_0)
   schedule_event(time,SAc,14_0)
   schedule_event(time,SBc,14_0)
   schedule_event(time,SCc,14_0)
   }
when(time_init){
   schedule_event(time,awake_B,14_1)
    }
when(event_on(awake_B)){
schedule_event(time,SAa,14_0) schedule_event(time,SBa,14_0)
schedule_event(time,SCa,14_0) schedule_event(time,SAb,14_0)
schedule_event(time,SBb,14_0) schedule_event(time,SCb,14_0)
schedule_event(time,SAc,14_0) schedule_event(time,SBc,14_0)
schedule_event(time,SCc,14_0)
    if(((Kvv==1) & (Kii==1)) | ((Kvv==4) & (Kii==4))){
    schedule_event(time,SCa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3,SCa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3,SAa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV,SAa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV,SBa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2,SBa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2,SAa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2+TIV+TII+Z1+TI+TIII,SAa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2+TIV+TII+Z1+TI+TIII,SCa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time,SCb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII,SCb,14_0)
```

```
schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII,SAb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII,SAb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII,SBb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2+TIV,SBb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2+TIV,SAb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2+TIV+TII+Z1+TI,SAb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2+TIV+TII+Z1+TI,SCb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time,SCc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI,SCc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI,SAc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1,SAc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1,SBc,l4_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2+TIV+TII,SBc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2+TIV+TII,SAc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2+TIV+TII+Z1,SAc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII+TIV+2*Z2+TIV+TII+Z1,SCc,14_1)
    }
else if(((Kvv==1) & (Kii==2)) | ((Kvv==4) & (Kii==5))){
    schedule_event(time,SBa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII,SBa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII,SCa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3,SCa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3,SAa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1+TII+TIV,SAa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1+TII+TIV,SCa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1+TII+TIV+Z3,SCa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1+TII+TIV+Z3,SBa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time,SBb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI,SBb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI,SCb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV,SCb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV,SAb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1+TII,SAb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1+TII,SCb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1+TII+TIV+Z3+TIII,SCb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1+TII+TIV+Z3+TIII,SBb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time,SBc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2,SBc,14_0)
```

```
schedule_event(time+Z2,SCc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII,SCc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII,SAc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1,SAc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1,SCc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1+TII+TIV+Z3+TIII+TI,SCc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TI+TIII+Z3+TIV+TII+2*Z1+TII+TIV+Z3+TIII+TI,SBc,14_1)
    }
else if((Kvv==1 & Kii==3) | (Kvv==4 & Kii==6)){
    schedule_event(time,SAa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1,SAa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1,SBa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV,SBa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV,SCa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3,SCa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3,SBa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3+TIV+TII+Z2+TI+TIII,SBa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3+TIV+TII+Z2+TI+TIII,SAa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time,SAb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII,SAb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII,SBb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII,SBb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII,SCb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3+TIV,SCb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3+TIV,SBb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3+TIV+TII+Z2+TI,SBb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3+TIV+TII+Z2+TI,SAb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time,SAc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI,SAc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI,SBc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2,SBc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2,SCc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3+TIV+TII,SCc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3+TIV+TII,SBc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3+TIV+TII+Z2,SBc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TIII+TI+Z2+TII+TIV+2*Z3+TIV+TII+Z2,SAc,14_1)
    }
else if((Kvv==1 & Kii==4) | (Kvv==4 & Kii==1)){
```

```
schedule_event(time,SCa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII,SCa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII,SAa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1,SAa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1,SBa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2+TII+TIV,SBa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2+TII+TIV,SAa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2+TII+TIV+Z1,SAa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2+TII+TIV+Z1,SCa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time,SCb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI,SCb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI,SAb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV,SAb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV,SBb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2+TII,SBb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2+TII,SAb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2+TII+TIV+Z1+TIII,SAb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2+TII+TIV+Z1+TIII,SCb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time,SCc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3,SCc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3,SAc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII,SAc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII,SBc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2,SBc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2,SAc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2+TII+TIV+Z1+TIII+TI,SAc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z3+TI+TIII+Z1+TIV+TII+2*Z2+TII+TIV+Z1+TIII+TI,SCc,14_1)
    }
else if((Kvv==1 & Kii==5) | (Kvv==4 & Kii==2)){
    schedule_event(time,SBa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2,SBa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2,SCa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV,SCa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV,SAa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1,SAa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1,SCa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1+TIV+TII+Z3+TI+TIII,SCa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1+TIV+TII+Z3+TI+TIII,SBa,14_1)
```

```
schedule_event(time,SBb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII,SBb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII,SCb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII,SCb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII,SAb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1+TIV,SAb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1+TIV,SCb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1+TIV+TII+Z3+TI,SCb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1+TIV+TII+Z3+TI,SBb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time,SBc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI,SBc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI,SCc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3,SCc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3,SAc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1+TIV+TII,SAc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1+TIV+TII,SCc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1+TIV+TII+Z3,SCc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z2+TIII+TI+Z3+TII+TIV+2*Z1+TIV+TII+Z3,SBc,14_1)
    }
else if((Kvv==1 & Kii==6) | (Kvv==4 & Kii==3)){
    schedule_event(time,SAa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII,SAa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII,SBa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2,SBa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2,SCa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3+TII+TIV,SCa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3+TII+TIV,SBa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3+TII+TIV+Z2,SBa,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3+TII+TIV+Z2,SAa,14_1)
    schedule_event(time,SAb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI,SAb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI,SBb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV,SBb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV,SCb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3+TII,SCb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3+TII,SBb,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3+TII+TIV+Z2+TIII,SBb,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3+TII+TIV+Z2+TIII,SAb,14_1)
```

```
schedule_event(time,SAc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1,SAc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1,SBc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII,SBc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII,SCc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3,SCc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3,SBc,14_1)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3+TII+TIV+Z2+TIII+TI,SBc,14_0)
    schedule_event(time+Z1+TI+TIII+Z2+TIV+TII+2*Z3+TII+TIV+Z2+TIII+TI,SAc,14_1)
    }
       : all else if statements for Kvv = 2-6 and Kii = 1-6
        : remainder omitted for clarity
# else{
# schedule_event(time,SAa,14_0)
# schedule_event(time,SBa,14_0)
# schedule_event(time,SCa,14_0)
# schedule_event(time,SAb,14_0)
# schedule_event(time,SBb,14_0)
# schedule_event(time,SCb,14_0)
# schedule_event(time,SAc,14_0)
# schedule_event(time,SBc,14_0)
# schedule_event(time,SCc,14_0)
# }
schedule_event(time+Tc,awake_B,14_1)
} ###closes when(event_on(awake_B))
    equations{
   DI:
           DI = (1.154700538)*q*cos(alfa - (pi/3))*cos(beta - (pi/3))/cos(phi)
   DII: DII = (1.154700538)*q*cos(alfa - (pi/3))*cos(beta + (pi/3))/cos(phi)
   DIII:DIII = (1.154700538)*q*cos(alfa + (pi/3))*cos(beta - (pi/3))/cos(phi)
    DIV: DIV = (1.154700538)*q*cos(alfa + (pi/3))*cos(beta + (pi/3))/cos(phi)
    TI:
           TI = DI*0.5*Tc
   TII: TII = DII*0.5*Tc
   TIII:TIII = DIII*0.5*Tc
   TIV: TIV = DIV*0.5*Tc
   Tzero: Tzero = (0.5*Tc) - (TI+TII+TIII+TIV)
    Z1: Z1 = Tzero/3
```

```
Z2: Z2 = Tzero/3
Z3: Z3 = Tzero/3
varia:varia=Z3+TIII+TI+Z1+TII
}#closes equations
}###end main
```

C.2 MAST Code used in for the Input Current Vector

```
#Template Input Current Vector Angle#
template icvang in_A in_B in_C Kii beta Vim
ref nu in_A, in_B, in_C
var nu Vim
state nu Kii, beta
{
val nu ang
var nu smpaa, smpbb, smpcc, a_curr, b_curr
state nu awake_A
number pi = 3.1415926535
when(dc_init){
   schedule_event(time,Kii,0)
   schedule_event(time,beta,0)
   }
when(time_init){
   schedule_event(time,awake_A,1)
   }
if((0*pi/6)<=ang & ang<(1*pi/6)){
   schedule_event(time,Kii,1)
   schedule_event(time,beta,ang)
       }
else if((1*pi/6)<=ang & ang<(3*pi/6)){
   schedule_event(time,Kii,2)
   schedule_event(time,beta,ang-(1*pi/3))
       }
```

```
else if((3*pi/6)<=ang & ang<(5*pi/6)){
   schedule_event(time,Kii,3)
    schedule_event(time,beta,ang-(2*pi/3))
       }
else if((5*pi/6)<=ang & ang<(7*pi/6)){
    schedule_event(time,Kii,4)
    schedule_event(time,beta,ang-(3*pi/3))
       }
else if((7*pi/6)<=ang & ang<(9*pi/6)){
   schedule_event(time,Kii,5)
    schedule_event(time,beta,ang-(4*pi/3))
       }
else if((9*pi/6)<=ang & ang<(11*pi/6)){
   schedule_event(time,Kii,6)
    schedule_event(time,beta,ang-(5*pi/3))
       }
else if((11*pi/6)<=ang & ang<(12*pi/6)){</pre>
   schedule_event(time,Kii,1)
   schedule_event(time,beta,ang-(6*pi/3))
       }
   else {
   schedule_event(time,Kii,0)
   schedule_event(time,beta,0)
       }
schedule_event(time,awake_A,1) } ### closes when(awake_A)
if((a_curr>0.0001) & ((-0.0001<b_curr) & (b_curr<0.0001))){
   ang = 0
   7
else if((a_curr>0.0001) & (b_curr>0.0001)){
   ang = atan(b_curr/(a_curr+0.0001))
    }
else if(((-0.000001<a_curr) & (a_curr<0.0001)) & (b_curr>0.0001)){
   ang = pi/2
   }
else if((-0.0001>a_curr) & (b_curr>0.0001)){
   ang = pi+atan(b_curr/(a_curr+0.0001))
   }
```

```
else if((-0.0001>a_curr) & ((-0.0001<b_curr) & (b_curr<0.0001))){
    ang = pi
    }
else if((-0.0001>a_curr) & (-0.0001>b_curr)){
    ang = pi+atan(b_curr/(a_curr+0.0001))
    }
else if(((-0.0001<a_curr) & (a_curr<0.0001)) & (-0.0001>b_curr)){
    ang = (3*pi)/2
    }
else if((a_curr>0.0001) & (-0.0001>b_curr)){
    ang = (2*pi)+atan((b_curr)/(a_curr+0.0001))
   }
    else{
    ang=pi
    }
}###end values
equations{
    smpaa:smpaa = in_A
    smpbb:smpbb = in_B
    smpcc:smpcc = in_C
    a_curr:a_curr = (2/3)*(smpaa - 0.5*smpbb - 0.5*smpcc)
    b_curr:b_curr = (2/3)*(sqrt(3)/2)*(smpbb - smpcc)
    Vim:Vim = sqrt(a_curr**2 + b_curr**2)
    }#closes equations
}###end main
```

C.3 MAST Code used in for the Output Voltage Vector

#Template Output Voltage Vector Angle#
template ovvang Ref_A Ref_B Ref_C Kvv alfa Vom
ref nu Ref_A, Ref_B, Ref_C
var nu Vom
state nu Kvv, alfa

```
{
val nu ang
var nu Vo11, Vo22, Vo33, a_volt, b_volt
state nu awake_A
number pi = 3.1415926535
when(dc_init){
   schedule_event(time,Kvv,0)
   schedule_event(time,alfa,0)
   }
when(time_init){
   schedule_event(time,awake_A,1)
   }
if((0*pi/6)<=ang & ang<(1*pi/3)){
   schedule_event(time,Kvv,1)
   schedule_event(time,alfa,ang-(pi/6))
       }
else if((1*pi/3)<=ang & ang<(2*pi/3)){
   schedule_event(time,Kvv,2)
   schedule_event(time,alfa,ang-(3*pi/6))
       }
else if((2*pi/3)<=ang & ang<(3*pi/3)){
   schedule_event(time,Kvv,3)
   schedule_event(time,alfa,ang-(5*pi/6))
       }
else if((3*pi/3)<=ang & ang<(4*pi/3)){
   schedule_event(time,Kvv,4)
   schedule_event(time,alfa,ang-(7*pi/6))
       }
else if((4*pi/3)<=ang & ang<(5*pi/3)){
   schedule_event(time,Kvv,5)
   schedule_event(time,alfa,ang-(9*pi/6))
       }
else if((5*pi/3)<=ang & ang<(6*pi/3)){
   schedule_event(time,Kvv,6)
   schedule_event(time,alfa,ang-(11*pi/6))
       }
   else
           {
```

```
schedule_event(time,Kvv,0)
   schedule_event(time,alfa,0)
       }
schedule_event(time,awake_A,1) } ### closes when(awake_A)
if((a_volt>0.0001) & ((-0.0001<b_volt) & (b_volt<0.0001))){
   ang = 0
   }
else if((a_volt>0.0001) & (b_volt>0.0001)){
   ang = atan(b_volt/(a_volt+0.0001))
   }
else if(((-0.000001<a_volt) & (a_volt<0.0001)) & (b_volt>0.0001)){
   ang = pi/2
   }
else if((-0.0001>a_volt) & (b_volt>0.0001)){
   ang = pi+atan(b_volt/(a_volt+0.0001))
   }
else if((-0.0001>a_volt) & ((-0.0001<b_volt) & (b_volt<0.0001))){
   ang = pi
   }
else if((-0.0001>a_volt) & (-0.0001>b_volt)){
   ang = pi+atan(b_volt/(a_volt+0.0001))
   }
else if(((-0.0001<a_volt) & (a_volt<0.0001)) & (-0.0001>b_volt)){
   ang = (3*pi)/2
   }
else if((a_volt>0.0001) & (-0.0001>b_volt)){
   ang = (2*pi)+atan((b_volt)/(a_volt+0.0001))
   }
   else{
   ang=pi
   }
}###end values
equations{
   Vo11:Vo11=Ref_A
   Vo22:Vo22=Ref_B
   Vo33:Vo33=Ref_C
   a_volt:a_volt = (2/3)*(Vo11 - 0.5*Vo22 - 0.5*Vo33)
```

```
b_volt:b_volt = (2/3)*(sqrt(3)/2)*(Vo22 - Vo33)
Vom:Vom = sqrt(a_volt**2 + b_volt**2)
}#closes equations
}###end main
```

C.4 MAST Code used to model Bi-directional Switches

```
#Template Matrix_ABC_Templ_Volt#
template Matrix_ABC_Templ_Volt in_A in_B in_C out_A out_B out_C SAa
SBa SCa SAb SBb SCb SAc SBc SCc
var nu out_A, out_B, out_C
ref nu SAa, SBa, SCa, SAb, SBb, SCb, SAc, SBc, SCc
ref nu in_A, in_B, in_C
{
    equations{
    out_A: out_A = SAa*in_A + SBa*in_B + SCa*in_C
    out_B: out_B = SAb*in_A + SBc*in_B + SCc*in_C
    out_C: out_C = SAc*in_A + SBc*in_B + SCc*in_C
    }
}
```

Appendix D

Programs Implemented in the DSP

This Appendix contains the codes for program implemented in the DSP for this project. Theses programs are used in the implementation both the tracking controller and the Repetitive controller described in Chapter 4.

D.1 Main Program Implemented in the DSP

```
/***main.c for SVM and using host program with Matlab Interface***/
#include <stdio.h>
#include <math.h>
#include <c6x.h>
#include "c6x11dsk.h"
#include "timer_lib.h"
#include "FPGA.h"
#include "controller.h"
#include "constants.h"
#include "dsk6713.h"
#include "fastrts67x.h"
#define LENGTH_BUFFER
                        8000
                              //Lenght of an array in the
internal memory float buffer_int_memory[LENGTH_BUFFER];
```

```
/*TO ENABLE THE OUTPUT OF MCSP TO CPLD*/ unsigned char *mscb_mux=
(unsigned char*)0x90080006;
//Array gives vector codes PVE for vectors 0 to 21
unsigned int VCT[22] =
   {
       0x004000,
                   //VCT [0], dummy for vectors to start from VCT[1]
       0x280000,
                   //VCT [1], +1
       0x020000,
                  //VCT [2], -1
                   //VCT [3], +2
       0x160000,
                   //VCT [4], -2
       0x290000,
       0x010000, //VCT [5], +3
       0x140000,
                  //VCT [6], -3
       0x220000, //VCT [7], +4
                  //VCT [8], -4
       0x080000,
       0x190000, //VCT [9], +5
                   //VCT[10], -5
       0x260000,
       0x040000, //VCT[11], +6
       0x110000,
                   //VCT[12], -6
       0x0A0000,
                  //VCT[13], +7
       0x200000,
                   //VCT[14], -7
       0x250000,
                   //VCT[15], +8
                   //VCT[16], -8
       0x1A0000,
       0x100000,
                   //VCT[17], +9
       0x050000,
                   //VCT[18], -9
                   //VCT[19], 01
       0x000000,
       0x2A0000, //VCT[20], 02
       0x150000
                   //VCT[21], 03
   };
//***Variables used in timer0_init()***//
//***Variables used in timer1_init()***//
//***Variables used in init_FPGA()***//
//***Variables used in init_controller()***//
int SamplingOn = 1, DriveOn = 1; float Tseq_2, TWOTseq_Pulses_2;
unsigned int Tseq_Pulses, Tseq_Pulses_2; float Volt_phase_a_error,
Volt_phase_a_error_last1, Volt_phase_a_error_last2; float
Volt_phase_b_error, Volt_phase_b_error_last1,
Volt_phase_b_error_last2; float Volt_phase_c_error,
Volt_phase_c_error_last1, Volt_phase_c_error_last2; float
Volt_phase_a_ctrl, Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last1, Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last2;
```

```
float Volt_phase_b_ctrl, Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last1,
Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last2; float Volt_phase_c_ctrl,
Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last1, Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last2;
//***Variables used in init_default_sampling()***//
//***Variables used in reset_controller()***//
//***Variables used in init_ADCs()***//
int adc1, adc2, adc3, adc4, adc5, adc6, adc7, adc8, adc9;
float IgainA, IgainB, IgainC, VgainAB, VgainBC, Vgaina, Vgainb,
Vgainc;
float offset1, offset2, offset3, offset4, offset5, offset6, offset7,
offset8, offset9;
//***Variables used in init_McBSP0(void)***//
//***Variables used in pwm_isr()***//
unsigned int dpr0, dpr1, dpr2, dpr3, dpr4, dpr5, dpr6, dpr7, dpr8,
dpr9;
float Delta_Theta_In, Theta_In = 0.0;
float cos_Theta_In, cos_Theta_In_menos_2PI_3,
cos_Theta_In_menos_4PI_3;
float VAB_in_real, VBC_in_real;
float VAB_in, VBC_in;
float VA_in, VB_in, VC_in;
float Freq_in=50.0;
float Delta_Theta_Out, Theta_Out = 0.0;
float cos_Theta_Out, sin_Theta_Out;
float ia_out, ib_out, ic_out;
float Volt_d_ref=10.0;
float Volt_q_ref=0.0;
float Freq_out=400.0;
float Volt_alpha_ref, Volt_beta_ref;
float Volt_phase_a_ref, Volt_phase_b_ref, Volt_phase_c_ref;
float Volt_FB_a, Volt_FB_b, Volt_FB_c;
float Volt_phase_a_ctrl, Volt_phase_b_ctrl, Volt_phase_c_ctrl;
float a_curr, b_curr, atansp_in, icvang, beta, ang_volt;
int Ki;
float a_volt, b_volt, alfa, ang_curr;
int Kv; float Vi, Vo, q; //phi
float cos_alfa_menos_PI_3, cos_alfa_mas_PI_3, cos_beta_menos_PI_3,
cos_beta_mas_PI_3;
```

```
float eq_I, eq_II, eq_III, eq_IV;
unsigned int DO, DO_3, TWODO_3, DI, DII, DIV;
float D_0, D_0_3, TWOD_0_3, D_I, D_II, D_III, D_IV;
float Kvv, Kii;
unsigned int int_delay;
/*
                Functions
                                        */
void timer0_init(); void timer1_init(); void init_FPGA(); void
init_controller(); void reset_controller(); void init_ADCs(); void
init_McBSPO(); void init_default_sampling(); void pwm_isr(); void
timer0_isr();
#include "host.h"
/* ======== main =========
                                      */
void main(void) {
   *mscb_mux = 3;
   timer0_init();
   *(unsigned int*)TIMER0_CTRL |= 0x00C0;
   //Reset & start Timer0
   timer1_init();
   *(unsigned int*)TIMER1_CTRL |= 0x00C0;
   //Reset & start Timer1
   *(unsigned volatile int *)PLL_CSR = 0x8;
   //Start reset PLL
   *(unsigned int*)TIMER1_COUNT = 0;
   //Set Timer1_Count to Zero
   *(unsigned int*)TIMER1_CTRL |= 0x00C0;
   //Start time
   while ((*(unsigned int *)TIMER1_COUNT)<3000);</pre>
   //Wait time
   *(unsigned volatile int *)PLL_M = 0x4;
   //PLL X4
   *(unsigned volatile int *)PLL_DIVO = 0x00008000;
   //ENABLE THE DIVO FOR 1
   *(unsigned volatile int *)PLL_CSR = 0x0;
   //End reset PLL
```

```
*(unsigned int*)TIMER1_COUNT = 0;
//Set Timer1_Count to Zero
*(unsigned int*)TIMER1_CTRL |= 0x00C0;
//Start timer
while ((*(unsigned int *)TIMER1_COUNT)<3000);</pre>
//Wait time
*(unsigned volatile int *)PLL_CSR |= 0x1;
//Start reset PLL
DSK6713_init();
//Initialize the board support library, must be first BSL call
host_init(78.125e-6);
//Sampling period for host program (in seconds)
for(i=0;i<LENGTH_BUFFER;i++)</pre>
    buffer_int_memory[i] = 0;
*(unsigned volatile int *)TIMERO_CTRL &= 0xFF3F;
//Hold the timer
CSR = 0x100;
//Control Status Register, Global disable maskable interrupts
puts("Global disable maskable interrupts !");
IER = 2;
//Interrupt Enable Register, Disable all interrupts except NMI
puts("Disable all interrupts except NMI !");
*(unsigned volatile int *)EMIF_GCR = 0x3360;
//EMIF global control
*(unsigned volatile int *)EMIF_CE0 = 0x30;
//EMIF CEO control
*(unsigned volatile int *)EMIF_CE1 = 0xFFFFF03;
//EMIF CE1 control, 8bit async
*(unsigned volatile int *)EMIF_CE2 = 0x30D3C321;
//FPGA memory space
*(unsigned volatile int *)EMIF_SDCTRL = 0x57116000;
//EMIF SDRAM control ZZ
*(unsigned volatile int *)EMIF_SDRP = 0x61A;
//EMIF SDRM refresh period
init_FPGA();
*(unsigned volatile int *)EXTPOL &= 0xFFFFFFE;
//EXT INT4 triggered on rising edge
ICR = OxFFFF;
```

```
//Interrupt Clear Register
   IER |= 0x0010;
   //Interrupt Enable Register, Enable interrupt EXT_INT4 (pwm_isr)
   puts("EXT_INT4 enabled");
   IER | = 0x0002;
   //Interrupt Enable Register, NMIE = 1: enable NMIs
   CSR \mid = 0x1;
   //Control Status Register, GIE = 1: enable global interrupt
   puts("Global Interrupts Enabled !\n");
   init_ADCs();
   init_controller();
   *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = 0x150000; // PVT=0 => should last whole period
   *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = 0x150000; // PVT=0 => should last whole period
   init_McBSP0();
   *(unsigned int *)DPR0 |= 0x00004000;
   *(unsigned int *)TIMER1_COUNT = 0;
                                      //Set Timer1_Count to Zero
   *(unsigned int *)TIMER1_CTRL |= 0x00C0; //Reset & Start timer
   while ((*(unsigned int *)TIMER1_COUNT)<15000);</pre>
   //Hold Timer1,
                          0x0000FF7F = 0000 0000 0000 0000 1111 1111 0111 1111
   *(unsigned int *)TIMER1_CTRL &= 0xFF7F;
   *(unsigned int *)DPR9 |= 0x80000000;
 HPImsg(1);
 while (1)
   {
   if (message_sent)
       {
       HPImsg(7);
       decode_host_msg();
       message_sent = 0;
       }
   }
   //End of main()
void timer0_init(void) {
   *(unsigned volatile int *)TIMERO_CTRL &= 0xFF3F;
   //Hold the timer
   *(unsigned volatile int *)TIMER0_CTRL |= 0x0200;
```

}

```
//Use internal (CPU) clock (CLK) - 56.25MHz
    *(unsigned volatile int *)TIMERO_CTRL &= 0xFEFF;
    //Pulse mode
    *(unsigned volatile int *)TIMER0_PRD = 0xFFFFFFF;
    //Set period to maximum
    //(about 76.3549741333333428777051 sec)
    //Set period to 78.125 us, 4394 = 0x0000112A
    *(unsigned volatile int *)TIMER0_CTRL |= 0x0001;
    //FUNC=1 => timer signal STOUT is present on external pin
}
void timer1_init(void) {
    *(unsigned volatile int *)TIMER1_CTRL &= 0xFF3F;
    //Hold the timer
    *(unsigned volatile int *)TIMER1_CTRL |= 0x0200;
    //Use internal (CPU) clock (CLK) - 56.25MHz
    *(unsigned volatile int *)TIMER1_CTRL &= 0xFEFF;
    //Pulse mode
    *(unsigned volatile int *)TIMER1_PRD = 0xFFFFFFF;
    //Set period to maximum
    //(about 76.3549741333333428777051 sec)
    //Set period to 78.125 us, 4394 = 0x0000112A
}
void init_FPGA(void) {
    /*Reset all FPGA registers to zero*/
    *(unsigned int *)DPR0 = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR2 = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR3 = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR4 = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR5 = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR6 = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR7 = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR8 = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR9 = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR0 |= 0x00000100;
                                            //Emulate power on reset
    /*Set PWM period: 0xFCF3 = 0xFFFF- (781-1) => 10MHz/781 = 12.8kHz*/
    *(unsigned int *)DPR0 |= 0xFCF30000;
    //0xFCF30000 --> 12.8kHz; 0xFC180000--> 10.0kHz
```

```
/*PWM Reset*/
    *(unsigned int *)DPR0 |= 0x00008000;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR0 |= 0x0000C000;
    *(unsigned int *)DPR0 &= 0xFFFFBFFF;
    *(unsigned int *)DPRO &= 0xFFFF3FFF;
    //Set PWM level to 6,
                             0x00000C00 = 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 1100 0000 0000
    *(unsigned int *)DPR0 |= 0x00000C00;
    /*Set Watchdog Period: 0xFB6D = 0xFFFF - (1171.0-1) => 10MHz/1171.5 = 8536.064874Hz,
    approx. 1.5*PWM period*/
    *(unsigned int *)DPR9 = 0xFB6D;//0xFB6D --> (1.5)*78.125us; 0xFA24 --> (1.5)*100us
    /*set state machine timers*/
    *(unsigned int *)DPR2 = 0x00300C03; //bin = 0000 0000 0011 0000 0000 1100 0000 0011
}
void init_controller(void)
ſ
SamplingOn = 0; DriveOn = 0;
Tseq_2 = (0.5)*(78.125e-6); // = 39.0625e-6; = (1/(2*FSW));
Tseq_Pulses = 2*Tseq_2*FPGA_CLOCK + 0.5;
//FPGA clock pulses in one modulation period Tseq_Pulses_2 =
(0.5*Tseq_Pulses)+0.5;
TWOTseq_Pulses_2 = (float)(2*Tseq_Pulses_2);
Volt_phase_a_error_last2=0; Volt_phase_a_error_last1=0;
Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last2=0; Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last1=0;
Volt_phase_b_error_last2=0; Volt_phase_b_error_last1=0;
Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last2=0; Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last1=0;
Volt_phase_c_error_last2=0; Volt_phase_c_error_last1=0;
Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last2=0; Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last1=0;
}
void init_default_sampling(void)
{
7
void reset_controller(void)
Volt_phase_a_error_last2 = 0; Volt_phase_a_error_last1 = 0;
Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last2 = 0; Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last1 = 0;
Volt_phase_b_error_last2 = 0; Volt_phase_b_error_last1 = 0;
Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last2 = 0; Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last1 = 0;
Volt_phase_c_error_last2 = 0; Volt_phase_c_error_last1 = 0;
```

```
Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last2 = 0; Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last1 = 0;
}
void init_ADCs(void)
ł
int x; int sum1, sum2, sum3, sum4, sum5, sum6, sum7, sum8, sum9;
IgainA=IGAINA; IgainB=IGAINB; IgainC=IGAINC; VgainAB=VGAINAB;
VgainBC=VGAINBC; Vgaina=VGAINA; Vgainb=VGAINB; Vgainc=VGAINC;
sum1=0; sum2=0; sum3=0; sum4=0; sum5=0; sum6=0; sum7=0; sum8=0;
sum9=0;
for(x=0;x<1;x++)</pre>
    Ł
    *(unsigned int *)DPR3 |= 0x1;
    while ((*(unsigned int *)DPR1)&0x0080);
    //Wait for completion of ADC conversion
    /*Read adc1 to adc5*/
    adc1 = (*(unsigned int *)DPR3)&OxOFFF;
    if(adc1&0x0800)
        adc1 |= 0xFFFFF000;
    adc2 = *(unsigned int *)DPR4;
    adc3 = (adc2&0x0FFF0000)>>16;
    if(adc3&0x0800)
        adc3 |= 0xFFFFF000;
    adc2 &= 0x0FFF;
    if(adc2&0x0800)
        adc2 |= 0xFFFFF000;
    adc4 = *(unsigned int *)DPR5;
    adc5 = (adc4 & 0x0FFF0000) >> 16;
    if(adc5&0x0800)
        adc5 |= 0xFFFFF000;
    adc4 &= 0x0FFF;
    if(adc4&0x0800)
        adc4 |= 0xFFFFF000;
    adc6 = *(unsigned int *)DPR6;
    adc7 = (adc6\&0x0FFF0000) >> 16;
    if(adc7&0x0800)
        adc7 |= 0xFFFFF000;
    adc6 &= 0x0FFF;
    if(adc6&0x0800)
```

```
adc6 |= 0xFFFFF000;
    adc8 = *(unsigned int *)DPR7;
    adc9 = (adc8\&0x0FFF0000) >> 16;
    if(adc9&0x0800)
        adc9 |= 0xFFFFF000;
    adc8 &= 0x0FFF;
    if(adc8&0x0800)
        adc8 |= 0xFFFFF000;
    sum1+=adc1;
    sum2+=adc2;
    sum3+=adc3;
    sum4+=adc4;
    sum5+=adc5;
    sum6+=adc6;
    sum7+=adc7;
    sum8+=adc8;
    sum9+=adc9;
    *(unsigned int *)TIMER0_COUNT = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)TIMERO_CTRL |= 0x00C0;
    //Start timer0
    while ((*(unsigned int *)TIMER0_COUNT)<4000);</pre>
    //Wait for CPU clock cycles
    *(unsigned int *)TIMERO_CTRL &= 0xFF7F;
    //Hold timer
    }
offset1 = (float)sum1/1.0;
offset2 = (float)sum2/1.0;
offset3 = (float)sum3/1.0;
offset4 = (float)sum4/1.0;
offset5 = (float)sum5/1.0;
offset6 = (float)sum6/1.0;
offset7 = (float)sum7/1.0;
offset8 = (float)sum8/1.0;
offset9 = (float)sum9/1.0;
}
/* Initializing multi channel buffered serial port McBSPO */
void init_McBSP0(void)
{
```

```
*(unsigned volatile int *)McBSP0_SPCR &= 0xFF3EFFFE;
    //Reset following: FSRT, GRST, XRST & RRST
    *(unsigned volatile int *)McBSP0_SRGR = 0x2000000C;
    //0x50630C07 for FPGA CLKS (10MHz)
    *(unsigned volatile int *)McBSP0_SPCR &= 0xFFFFF7FF;
    *(unsigned volatile int *)McBSP0_SPCR |= 0x00001000;
    //Initialise remaining fields of SPCR
    *(unsigned volatile int *)McBSP0_PCR &= 0xFFFFFFD;
    *(unsigned volatile int *)McBSP0_PCR |= 0x00001B09;
    //FSX ACTIVE LOW, data transmitted at rising edge
    *(unsigned volatile int *)McBSP0_XCR = 0x00050040;
    //SINGLE PHASE frame, 16 bits, 1-bit delay
    *(unsigned int *)TIMER0_COUNT = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)TIMERO_CTRL |= 0x00C0;
    //Start timer
    while ((*(unsigned int *)TIMERO_COUNT)<2);</pre>
    //Wait for 8 CPU clock cycles
    *(unsigned int *)TIMERO_CTRL &= 0xFF7F;
    //Hold timer
    *(unsigned volatile int *)McBSP0_SPCR |= 0x00400000;
    //Set GRST=1, Sample-rate
    //generator is taken out of reset
    *(unsigned int *)TIMER0_COUNT = 0;
    *(unsigned int *)TIMERO_CTRL |= 0x00C0;
    //Start timer
    while ((*(unsigned int *)TIMERO_COUNT)<6);</pre>
    //Wait for 24 CPU clock cycles
    *(unsigned int *)TIMERO_CTRL &= 0xFF7F;
    //Hold timer
    *(unsigned volatile int *)McBSP0_SPCR |= 0x00010000;
    //Set XRST=1, serial port
    //transmitter is enabled
7
/* pwm0_isr() - interrupt service routine generating PWM */
interrupt void pwm_isr(void)
ł
DataSetting(); //Start data transmission settings
*(unsigned int *)DPR3 |= 0x1;
                                            //Start A2D conversion
```

```
*(unsigned int*)TIMER0_COUNT = 0;
                                            //Start timing
*(unsigned int*)TIMER0_CTRL |= 0x00C0;
/*Output storage scope trigger*/
*(unsigned int *)DPR9 |= 0x1000000;
/*Service & enable Watchdog*/
*(unsigned int *)DPR9 |= 0x00030000;
/*Extract information from FPGA registers*/
dpr0 = *(unsigned int *)DPR0;
dpr1 = *(unsigned int *)DPR1;
dpr2 = *(unsigned int *)DPR2;
dpr3 = *(unsigned int *)DPR3;
dpr4 = *(unsigned int *)DPR4;
dpr5 = *(unsigned int *)DPR5;
dpr6 = *(unsigned int *)DPR6;
dpr7 = *(unsigned int *)DPR7;
dpr8 = *(unsigned int *)DPR8;
dpr9 = *(unsigned int *)DPR9;
if((dpr3&0x00080000)||(dpr8))
    DriveOn=0;
else if(!DriveOn)
    {
   reset_controller();
   DriveOn=1;
    /*Enable State Machine*/
    *(unsigned int *)DPR3 |= 0x00070000;// 0x00070000 --> enable all 3 outputs,
                                        // 0x00010000 \rightarrow enable output phase a,
                                         // 0x00020000 --> enable output phase b,
                                         // 0x00040000 --> enable output phase c,
    }
if(dpr8)
    *(unsigned int *)DPR8 |= 0x00008000;
if((!(dpr3&0x00100000))&&(dpr3&0x00080000))
    *(unsigned int *)DPR8 &= 0xFFFF0000;
/*Read all output currents, line-line input voltages and phase
output voltages*/
adc1 = dpr3&0x0FFF; if(adc1&0x0800)
    adc1 |= 0xFFFFF000;
//adc2 = *(unsigned int *)DPR4;
```

```
adc3 = (dpr4&0x0FFF0000)>>16; if(adc3&0x0800)
    adc3 |= 0xFFFFF000;
adc2 = dpr4&0x0FFF; if(adc2&0x0800)
    adc2 |= 0xFFFFF000;
//adc4 = *(unsigned int *)DPR5;
adc5 = (dpr5&0x0FFF0000)>>16; if(adc5&0x0800)
    adc5 |= 0xFFFFF000;
adc4 = dpr5&0x0FFF; if(adc4&0x0800)
    adc4 |= 0xFFFFF000;
//adc6 = *(unsigned int *)DPR6;
adc7 = (dpr6&0x0FFF0000)>>16; if(adc7&0x0800)
    adc7 |= 0xFFFFF000;
adc6 = dpr6&0x0FFF; if(adc6&0x0800)
    adc6 |= 0xFFFFF000;
//adc8 = *(unsigned int *)DPR7;
adc9 = (dpr7&0x0FFF0000)>>16; if(adc9&0x0800)
   adc9 |= 0xFFFFF000;
adc8 = dpr7&0x0FFF; if(adc8&0x0800)
    adc8 |= 0xFFFFF000;
/*SCALE LINE TO LINE INPUT VOLTAGE ADC RESULTS*/
VAB_in=(float)(adc1-offset1)*VgainAB;
VBC_in=(float)(adc2-offset2)*VgainBC;
/***INPUT VOLTAGE VECTOR***/
/*pf = 1.0 --> Input Current == Input Voltage Extract input voltage
information from line-line input samples*/
VA_in=(2*VAB_in+VBC_in)/3;
VB_in=VA_in-VAB_in;
VC_in=-VA_in-VB_in;
a_curr = (TWO_3)*(VA_in-0.5*VB_in-0.5*VC_in);
b_curr = (I_SQRT3)*(VB_in-VC_in);
Vi = sqrtsp(a_curr*a_curr+b_curr*b_curr);
atansp_in=atansp(b_curr/a_curr);
if((a_curr>0) && (b_curr==0))
    icvang = 0.0;
else if((a_curr>0) && (b_curr>0))
    icvang = atansp_in;
else if((a_curr==0) && (b_curr>0))
    icvang = 0.5*PI;
```

```
else if((a_curr<0) && (b_curr>0))
   icvang = PI + atansp_in;
else if((a_curr<0) && (b_curr==0))</pre>
   icvang = PI;
else if((a_curr<0) && (b_curr<0))</pre>
   icvang = PI + atansp_in;
else if((a_curr==0) && (b_curr<0))</pre>
   icvang = 1.5*PI;
else if((a_curr>0) && (b_curr<0))</pre>
   icvang = 2*PI + atansp_in;
else
   icvang = atansp_in;
Ki=(icvang+PI_2)/PI_3;
Ki=((Ki==7)?1:Ki);
ang_curr=((float)Ki-1)*PI_3;
beta=icvang-ang_curr;
beta=((beta>PI)?(beta-TWOPI):beta);
/*SCALE CURRENT ADC RESULTS*/
ia_out = (float)(adc3-offset3)*IgainA;
ib_out = (float)(adc4-offset4)*IgainB;
ic_out = (float)(adc5-offset5)*IgainC;
if ((ia_out>IMAX)||(-ia_out>IMAX)||(ib_out>IMAX)||
(-ib_out>IMAX) || (ic_out>IMAX) || (-ic_out>IMAX))
   ſ
   *(unsigned int *)DPR8 |= 0x0001;
   DriveOn=0;
   *(unsigned int *)DPR3 &= 0xFFF8FFFF; //disable state machine
   }
/*****REFERENCES SIGNALS FOR EACH PHASE**********/
Delta_Theta_Out = (TWOPI*Freq_out)/(FSW);
Theta_Out+=Delta_Theta_Out;
Theta_Out=((Theta_Out>=TWOPI)?(Theta_Out-TWOPI):Theta_Out);
cos_Theta_Out=cossp(Theta_Out); sin_Theta_Out=sinsp(Theta_Out);
//Conversion of references from d-q to alpha-beta
Volt_alpha_ref=Volt_d_ref*cos_Theta_Out-Volt_q_ref*sin_Theta_Out;
Volt_beta_ref= Volt_d_ref*sin_Theta_Out+Volt_q_ref*cos_Theta_Out;
//Conversion of references from alpha-beta to ABC
```

```
Volt_phase_a_ref=Volt_alpha_ref;
Volt_phase_b_ref=1.5*(-ONE_3*Volt_alpha_ref+I_SQRT3*Volt_beta_ref);
Volt_phase_c_ref=1.5*(-ONE_3*Volt_alpha_ref-I_SQRT3*Volt_beta_ref);
//Scale phase output voltage (feedback signals) adc results
Volt_FB_a=(float)((adc9-offset9)*Vgaina);
Volt_FB_b=(float)((adc8-offset8)*Vgainb-0.175);
Volt_FB_c=(float)((adc7-offset7)*Vgainc);
/*No Controller, phase a*/
Volt_phase_a_ctrl=Volt_phase_a_ref;
if(-62<Volt_phase_a_ctrl && Volt_phase_a_ctrl<62)</pre>
   Volt_phase_a_ctrl=Volt_phase_a_ctrl;
else
   Volt_phase_a_ctrl=60;
/*No Controller, phase b*/
Volt_phase_b_ctrl=Volt_phase_b_ref;
if(-62<Volt_phase_b_ctrl && Volt_phase_b_ctrl<62)</pre>
   Volt_phase_b_ctrl=Volt_phase_b_ctrl;
else
   Volt_phase_b_ctrl=60;
/*No Controller, phase c*/
Volt_phase_c_ctrl=Volt_phase_c_ref;
if(-62<Volt_phase_c_ctrl && Volt_phase_c_ctrl<62)</pre>
   Volt_phase_c_ctrl=Volt_phase_c_ctrl;
else
   Volt_phase_c_ctrl=60;
/***TARGET VOLTAGE VECTOR***/ a_volt =
(TWO_3)*(Volt_phase_a_ctrl-0.5*Volt_phase_b_ctrl-0.5*Volt_phase_c_ctrl);
b_volt = (I_SQRT3)*(Volt_phase_b_ctrl-Volt_phase_c_ctrl);
Vo=sqrtsp(a_volt*a_volt + b_volt*b_volt); /***TARGET VOLTAGE ANGLE
AND SECTORS***/ Kv=(Theta_Out+PI_3)/PI_3;
ang_volt=((float)Kv-0.5)*PI_3; alfa=Theta_Out-ang_volt;
Kii=(float)Ki; Kvv=(float)Kv; q=Vo/Vi;
                                      //Modulation index
if(q>0.75)
   q=0.75;
cos_alfa_menos_PI_3=cossp(alfa - PI_3);
cos_alfa_mas_PI_3=cossp(alfa + PI_3);
```

```
cos_beta_menos_PI_3=cossp(beta - PI_3);
cos_beta_mas_PI_3=cossp(beta + PI_3);
//phi= (0.000001/180)*PI;
//cos_phi=cossp(phi);
      eq_I = 1.154700538*q*cos_alfa_menos_PI_3*cos_beta_menos_PI_3; // cos_phi
     eq_II = 1.154700538*q*cos_alfa_menos_PI_3*cos_beta_mas_PI_3; // cos_phi
    eq_III = 1.154700538*q*cos_alfa_mas_PI_3*cos_beta_menos_PI_3; // cos_phi
     eq_IV = 1.154700538*q*cos_alfa_mas_PI_3*cos_beta_mas_PI_3;
                                                                   // cos_phi
     DI = Tseq_Pulses_2*eq_I + 0.5;
    DII = Tseq_Pulses_2*eq_II + 0.5;
    DIII = Tseq_Pulses_2*eq_III + 0.5;
    DIV = Tseq_Pulses_2*eq_IV + 0.5;
D0 = (Tseq_Pulses_2) - (DI+DII+DIII+DIV);
DO_3 = ONE_3 * DO + 0.5;
TWODO_3 = 2*DO_3;
D_I = (float)DI;
D_II = (float)DII;
D_III = (float)DIII;
D_IV =(float)DIV;
D_0 = (float)D0;
D_0_3 = (float)D0_3;
TWOD_0_3 = (float)TWOD0_3;
/***PLACE VECTOR INFORMATION INTO PGFA FIFO***/
pVS=&VS[Ki-1] [Kv-1];
if (!DriveOn)
    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[21]); // PVT=0 => should last whole period
else
    {
    if((Ki+Kv)&1) //if (Ki+Kv) is odd
       ł
        //Only load vectors with non-zero times
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[0]])|D0_3;
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[1]])|DI;
        if(DI>1)
        if(DIII>1) *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[2]])|DIII;
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[3]])|D0_3;
       if(DIV>1)
                  *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[4]])|DIV;
                   *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[5]])|DII;
        if(DII>1)
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[6]])|TWOD0_3;
```

```
if(DII>1)
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[7]])|DII;
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[8]])|DIV;
        if(DIV>1)
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[9]])|D0_3;
       if(DIII>1) *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[10]])|DIII;
        if(DI>1)
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[11]])|DI;
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[12]]);
                    // PVT =0 for last vector
       }
    else //if (Ki+Kv) is even
        {
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[0]])|D0_3;
        if(DIII>1) *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[1]])|DIII;
        if(DI>1)
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[2]])|DI;
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[3]])|D0_3;
       if(DII>1)
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[4]])|DII;
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[5]])|DIV;
        if(DIV>1)
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[6]])|TWOD0_3;
        if(DIV>1)
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[7]])|DIV;
        if(DII>1)
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[8]])|DII;
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[9]])|D0_3;
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[10]])|DI;
        if(DI>1)
        if(DIII>1) *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[11]])|DIII;
                    *(unsigned int *)DPR1 = (VCT[(*pVS)[12]]);
                    // PVT =0 for last vector
       }
   }
*(unsigned int *)TIMERO_CTRL &= 0xFF7F; //Hold timer
int_delay = *(unsigned int *)TIMERO_COUNT;
DataCapture(); //Store data in external memory, used in host program
}
interrupt void timer0_isr(void) { puts("\n INT14 is working"); }
```

D.2 Code of the Tracking Controller Implementation

226

```
Delta_Theta_Out = (TWOPI*Freq_out)/(FSW);
Theta_Out+=Delta_Theta_Out;
Theta_Out=((Theta_Out>=TWOPI)?(Theta_Out-TWOPI):Theta_Out);
cos_Theta_Out=cossp(Theta_Out); sin_Theta_Out=sinsp(Theta_Out);
//Conversion of references from d-q to alpha-beta
Volt_alpha_ref=Volt_d_ref*cos_Theta_Out-Volt_q_ref*sin_Theta_Out;
Volt_beta_ref= Volt_d_ref*sin_Theta_Out+Volt_q_ref*cos_Theta_Out;
//Conversion of references from alpha-beta to ABC
Volt_phase_a_ref=Volt_alpha_ref;
Volt_phase_b_ref=1.5*(-ONE_3*Volt_alpha_ref+I_SQRT3*Volt_beta_ref);
Volt_phase_c_ref=1.5*(-ONE_3*Volt_alpha_ref-I_SQRT3*Volt_beta_ref);
//Scale phase output voltage (feedback signals) adc results
Volt_FB_a=(float)((adc9-offset9)*Vgaina);
Volt_FB_b=(float)((adc8-offset8)*Vgainb-0.175);
Controller for phase a***************/
Volt_phase_a_error_last2=Volt_phase_a_error_last1;
Volt_phase_a_error_last1=Volt_phase_a_error;
Volt_phase_a_error=6*Volt_phase_a_ref-Volt_FB_a;
Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last2=Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last1;
Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last1=Volt_phase_a_ctrl;
Volt_phase_a_ctrl=-0.4999*Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last2-
0.5001*Volt_phase_a_ctrl_last1+0.6*(0.9699*Volt_phase_a_error_last2-
1.319*Volt_phase_a_error_last1+Volt_phase_a_error);
if(-168<Volt_phase_a_ctrl && Volt_phase_a_ctrl<168)</pre>
   Volt_phase_a_ctrl=Volt_phase_a_ctrl;
else
   Volt_phase_a_ctrl=166;
Volt_phase_b_error_last2=Volt_phase_b_error_last1;
Volt_phase_b_error_last1=Volt_phase_b_error;
Volt_phase_b_error=6*Volt_phase_b_ref-Volt_FB_b;
```

Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last2=Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last1;

```
Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last1=Volt_phase_b_ctrl;
Volt_phase_b_ctrl=-0.4999*Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last2-
0.5001*Volt_phase_b_ctrl_last1+0.6*(0.9699*Volt_phase_b_error_last2-
1.319*Volt_phase_b_error_last1+Volt_phase_b_error);
if(-168<Volt_phase_b_ctrl && Volt_phase_b_ctrl<168)
   Volt_phase_b_ctrl=Volt_phase_b_ctrl;
else
   Volt_phase_b_ctrl=166;
Volt_phase_c_error_last2=Volt_phase_c_error_last1;
Volt_phase_c_error_last1=Volt_phase_c_error;
Volt_phase_c_error=6*Volt_phase_c_ref-Volt_FB_c;
Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last2=Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last1;
Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last1=Volt_phase_c_ctrl;
Volt_phase_c_ctrl=-0.4999*Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last2-
0.5001*Volt_phase_c_ctrl_last1+0.6*(0.9699*Volt_phase_c_error_last2-
1.319*Volt_phase_c_error_last1+Volt_phase_c_error);
if(-168<Volt_phase_c_ctrl && Volt_phase_c_ctrl<168)</pre>
   Volt_phase_c_ctrl=Volt_phase_c_ctrl;
else
   Volt_phase_c_ctrl=166;
```


D.3 Code of the Repetitive Controller Implementation

```
void RC_phase_a(void)
{
    pre_delay_a=Volt_phase_a_ref;
    RC_a_1_02=RC_a_1_01; RC_a_1_01=RC_a_1; RC_a_1=pre_delay_a-Volt_FB_a;
    RC_a_2_02=RC_a_2_01; RC_a_2_01=RC_a_2;
    RC_a_2=-0.3185*RC_a_2_02+0.8845*RC_a_2_01+0.1072*RC_a_1_02+
    0.2145*RC_a_1_01+0.1072*RC_a_1; //Compensator
    RC_a_3_32=RC_a_3_31; RC_a_3_31=RC_a_3_30; RC_a_3_30=RC_a_3_29;
    RC_a_3_29=RC_a_3_28; RC_a_3_28=RC_a_3_27; RC_a_3_27=RC_a_3_26;
    RC_a_3_26=RC_a_3_25; RC_a_3_25=RC_a_3_24; RC_a_3_24=RC_a_3_23;
    }
}
```

```
RC_a_3_23=RC_a_3_22; RC_a_3_22=RC_a_3_21; RC_a_3_21=RC_a_3_20;
RC_a_3_20=RC_a_3_19; RC_a_3_19=RC_a_3_18; RC_a_3_18=RC_a_3_17;
RC_a_3_17=RC_a_3_16; RC_a_3_16=RC_a_3_15; RC_a_3_15=RC_a_3_14;
RC_a_3_14=RC_a_3_13; RC_a_3_13=RC_a_3_12; RC_a_3_12=RC_a_3_11;
RC_a_3_11=RC_a_3_10; RC_a_3_10=RC_a_3_09; RC_a_3_09=RC_a_3_08;
RC_a_3_08=RC_a_3_07; RC_a_3_07=RC_a_3_06; RC_a_3_06=RC_a_3_05;
RC_a_3_05=RC_a_3_04; RC_a_3_04=RC_a_3_03; RC_a_3_03=RC_a_3_02;
RC_a_3_02=RC_a_3_01; RC_a_3_01=RC_a_3;
RC_a_4=0.95*RC_a_3_32; RC_a_3=RC_a_2+RC_a_4;
RC_a_4_06=RC_a_4_05; RC_a_4_05=RC_a_4_04; RC_a_4_04=RC_a_4_03;
RC_a_4_03=RC_a_4_02; RC_a_4_02=RC_a_4_01; RC_a_4_01=RC_a_4;
post_delay_a=0.055*RC_a_4_05;
Volt_phase_a_ref_mod=0.525*(Volt_phase_a_ref+post_delay_a);
}
void RC_phase_b(void)
{
pre_delay_b=Volt_phase_b_ref;
RC_b_1_02=RC_b_1_01; RC_b_1_01=RC_b_1; RC_b_1=pre_delay_b-Volt_FB_b;
RC_b_2_02=RC_b_2_01; RC_b_2_01=RC_b_2;
RC_b_2=-0.3185*RC_b_2_02+0.8845*RC_b_2_01+0.1072*RC_b_1_02+
0.2145*RC_b_1_01+0.1072*RC_b_1; //Compensator
RC_b_3_32=RC_b_3_31; RC_b_3_31=RC_b_3_30; RC_b_3_30=RC_b_3_29;
RC_b_3_29=RC_b_3_28; RC_b_3_28=RC_b_3_27; RC_b_3_27=RC_b_3_26;
RC_b_3_26=RC_b_3_25; RC_b_3_25=RC_b_3_24; RC_b_3_24=RC_b_3_23;
RC_b_3_23=RC_b_3_22; RC_b_3_22=RC_b_3_21; RC_b_3_21=RC_b_3_20;
RC_b_3_20=RC_b_3_19; RC_b_3_19=RC_b_3_18; RC_b_3_18=RC_b_3_17;
RC_b_3_17=RC_b_3_16; RC_b_3_16=RC_b_3_15; RC_b_3_15=RC_b_3_14;
RC_b_3_14=RC_b_3_13; RC_b_3_13=RC_b_3_12; RC_b_3_12=RC_b_3_11;
RC_b_3_11=RC_b_3_10; RC_b_3_10=RC_b_3_09; RC_b_3_09=RC_b_3_08;
RC_b_3_08=RC_b_3_07; RC_b_3_07=RC_b_3_06; RC_b_3_06=RC_b_3_05;
RC_b_3_05=RC_b_3_04; RC_b_3_04=RC_b_3_03; RC_b_3_03=RC_b_3_02;
RC_b_3_02=RC_b_3_01; RC_b_3_01=RC_b_3;
RC_b_4=0.95*RC_b_3_32; RC_b_3=RC_b_2+RC_b_4;
RC_b_4_06=RC_b_4_05; RC_b_4_05=RC_b_4_04; RC_b_4_04=RC_b_4_03;
RC_b_4_03=RC_b_4_02; RC_b_4_02=RC_b_4_01; RC_b_4_01=RC_b_4;
post_delay_b=0.055*RC_b_4_05;
Volt_phase_b_ref_mod=0.525*(Volt_phase_b_ref+post_delay_b);
}
```

```
void RC_phase_c(void)
{
pre_delay_c=Volt_phase_c_ref;
RC_c_1_02=RC_c_1_01; RC_c_1_01=RC_c_1; RC_c_1=pre_delay_c-Volt_FB_c;
RC_c_2_02=RC_c_2_01; RC_c_2_01=RC_c_2;
RC_c_2=-0.3185*RC_c_2_02+0.8845*RC_c_2_01+0.1072*RC_c_1_02+
0.2145*RC_c_1_01+0.1072*RC_c_1; //Compensator
RC_c_3_32=RC_c_3_31; RC_c_3_31=RC_c_3_30; RC_c_3_30=RC_c_3_29;
RC_c_3_29=RC_c_3_28; RC_c_3_28=RC_c_3_27; RC_c_3_27=RC_c_3_26;
RC_c_3_26=RC_c_3_25; RC_c_3_25=RC_c_3_24; RC_c_3_24=RC_c_3_23;
RC_c_3_23=RC_c_3_22; RC_c_3_22=RC_c_3_21; RC_c_3_21=RC_c_3_20;
RC_c_3_20=RC_c_3_19; RC_c_3_19=RC_c_3_18; RC_c_3_18=RC_c_3_17;
RC_c_3_17=RC_c_3_16; RC_c_3_16=RC_c_3_15; RC_c_3_15=RC_c_3_14;
RC_c_3_14=RC_c_3_13; RC_c_3_13=RC_c_3_12; RC_c_3_12=RC_c_3_11;
RC_c_3_11=RC_c_3_10; RC_c_3_10=RC_c_3_09; RC_c_3_09=RC_c_3_08;
RC_c_3_08=RC_c_3_07; RC_c_3_07=RC_c_3_06; RC_c_3_06=RC_c_3_05;
RC_c_3_05=RC_c_3_04; RC_c_3_04=RC_c_3_03; RC_c_3_03=RC_c_3_02;
RC_c_3_02=RC_c_3_01; RC_c_3_01=RC_c_3;
RC_c_4=0.95*RC_c_3_32; RC_c_3=RC_c_2+RC_c_4;
RC_c_4_06=RC_c_4_05; RC_c_4_05=RC_c_4_04; RC_c_4_04=RC_c_4_03;
RC_c_4_03=RC_c_4_02; RC_c_4_02=RC_c_4_01; RC_c_4_01=RC_c_4;
post_delay_c=0.055*RC_c_4_05;
Volt_phase_c_ref_mod=0.525*(Volt_phase_c_ref+post_delay_c);
}
```